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Key operating figures in EUR million 2011 2010 H2 2011 H1 2011

Gross rental income 116.7 124.9 -7% 60.2 56.5 +7%

Net rental income 106.8 113.9 -6% 54.6 52.2 +5%

Fees from real estate management 5.3 3.5 +51% 3.0 2.3 30%

Property disposal proceeds 17.7 81.2 -78% 8.4 9.3 -10%

Total revenues 157.3 228.8 -31% 81.3 76.0 +7%

Profit on disposal of properties 1.7 5.1 -67% 1.1 0.6 +83%

Share of the profit from associates 2.4 7.8 -69% 1.5 0.9 +67%

Funds from operations (FFO) 40.6 44.0 -8% 20.5 20.1 +2%

EBITDA 95.9 105.4 -9% 50.0 45.9 +9%

EBIT 66.2 74.6 -11% 34.4 31.8 +8%

Profit for the period 10.6 16.5 -36% 4.4 6.2 -29%

Cash flow from operating activities 38.4 37.7 +2% 19.1 19.3 -1%

Balance sheet data in EUR million 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 30.06.2011

Equity ratio in % 27.8 28.6 -0.8 pp 27.8 30.5 -2.7 pp

Investment property 1,902.1 1,718.2 +11% 1,902.1 1,810.2 +5%

Net asset value 682.6 598.5 +14% – –

Liabilities 1,624.0 1,462.9 +11% 1,624.0 1,497.6 +8%

Total assets 2,248.1 2,050.0 +10% 2,248.1 2,155.2 +4%

Per share in EUR 2011 2010 H2 2011 H1 2011

FFO* 0.92 1.15 -20% 0.45 0.47 -4%

Basic/diluted earnings* 0.24 0.43 -44% 0.10 0.14 -29%

Net asset value 14.93 15.27 -2%

DIC ASSET AG AT A GLANCE

* Previous year adjusted to the effect from capital increase
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To our Shareholders

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Schmidt, Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Ulrich Höller, Chief Executive Officer

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, 

BUSINESS PARTNERS, 

EMPLOYEES AND FRIENDS,



The German economy started off benign in 2011 as the upturn continued. The

second half of the year was increasingly overshadowed by the worsening inter-

national sovereign debt crisis, whose impact was felt first by the financial markets

and then, in the fourth quarter, by the economy as a whole. Against this back-

drop, it is all the more pleasing that 2011 represented yet another successful

 financial year for DIC Asset AG, and one in which it fully met all of the objectives

set at the start of the year. The key developments in 2011 were: 

n We improved the profitability of our portfolio with a very good letting result

and reduced the vacancy rate significantly, by nearly 2 percentage points.

n We increased income from our property management services by over 50% to

more than EUR 5 million, mainly thanks to the new services for our special

fund.

n We switched to growth mode and took some key steps to strengthen our

earnings base with an acquisition volume of some EUR 300 million.

n The marketing of two sub-projects for the MainTor district development rep-

resents a successful start for DIC to this first-class project development in

Frankfurt. 

n Our profit for the period stands at EUR 10.6 million. The fall in comparison with

the previous year is attributable to three factors in particular, which we had

accounted for in our plans for 2011: a smaller portfolio than the previous year,

lower income from Co-Investments and reduced sales volume.

n At around EUR 41 million, FFO, a key ratio indicating the earnings capacity of

our portfolio management, was again at a high level and entirely matched our

forecasts. This positive operating result has enabled us to propose that our

shareholders be paid a stable, high dividend of EUR 0.35 per share, which can

be realised with slightly over half being tax-exempt.

Following a six-month positive price trend, our share was not spared the impact

of the widespread market slump from July 2011 onwards, thus reflecting devel-

opments in the real estate segment as a whole. There are many reasons for this:

the general reticence among investors towards buying shares for one, but also

the critical view taken of real estate shares in general due to their proximity to the

crisis-stricken finance and banking sector. This means that, unfortunately, the

2011 financial year does not yet reflect DIC Asset AG's positive business devel-

opment. Since the end of 2011, however, we have experienced a return to

 recovery, which has seen virtually all analysts issue positive recommendations

for our share.

An die Aktionäre
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DIC Asset AG is a real estate share, which is characterised by the potential for

above-average returns. Reliable evidence of this is the fact that we have been

able to post a profit quarter by quarter without interruption since we went pub-

lic. Our portfolio of 280 properties is let long term to tenants with high credit

 ratings, which generate a sustained and substantial cash flow. We work solely in

Germany, one of the world's strongest national economies. And we use our own

staff to manage our properties via our branches; this gives us efficiency and prox-

imity to the market. 

These are all concrete advantages that make our share stand out from other real

estate shares and which we highlight through clear and comprehensive com-

munications. Since its flotation, DIC Asset AG has steadily continued its positive

development: our assets under management alone has grown gradually from

some EUR 300 million to EUR 3.3 billion. We are increasingly managing this

 enlarged portfolio on a regional basis via our branch network and are therefore

expanding our reporting structure to include a regional perspective. This is

 allowing us to offer our shareholders and the capital market greater transparency.

We intend to consistently improve the quality and profitability of our property

portfolio in 2012. We shall rely on our tried and tested in-house property man-

agement in this regard and plan to further reduce the vacancy rate. We shall also

exploit opportunities for attractive acquisitions. With its clear strategic position-

ing, DIC Asset AG is well placed to confront the competition and we will take the

opportunities that present themselves in the interests of our shareholders. We

are expecting a marked improvement in the result for 2012 and are planning to

increase FFO by some 10%.

We should like to thank all our staff for their commitment in 2011, which has

played a crucial role in our company's good result. 

Yours sincerely,

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Schmidt Ulrich Höller
Chairman of the Supervisory Board Chief Executive Officer

To our Shareholders
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The Share

Sovereign debt crisis has a significant impact on the stock
market year
The start of financial year 2011 was still clearly characterised by
the above-average positive recovery in the global economy. The
first significant slump in global share markets was caused by the
earthquake in Japan in March and concerns regarding the
Fukushima nuclear power station disaster. However, share prices
quickly recovered and a positive mood prevailed into the sum-
mer of 2011 with stable figures.

In August, the precipitation of the sovereign debt crisis in Eu-
rope and the USA sparked off a dramatic fall in financial markets.
After bailing out Greece, Portugal and Ireland, the European Cen-

THE SHARE

tral Bank (ECB) started buying Italian and Spanish government
bonds. In the USA, a government default was only barely
avoided, with the consequence that the country's credit rating
was downgraded. 

Share markets recovered slightly from this low by the end of the
year, although they remained strained due to the unresolved
sovereign debt problems and the insufficient equity reserves of
the banking sector. The DAX reached an overall low of 5,072
points in September and ended 2011 down 15% at 5,898 points.
The SDAX and EPRA Developed Europe-Index, the largest listed
real estate funds in Europe, also closed with a fall of 15%.

MARKET TREND

2011 2012
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DIC Asset share: a strong start before falling behind the 
market
Our share still significantly outperformed the market in the first
quarter of 2011 and reached its high to date of EUR 10.88 on 
3 March 2011. The increase was later slowed by negative market
developments, influenced amongst other things by the nuclear
disaster in Japan. Following the capital increase the share
trended sideways along with the market while remaining highly
volatile. 

As share prices around the world fell sharply in the summer of
2011 as a result of the downgrade to the USA rating and the
 European sovereign debt crisis, our share was heavily affected,
along with many other smaller stocks and shares from the
 financial sector. 

Due to its high level of borrowed capital, a much more negative
outlook reigned in the fourth quarter for shares in the real  estate
sector than for the market as a whole. Accordingly, industry
 securities in the sector were unable to keep pace with the slight
market rises towards the end of the year. In parallel with the
 negative trend in the EPRA sector index, our share price fell to
the annual low of EUR 4.90 on 21 December. 

The DIC Asset share closed 2011 at EUR 5.36, totalling a fall of
36% compared with the start of the year. As at 31 December
2011, the market capitalisation of DIC Asset AG stood at EUR 245
million.

Successful capital measures for growth course 
In March 2011 we increased share capital from authorised capi-
tal by 17%. The capital increase was directed exclusively at our

BASIS DATA ON THE DIC ASSET SHARE

Number of shares 45,718,747 (no-par bearer shares)
Share capita 45,718,747 EUR
WKN / ISIN 509840 / DE0005098404
Ticker symbol DAZ
Free float 49.1%
Key indices SDAX, EPRA, DIMAX
Exchanges Xetra, all exchanges in Germany
Deutsche Börse segment Prime Standard
Most recent capital increase March 2011, 

17% increase in the share capital

KEY FIGURES (1)

2011 2010

Earnings per share
(basic/diluted)(3) EUR 0.24 0.43
Net asset value per share EUR 14.93 15.27
FFO per share (3) EUR 0.92 1.15
Dividend per share EUR 0.35 0.35
Dividend yield (2) 6.5% 4.2%
FFO yield (2) 17.2% 13.8%

Annual closing price 5.36 8.34
52-week high EUR 10.88 9.60
52-week low EUR 4.90 5.30
Average number of shares Thsd. 44,279 37,228
Market capitalisation (2) EUR million 245 327
Price on 12.03.2011 EUR 6.59

(1) in each case closing prices in Xetra trading
(2) in relation to annual closing price in Xerta trading
(3) previous year adjusted for the capital increase

The Share

existing shareholders and was supported by the vast majority of
them, with a high subscription rate of 88%. There was significant
interest in the shares which were not accepted, and the total of-
fers for EUR 266 million represented around 4.4 times the entire
capital offering. By avoiding stock market trading in subscription
rights we were able to conclude the capital offering quickly and
in a cost-efficient manner. The performance of the share during
the subscription period and the substantial demand reflect the
high levels of trust among our shareholders. The cash injection
from the capital increase amounted to around EUR 52 million.

In order to structure our financing more broadly, in May 2011
we issued an unsubordinated, unsecured corporate bond with
an interest rate of 5.875% p.a. and a term of five years. Overall, we
acquired some EUR 70 million from the bond issue. Since mid-
May 2011, the bond has been traded over the counter at the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange in the Entry Standard for bonds seg-
ment. We view this instrument as a sensible supplement to our
financing portfolio for the future.

In total, the two capital raising initiatives brought in around EUR
122 million, significantly bolstering our capital base. This enabled
us to implement acquisitions for 2011 quickly, with flexible
 financing and under attractive credit terms.
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Shareholder structure largely unchanged
The capital increase had only a minor impact on the shareholder
structure. The DIC Group now holds 38.7% of the shares,
 followed by MSREF with 7.1% (previously 8.3%) and then solvia
Vermögensverwaltung with 5.1%, a figure which has remained
unchanged. The free float increased slightly to 49.1 (previously
47.2%). We are not aware of any other shareholders which di-
rectly or indirectly hold more than 10% of share capital. We pub-
lish all available voting rights announcements on our website. 

Dividend remains stable
One of our strategic targets is the management of a solid port-
folio which generates attractive returns on an ongoing basis and
protects against risks due to its broad diversification. Accord-
ingly, the annual dividend is based above all on the operating
profit from real estate management. The company's current
 position and the market trend forecast are additional factors. In
2011, we met our results targets in full and, moreover, imple-
mented strategically important measures for successful future
development and initiated future-oriented projects. For finan-
cial year 2011 the Management Board therefore proposes to the
General Shareholders' Meeting a dividend payment of EUR 0.35
per share (totalling EUR 16.0 million). We are thus continuing our

INVESTMENT PROFILE FOR DIC ASSET AG

– Clear focus on the German commercial real estate 
market

– Balanced investments in major office centres and strong
business regions

– Steady income flows from rent and management fees 

– Profitable portfolio with high FFO and long-term 
secured cash flow

– Attractive results from sales and co-investments

– Balanced financing structure, solid interest cover ratio 

– Broad diversification of income across regions 
and tenant classes

– In-house real estate management with 100 experienced
employees at local level

– Ongoing and attractive dividend policy 

– Experienced management with strong track record

– Complete investment range covering all property 
profiles

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

38.7%

Deutsche Immobilien
Chancen Group

7.1%

MSREF

5.1%

solvia Vermögensverwaltung

49.1%

Free float

DIVIDEND PER SHARE EUR

0.30 0.30
0.35 0.35

2008 2009 2010 2011

The Share

consistent dividend policy in 2011. The dividend payment cor-
responds to an attractive return of 6.5% on the closing price
which can be realised with around 52% being tax-exempt. In
view of the stable outlook, therefore, we are allowing our share-
holders to share adequately and significantly in the success of
DIC Asset AG despite the slight fall in operating result on the
previous year. 

General Shareholders' Meeting 
The General Shareholders' Meeting was held on 5 July 2011 in
Frankfurt am Main. The Management Board presented the
 results of financial year 2010, explained current business per-
formance and answered questions from shareholders. With 74%
of the share capital represented, the shareholders present re-
solved to make a dividend payment and elected Dr. Michael
Peter Solf to the Supervisory Board for the duration of one term
in office. The actions of the Management Board and the Super-
visory Board were formally approved for the previous financial
year. All the points on the agenda were agreed in line with the
proposal by the Management Board, including the creation of
authorised capital of around EUR 22.9 million.
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Open capital market communication
The target of our investor relations work is open, transparent and
fair financial market communication with all market participants.
Due to the importance of information requirements, the Investor
Relations Department reports directly to the Management
Board. We provide comprehensive and prompt information
which is objective as possible regarding our strategy and all
events which are relevant for the capital market relating to DIC
Asset AG. In 2011 a particular focus of our work was on prepa-
rations for the capital increase and the bond issue.

Information requirements from the capital market are constantly
increasing. We therefore extended the extent and level of our
information in 2011 because we would like to offer our share-
holders an even better basis on which investment decisions can
be made. Furthermore, in addition to the quarterly publications,
we update information in the Investor Relations area of our web-
site, for example making more detailed information available
concerning current analyst judgments and offering company
presentations. 

Target-group focused contact in IR 
In 2011 we participated in 22 investor conferences and road-
shows with institutional investors in seven different countries. In
total, the Management Board and the IR Team once again held
more than 200 discussions with shareholders, investors and
 analysts. When doing so it was important for us to inform exist-
ing investors of current developments at DIC Asset AG and to
convince potential investors of our business model and to
 secure new shareholders. We also explained the figures for the
financial year, the quarterly figures and the bond issue in detail
and answered questions in several telephone conferences
 immediately following publication of the relevant information.
The three following events were particularly special:

 EPRA Annual Conference and association activities
As in previous years, we took part in the well-known EPRA
 Annual Conference and held numerous discussions with in-
vestors and analysts. As part of our membership of EPRA, we
work to raise awareness of German listed real estate companies.
We used a panel discussion at the 2011 conference to further
this aim. CEO Ulrich Höller, as a Member of the Management
Board of EPRA, is also committed to promoting these issues. He
was elected to this committee in September 2011 and is its sole
 German member.

 DIC Investors’ Day
In October 2011 we organised an Investors’ Day for the first time,
inviting investors, finance partners and industry players. The
event included panel discussions with opinion leaders from the
economic and political worlds as well as the presentation of the
MainTor district development in a special event for investors and
analysts on the following day. The opportunity to engage in
 direct dialogue with the Management Board, senior managers,
business partners and other market participants was very well
received. Thanks to its success and reception we shall be
 repeating this meeting regularly and establishing it as a fixed
 industry appointment.

 Real Estate Share Initiative 
At this annual conference for investors and industry experts, we
and other German listed real estate companies explain the ben-
efits of investing in real estate shares to investors and the gen-
eral public. The platform, which has now established itself
throughout Europe, offers an ambitious programme of technical
presentations, panel discussions and the opportunity to engage
in discussions with investors.

IR ACTIVITIES 2011

First Quarter
DIC Analysts' Evening Frankfurt
Berenberg Bank Roadshow Zurich
HSBC Real Estate and Construction Conference Frankfurt
Roadshows on annual financial statements
Frankfurt, London, Amsterdam, New York, Paris

Second Quarter
Deutsche Bank Real Estate Conference Frankfurt
Solventis Aktienforum Frankfurt
Investors' conference Property Investor Europe 
("Property Breakfast") London
Metzler Immobilientag Frankfurt
Kempen European Property Seminar Amsterdam

Third Quarter
Solventis Roadshow Munich
Berenberg Bank Roadshow Vienna
UniCredit Roadshow London
EPRA Annual Conference London
Kempen & Co. Roadshow Chicago
BoA Merrill Lynch Global Real Estate Conference New York
UniCredit German Investment Conference Munich

Fourth Quarter
Société Générale Pan European Real Estate Conference London
Real Estate Share Initiative Conference Frankfurt
DIC Investors' Day Frankfurt
West LB Deutschland Conference Frankfurt

Prize for the Annual Report
In the world's largest Annual Report competition, the LACP
 Vision Awards, last year's Annual Report was given a platinum
award as one of the most successful reports internationally. Con-
sequently, DIC Asset AG was ranked first in the real estate sector
for the second time and ranks among the top 20 annual reports
from over 5,000 reports submitted worldwide.

The Share
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Institut Analyst
ABN AMRO Michiel de Jonge
Baader Bank Andre Remke
Bankhaus Lampe Frank Neumann
Berenberg Bank Kai Klose
Commerzbank Thomas Rothäusler  
DZ Bank Ulrich Geis
edgeCAPITAL Mariya Panayotova
HSBC Thomas Martin
Kempen & Co Thomas van der Meij
Metzler Jochen Schmitt
Silvia Quandt Ralf Grönemeyer
Société Générale Marc Mozzi
Solventis Ulf van Lengerich
Viscardi Robert Willis
WestLB Dr. Georg Kanders

Contact IR
Tel. (0 69) 9 45 48 58-86
Fax (0 69) 9 45 48 58-99
ir@dic-asset.de

Buy 14
Hold

Sell

ANALYSTS’ COVERAGE

1

0

Analysts recommend our shares 
15 analyst firms now issue regular reports on our company. This
is a high number for an SDAX registered share. We are delighted
with this appraisal and associate it at least in part with our reg-
ular conversations and ongoing cooperation with analysts. For
example, we regularly herald the start of the financial year with
an initial meeting for analysts and are also always available for
discussions and to answer questions. The vast majority of ana-
lysts currently recommend purchasing DIC Asset shares. In
March 2012, 14 analysts recommend buying – corresponding
to a percentage share of 93%. One institute recommends hold-
ing the share. There are currently no "sell" recommendations. We
always publish up-to-date appraisals by analysts promptly on
our website.

Immo von Homeyer
Head of Investor Relations & 
Corporate Communications

Peer Schlinkmann
Investor Relations Manager

The Share

IR CALENDAR 2012

First Quarter
24.01 DIC Analysts' Evening to mark the start

of the year Frankfurt
31.01 Bankhaus Lampe Roadshow Hamburg
20.02 Close Brothers Seydler Small & Mid Caps 

Conference Frankfurt
01.03 HSBC Real Estate and Construction 

Conference Frankfurt
13.03 Publication of 2011 annual results
15.03 Kempen Property Seminar New York
20-29.03 Roadshows on the 2011 annual financial 

statements Frankfurt, Munich, London, 
Amsterdam, Zurich, Geneva

Second Quarter
02.-04.04 Deutsche Bank Real Estate Conference Frankfurt
15.05 Publication of Q1 2012 results Frankfurt
22.05 Metzler Immobilientag Frankfurt
30.-31.05 Kempen European Property Seminar Amsterdam

Third Quarter
03.07 General Shareholders' Meeting Frankfurt
15.08 Publication of Q2 2012 results Frankfurt
05.09 Real Estate Share Initiative Conference Berlin
06.-07.09 EPRA Annual Conference Berlin
12.-13.09 BoA Merrill Lynch Global Real Estate 

Conference New York
25.-27.09 Baader Investment Conference Munich

Fourth Quarter
14.11. Publication of Q3 2012 results Frankfurt



Operations and business processes

DIC Asset AG is one of the largest listed real estate companies

in Germany and is focused on commercial property. Our real

estate asset base comprises some 280 properties with a

value of EUR 3.3 billion. We manage our properties through

our own in-house real estate management operating

throughout Germany with six branches. 

Company locations 

We operate branches in the regional areas where our real es-

tate portfolio is concentrated, to provide efficient and rapid-

response local management of our tenants and properties

and to ensure that we remain well-integrated in the market.

Most of our employees are therefore involved in property

management at our offices in Hamburg, Berlin, Düsseldorf,

Mannheim, Munich and Frankfurt am Main. The Manage-

ment Board and the head office are located in Frankfurt am

Main, from where central strategic, management and ad-

ministrative functions are carried out and the whole Group

is managed.

Active on the German real estate market

The real estate sector is the second largest industry in

 Germany and therefore is of major significance for the econ-

omy. Real estate accounts for a significant share of German

investment assets. Compared to other European countries,

the commercial property market is very heterogeneous and

regionally diversified and includes many market participants

of different sizes. In the five major financial centres of Frank-

furt, Hamburg, Berlin, Düsseldorf and Munich, there is a high

amount of office space, very high transaction volumes and

liquid trade, strong competition and therefore larger move-

ment in prices and rents, but in part also high vacancy rates.

At the same time, there is a large number of medium-sized

cities operating as centres for economically powerful regions.

Thus, for example, metropolitan Nuremberg has a GDP of

around EUR 110 billion and hosts amongst others the regis-

tered offices of the DAX listed groups Adidas and Puma.

Competition is lower in these regions, transaction volumes

are less marked, and hence prices and rents are relatively 

stable and there are lower vacancy rates. 

Since we operate throughout the country via our branches,

we are able to make use of the benefits and opportunities

of regional centres and to diversity our real estate portfolio in

a suitable manner which minimises risk. 

Customer relations

Our tenants include publicly controlled companies, large

 national and international companies, the major German

 retailers and telecommunications service providers, but also

many small and medium-sized companies. Through our real

estate management staff, we remain in close contact with

existing tenants since we are present locally and ongoing co-

ordination and services are necessary in order to administer

our properties. In doing so we obtain feedback which we

then use to optimise and improve tenant satisfaction. Our

regional presence also works to our benefit on the letting

market. We are in constant contact with potential tenants in

order to understand their needs at an early stage and to con-

vince them to lease one of our properties. We are currently

introducing a central software solution for Group-wide cus-

tomer relationship management that will integrate existing

individual solutions. For acquisitions and sales, we are able

to rely heavily on a network of established connections with

which we have already concluded transactions to the satis-

faction of both parties. 
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STRATEGY
& MANAGEMENT

Our strategic profile in brief

DIC Asset AG specialises in commercial real estate, particu-

larly office property, in Germany. We are currently managing

real estate assets of around EUR 3.3 billion, with some 280

properties. Our investment strategy aims to develop a qual-

ity-oriented, high-yield and regionally diversified portfolio.

We look after our tenants directly and increase the value of

our properties through our in-house property management

service, with our own teams working from six branches. Prox-

imity to our tenants and regional markets gives us a signifi-

cant edge, when it comes to regional knowledge and

 expertise, over our national and international competitors

who may be located far away.

The aim of our activities is to increase and secure our rental

income and returns, as well as the value of our properties

and co-investments. In order to achieve this aim, we monitor

and manage the entire value-creation chain – from acquisi-

tion and real estate management through to sale – and the

deployment of resources.

Our strategic approaches 

1. Clear focus   We invest exclusively in German 

commercial real estate

2. Portfolio with strong earnings potential   We manage 

a high-quality, regionally diversified portfolio with a

high level of cash flow

3. Regional presence  We set up branches to maintain a

presence in the areas where our property portfolio is

concentrated 

4. In-house real estate management We guarantee

professional support with internal teams of 

experts 

5. Balanced financial structure We secure long-term 

financing through equity and debt capital

6. Internal and external portfolio growth  We exploit

earnings potential in the rental and transaction market 

7. Diversified sources of income We combine high-yield

portfolio properties and attractive co-investments in a

balanced manner

DIC Asset AG has been continually developing since its IPO

six years ago: The real estate assets under management have

increased significantly from almost EUR 300 million at the

end of 2005 to EUR 3.3 billion. In addition, we have built up

a branch network with a presence in those areas of Germany

where our property portfolio is concentrated and have in-

creasingly adapted our internal management system to suit

this network structure. The number of employees has risen

by approximately 100 to a current total of around 125, the

FFO increased to approximately EUR 41 million. To sum up:

DIC Asset AG has grown on a regional basis and it has con-

tinued to develop from an organisational perspective.

Against the backdrop of this continued development, we

have reviewed our , fundamental reporting principles. In

 future, we will be using a regional portfolio presentation, in

view of the fact that our local activities are the basis of our

success and because we are now increasingly managing and

leading the company on the basis of regional considerations.

In addition, it is important to us to place an even clearer and

more unambiguous focus on the strategic strengths of our

business model.



CLEAR FOCUS
We invest exclusively in 
German commercial real estate

Attractive and high volume

rental cash flows can be

achieved by investing in Ger-

man commercial real estate.

The average rental yield on our

properties is 6.6%. Over the

past few years in particular,

rental yields have significantly

exceeded the cost of borrowing. In addition, office properties

in particular offer a high level of flexibility with regard to

rental and are generally quite easy to put to alternative use.

The transaction market for commercial properties is stable,

with long-term liquidity, and also operates at an international 

level.

DIC Asset AG also specialises in properties with the potential

to increase in value, which can be tapped into by intensive

letting, repositioning and project development. The way that

our organisation is set up and our system of in-house real

 estate management across Germany mean that we have the

extensive resources required to do this. Our regional pres-

ence also allows us to invest in attractive locations with a

lower level of competition and a higher level of opportunity.

We are one of Germany's largest commercial real estate

investors, operating exclusively within the German

 market. Our investment focus is entirely on commercial

real estate. 

Our approach

The German commercial investment market is extremely

 attractive to both national and international investors: the

robust nature of the German economy – as impressively

proven by its speedy recovery from the financial crisis of

2008-2009 – has once more underlined the importance of

the German commercial investment market, and how it is

 regarded as a comparatively "safe haven".

Capital investors from around the world consider the stability

of the German market to be a sign of quality that increases

in importance when times are difficult and does not become

less attractive when there are signs of positive growth.

Advantages of investing in German commercial real estate

n Good economic performance

n Steady and attractive rental yields

n Large, liquid, international transaction market

n Rising level of employment is generating increased 

demand for commercial and office space

Management Report

Strategy and Management
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As a successful investor in and manager of

commercial property in Germany, we can

boast a consistently positive track record.

We operate a capital-efficient business

model that has yielded high FFO figures for

many years now: for over 30 quarters in a

row since our IPO.

Investments in German commercial properties generate
consistently attractive rental yields.

10 year
German
government
bond yield

Aggregated 
top rental yield for
office properties in
major German 
office centres
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2007
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2003
2001

2000

2009

2011

280 bp 
as at 31.12.2011
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We have a quality portfolio, which generates ongoing 

attractive returns and whose broad diversification enables

it to absorb risk.

Our approach

Our portfolio consists of real estate with attractive rental

yields. Purely maintaining the portfolio generates an attrac-

tive profit, in addition to covering the costs of financing and

mangement. The focus of our activities is on office space. We

ensure a balance of different properties in the portfolio,

which both allows for attractive opportunities and avoids risk

being concentrated. Our tenant structure is widely diversified

both by region and by sector. It includes many medium-sized

companies and retail tenants, as well as a high proportion of

public sector organisations with excellent credit ratings. With

approximately 1,500 tenancies, there is broad risk diversifi -

cation.

PORTFOLIO WITH STRONG
EARNINGS POTENTIAL
We manage a high-quality, regionally 
diversified portfolio with strong cash flow

A high level of diversification in terms of sectors and regions shields our
portfolio from market fluctuations and ensures an even inflow of income
from around 1,500 tenancies.
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Success in 2011

n Continued high FFO of some EUR 41 million

n 1.7% like-for-like increase in rental income

n Average lease term improved to 5.5 years

The majority of our income originates from the Commercial

Portfolio. Above all, in order to secure long-term rental

 income, we ensure high quality in our rental properties and

high creditworthiness in our tenants. In addition, we perform

services for our co-investments, for example in real estate

management, and this generates steady additional income.



8%
Industry

10%
Telco/IT/
multimedia

23%
Retail

4%
Insurance/
Banking

31%
Small/medium-sized 
enterprises and 
other companies

24%  Public sector

We manage a solid commercial portfolio.
Our tenant structure is highly diversified across different regions and sectors.
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Broad risk diversification. For some years

now, our property portfolio has been gen-

erating a high and stable level of rental in-

come, not least thanks to its diversified

tenant structure. Like-for-like rental income

increased by 1.7% in 2011 after +0.5% in

the previous year.
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InVESTMEnTS In LARGE METROPOLITAn AREAS 

approx. 50%

-20

-10
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hIGh POTEnTIAL In 
MAJOR CITIES
German Property Index for office centres, total return in %

100604020098969492 08

Medium-sized
towns and cities

Major cities

With our nationwide presence across all regions of Germany, we take advantage of the 
different characteristics and opportunities presented by the German real estate landscape.
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REGIONAL PRESENCE
We set up branches to maintain a 
presence in the areas where our property
portfolio is concentrated 

Our approach

In contrast to the situation in other European countries, the

German real estate economy does not thrive in just a few

major locations, but also in many medium-sized towns and

cities in strong economic regions.

This regional spread means that the overall market for com-

mercial real estate is very varied, regionally diversified and

therefore stable and at the same time challenging. Both real

estate strongholds and middle-order regional centres have

specific advantages and risks that we exploit by diversifying

our investments to extend our portfolio so that it is both

high-income and robust.

We are active throughout Germany. Our long-term pres-

ence with branches in the regions allows us to pick up on

market opportunities that are closed to investors with a

short-term focus.

ChARACTERISTICS OF ThE GERMAn OFFICE MARKETS

 Major office centres    Regional centres

Transaction volume high                                 low

Market liquidity high                                 low for larger volumes

Price/rent stability high volatility                 largely stable prices/rents

Competition high                                 less pronounced

Vacancy rate high and volatile           low to very low in parts,    
                                          little fluctuation

DIC Asset AG portfolio approx. 50%                  approx. 50%

approx.50%
InVESTMEnTS In MEDIUM-SIZED 
TOWnS AnD CITIES 

hIGh STABILITY In 
REGIOnAL CEnTRES 
Office market vacancy rate in 2011, in %

Frankfurt am Main

Munich

Berlin

Bochum

Duisburg 2.4
Bonn 3.5

Heidelberg 3.9

6.1
Essen 6.2

Mannheim 6.2

Wiesbaden 5.2
Hannover 4.9

8.9
Hamburg 9.6

9.8
Düsseldorf 11.5

15.1

With its own branch network, DIC Asset AG has a direct and

permanent presence in the German regional real estate mar-

kets. This long-term presence makes it possible to identify

attractive locations and real estate beyond the focal points

for investment that are well known internationally and to

  develop these successfully.

Our portfolio is divided equally between major cities and 

regional centres.
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Competition and positioning

In order to conclude lease agreements successfully, our

 offering must be better than that of competitor properties

of similar quality in a comparable location and price cate-

gory. The competition varies by location and is particularly

high in the major cities. We talk to our potential clients

 directly on the spot and are able to adapt our portfolio to

meet regional needs. Our local presence therefore gives us

advantages in terms of client retention, speed of reaction,

and proximity to the market, above all in comparison with

investors located far away.

Once again in 2011, this strategy enabled us to obtain a high

letting volume with particular success in the area of new

 tenancies.

Success in 2011 

n Strong letting volume from 247,000 sqm

n 16% increase in new tenancies

n 1.9 percentage point decrease in vacancy rate to 12.4%

n 0.7% increase in the real estate market value

IN-HOUSE REAL ESTATE
MANAGEMENT
We guarantee professional support with
our internal teams of experts

Our portfolio activities are aimed at increasing rental

 income and earning power, as well as improving the qual-

ity of our portfolio. To achieve this aim, our DIC Onsite

property management service provides on-the-spot

 support for our tenants and properties.

Our approach

Our property management service, which has around 100

employees working out of six branches in the areas where

our portfolio is concentrated, supports our tenants on every-

day questions relating to the property, as well as helping with

special projects. In addition to quick successes in renting

properties, we also aim to achieve a high level of tenant

 loyalty. We increase the potential of our real estate and

 investments by means of long-term leases and by upgrading

and refurbishing properties. This enables us to secure and

 increase our cash flows and profitability.

A steady annual high letting volume of some 250,000 sqm is testimony to our prop-
erty management.
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Substantial reduction in the vacancy rate.

The high letting volume and a marked

 increase in new tenancies led to a significant

fall in the vacancy rate of approximately

two percentage points in 2011.

12,4%

14,3% 

We operate a consistently successful letting business.
Our letting volume in 2011 equates to around 13% of our portfolio space.
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Vacancy rate 
2011

Vacancy rate 
2010 
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Because our income is calculable, it offers a reliable basis for

obtaining efficient and long-term leverage. We agree attrac-

tive terms for this borrowing and hedge it  adequately against

any increase in interest rates.

We finance our investments at property and portfolio level

and use a balanced ratio of our own capital, funds from our

bond issue and external capital. Our properties and portfolios

are structured throught non-recourse structures, there is

therefore no unrestricted possibility of enforcement against

the Group or against other portfolios or properties. 

We maintain long-term and strong relationships with Ger-

man mortgage banks and real estate financers. Currently, all

real estate loans are concluded with German financing part-

ners.

After gradually increasing our equity ratio from 24 to around

30% since 2009, we want to increase our equity share in

 investments to at least 35% in the medium term.

Success in 2011

n Capital base strengthened by EUR 52 million by means

of a capital increase

n First DIC Asset bond issue raises EUR 70 million to 

extend financing spectrum 

n Interest cover ratio increased to around 170%

n Loan term structure improved by means of refinancing

and acquisition financing

We have chosen to take a long-term approach with regard

to our financing, which is in line with the aims that we are

pursuing through our real estate.

Our approach

Our company is based on a sustainable financing architec-

ture. We use traditional bank financing, bonds, our access to

the capital markets, and our financing partners for financing

purposes. We have significantly strengthened our capital

base over the past few years by means of capital increases,

sales, and loan repayments. In addition, we offer strategic

 financing partners the opportunity to share in our invest-

ments, growth and expertise with their own capital, for

 example by means of joint ventures, our special funds, and

other co-investments.

We always arrange real estate financing on a strictly long-

term basis and in line with the objectives for the particular

property. Ongoing business, as well as the portfolio invest-

ments, are financed primarily by the strong cash flows from

our properties. We have been continually building up our

portfolio for many years now.

BALANCED FINANCIAL
STRUCTURE
We secure long-term financing through
equity and debt capital

Manageable term structure: in 2012, only some EUR 160 million of current debt in
all will need to be extended. This sum is largely spread across three financing
 arrangements that are independent of one another.
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Our balanced financing structure is secured

against interest rate fluctuations with a large

fixed component of 80%. We also enjoy a

sound cash flow basis for interest coverage:

as at the balance sheet date, net rental 

income was 1.7 times greater than interest

expenses.

We fund our investments via banks and the capital market, 
focusing on a diversified financing structure oriented towards the long term.

Interest coverage ratio

170%
Long-term loans, 

non-recourse financing, 
no cross-collaterals,
no CMBS structures
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We pursue external and internal growth opportunties in

order to extend our real estate portfolio profitably in the

long term. In doing so we always ensure a stable and 

appropriate distribution of risk.

Our approach

We invest exclusively in the entire German commercial real

estate market and therefore in its regional submarkets that

have their individual strengths. To this end, we acquire prop-

erties and investments offering attractive rental yields and a

steady cash flow. We act in a dynamic manner with a focus

on opportunities and we always ensure stable and appropri-

ate risk distribution. In addition, we pursue internal growth,

for example, by cutting the vacancy rates thanks to our  

in-house real estate management service. We use our sales

to fine-tune our portfolio, realise profits at the right time and

release resources for new acquisitions as well as optimise our

capital structure.

Competition and positioning

When acquiring real estate, we compete equally with local,

national and international companies. The intensity of the

competition depends, among other things, on economic

factors, the situation in the sector and the availability of

 capital. Our regional presence and detailed market knowl-

edge give us a clear advantage, above all over international

competition. We are therefore often in a position to realise

acquisitions as an exclusive bidder in off-market transactions.

When selling real estate, we are pitted against market players

offering properties in comparable income and risk cate-

gories, of comparable quality and offering a comparable

 return. Thanks to our long-term financing, we are in a posi-

tion to sell in a selective manner and to adapt to market

 conditions. In addition, our regional market knowledge and

established networking in the investment market gives us

the opportunity to identify suitable purchasers and to

 approach them in a targeted manner and so to position 

selected properties favourably.

Growth 2011 

n Acquisition of retail properties in Chemnitz and Bremen

with a volume of EUR 108 million

n Acquisition of "Marktforum" retail property in Duisburg for

a volume of EUR 16 million

n Complete takeover of joint venture portfolios with a mar-

ket value of EUR 190 million

n Acquisition of two office properties in Karlsruhe and

Leipzig with a volume of EUR 62 million for our DIC Office

 Balance I fund

n Sale of primarily smaller properties for a total of EUR 72

million in more than 20 individual transactions
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INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL
PORTFOLIO GROWTH
We exploit earnings potential in the 
rental and transaction market



Letting volume

Transaction volume
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Internal and external growth: being well

 integrated in the regional markets allows us

to grow thanks to a consistently high let-

ting volume as well as successful acquisi-

tions and disposals.

We seize earnings potential on both
the rental and transaction market.

2008

196,300 sqm

2009

245,500 sqm

2008

280 € mn

2009

94 € mn

2010

351 € mn

2011

370 € mn

2011

247,000 sqm

2010

256,600 sqm
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We contribute our investment expertise and national real 

estate management service to partnerships, to optimise

portfolios or carry out refurbishments or project develop-

ments. In exchange for these services DIC Asset AG receives

regular management income in addition to the income from

the investments. Proceeds from sales provides an additional

source of income.

Success in 2011

n 51% increase in fees from real estate management

to EUR 5.3 million

n MainTor project: advance marketing and start of

two construction stages

n First special fund fully placed, further resources 

acquired for fund expansion

Our sources of income are diversified: In addition to our

rental income, we make regular earnings from our invest-

ments and from real estate management for our co-invest-

ments.

Our approach

In order to distribute our sources of income in a risk-oriented

manner, we act on the one hand as a portfolio manager, but

also as a co-investor. As a co-investor, we participate among

other things in investments that offer a better risk-opportu-

nity profile, generally with a substantial 20% stake. In addi-

tion, we initiate special real estate funds in which we also

participate to a significant degree. This earnings structure

makes us less dependent on market fluctuations (on either

the real estate or financial markets) and guarantees a con-

stantly high and at the same time capital-efficient income.

We are currently participating as a co-investor in approxi-

mately 120 properties with minority shares. This includes the

properties in our special fund, as well as project develop-

ments, including the development of the MainTor district –

the Riverside Financial District in Frankfurt.

DIVERSIFIED 
SOURCES OF INCOME
We combine high-yield portfolio properties and 
attractive co-investments in a balanced manner
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Canteen by Rehberger and temporary restaurant concept "96 COMMISSARY". Installation for the anniversary exhibition “20 Jahre
Gegenwart” (“20 Years of Presence”) by Frankfurt’s MMK Museum of Modern Art on DIC’s MainTor site. The special showing
 between June and October 2011 attracted over 100,000 visitors.
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We are involved in some 120 properties as a

co-investor, including the development

MainTor – The Riverside Financial District –

in Frankfurt, which has been nominated for

a MIPIM Award. Following successful pre-

letting of some 70% of available space, the 

second construction stage in the MainTor

project, the "MainTor Porta" office complex,

will begin ahead of schedule in the course

of Q1 2012.

We participate selectively in high-quality project developments 
and make use of the DIC Group’s expertise as developer.

Largest new tenancy of the year 
in Frankfurt city centre 

14,000 sqm
in the MainTor Porta sub-project
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MainTor district development 
nominated for MIPIM Award
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COMPANY MANAGEMENT

Management and supervision

 Management Board
The Management Board of DIC Asset AG manages the com-
pany's business. It establishes strategy, runs the company, carries
out corporate planning and puts effective and adequate risk
management systems in place. The Management Board consists
of two members. Each member of the Management Board is
 responsible for an area within the company which is specified in
the rules of procedure. 

 Supervisory Board
The Management Board cooperates closely with the Super -
visory Board when making any material commercial decisions
and reports regularly and when required on all business devel-
opments and strategic issues. The Supervisory Board is the statu-
tory control and supervisory body and, as such, advises the
 Management Board in relation to commercial decisions, super-
vises its operations and decisions and is authorised to make
 decisions in specific situations. The Supervisory Board of DIC
Asset AG  consists of six members. In 2011 the Supervisory Board
held four ordinary meetings and ten telephone meetings
 together with the Management Board.

Statement on corporate governance and additional disclo-
sures
The statement on corporate governance was published on the
website www.dic-asset.de. The statement is also included in the
section on corporate governance. Further information on cor-
porate governance, such as the composition and working meth-
ods of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, can
also be found there. The remuneration report, containing indi-
vidual information on the compensation of Management Board
and the Supervisory Board is also given there. 

We explain our control system and its processes in detail in the
Risk Report, and in particular in the comments in the internal
control system.

Regional portfolio structure 
In this Annual Report we expand our reporting to include the
regional perspective on our portfolio. In doing so we increase
transparency and generally follow the internal control of our
portfolio. The growth in our real estate portfolio and the expan-
sion of real estate management in recent years has resulted in
planning and control for the regions becoming more important
and the previous distinction between "Core plus" and "Value
added" becoming less important. We have therefore amended
our segment reporting procedures accordingly.

The DIC branch network divides Germany into the following five
portfolio regions: North (Hamburg), West (Düsseldorf ), Central
(Frankfurt); South (Munich/Mannheim) and East (Berlin).

Strategic Group structure
DIC Asset AG manages the Group as its parent company. All
management functions are brought together here centrally, in-
cluding amongst other things the setting of Group strategy (and
in particular the investment, portfolio management and dis-
posals strategy), corporate and real estate financing, risk man-
agement as well as the steering of property management. In
 addition, responsibility for company communications including
contact with the capital and financial market and shareholders
lies at Group level.

Two subsidiaries of DIC Asset AG also have important opera-
tional tasks: DIC Onsite organises property management
through six regional branches whilst DIC Fund Balance is
 responsible for the Funds business segment. 
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A total of 153 direct and indirect investments form part of the
Group. In most cases, these are property holding companies,
through which the Group's operations are presented and which
we administer as sub-holdings. All equity interests are reported
from page 119 in Annexes 1-3 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. 

Internal planning and management system
The management system of DIC Asset AG aims to increase cor-
porate value for shareholders, employees and business partners
and to achieve long-term profitable growth without incurring
disproportionate corporate risk. 

Planning process
The planning process of DIC Asset AG combines projections on
the basis of current value with concrete targets. This is assisted
by detailed planning at regional, individual property and port-
folio level (bottom-up planning) as a basis, which is finalised
through objectives and strategic elements (as top-down plan-
ning)

Constituent parts of planning:

n Detailed business plans for real estate and portfolios includ-
ing, amongst other things, expected key figures such as
rental income, costs, investments and gross profit.

n Objectives for operating real estate management including
action planning, in particular with reference to rental, sales,
investments and project developments.

n Planning operational implementation, e.g. with leasing and
management services, planned costs and measures to opti-
mise income and minimise expenditure.

n Supplementation of personal skills and an examination of
 financial and liquidity issues

n Risk management results in the addition of risks and specific
opportunities. This is firstly carried out at the property and
portfolio level and then aggregated to Group level.

Consolidated Group planning is then complemented by strate-
gic Group measures and estimates of framework conditions by

the Management Board. Group planning is reviewed annually
and adjusted to the current market situation and changes which
are expected. 

Company-specific early indicators 
We use leading indicators for our operating policy decisions in
order to exploit opportunities rapidly and avoid possible unde-
sirable developments. The early warning system that is a com-
ponent of our risk management ensures that risk management
is embedded in our organisation. We differentiate between two
types of indicators: general economic and operating leading
 indicators.

The general economic leading indicators include above all GDP
growth, the ifo index, unemployment trends and employment
levels as well as forecasts for interest rate movements and lend-
ing. These indicators enable us to make long-term conclusions
regarding the development of our regional markets and the real
estate sector, which normally responds to macroeconomic
changes with a certain time lag, and also to determine future
framework conditions and costs of our loans.

Significant operating leading indicators include the conclusion
of tenancy agreements as well as expiries and terminations of
tenancy agreements. This is incorporated amongst other things
into our monthly letting forecast. Due to the long-term nature of
tenancy agreements we are able to estimate the revenue base
monthly, adopt counter-measures and draw conclusions for our
short- to medium-term revenue growth. We supplement these
turnover-oriented indicators with regional information and com-
pany data from our branches. Using this information we are able
in particular to fine-tune our letting operations. 

Management using key figures
Planned developments and actual results are regularly checked,
monitored and reported by means of controlling and risk man-
agement measures. Managers from Group companies and sub-
sidiaries secure the implementation of Group goals in their rel-
evant market environment. In the event of major discrepancies
the Management Board becomes involved, which decides on
the implementation of appropriate measures with departmen-
tal representatives. 

The internal control system, which forms part of the risk man-
agement process and is explained in detail from page 48 of the

Risk Report, serves as the fundamental instrument for monitor-
ing and managing the achievement of the company's targets.
Routine management is supplemented by additional or event-
driven investigations. We are currently working on an over-arch-
ing software solution for real estate management. The program
is specifically tailored to the needs of real estate companies and
will lead to closer integration and greater optimisation of prop-
erty management and company accounting as well as of plan-
ning, control and analysis systems.

The most important control quantities and targets
In order to monitor the agreed targets, we use result-oriented
figures which are a part of regular reporting. We manage our
portfolio with a regional focus, particularly with regard to the
 increase in value from property management (including letting
volume and changes in rental income (nominal and like-for-like)
and vacancy rates).

From the point of view of the company as a whole, the operat-
ing profit from real estate management (funds from operations,
FFO), and the operating profits after deducting taxes related to
capital employed (return on equity, ROE) are of the utmost
 importance. In the case of sale-oriented investments and proj-
ect developments, the internal rate of return (IRR) is also used 
as a key figure, whereas for fund investments the distribution
yield and performance are used. Growth targets are guided
above all by the actual acquisition volumes. Deviations are
analysed promptly and management measures are established
in regular meetings with the Management Board and the
 respective managers.
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MACROECONOMIC TRENDS

Strong domestic economy driving German growth
The German economy was in a very strong state in 2011. The
rapid recovery from the 2009 financial crisis hardly let up in the
second subsequent year. In particular, high growth rates in pri-
vate consumption and investments contributed to the upturn,
and the impact of exports as an engine for
growth fell. The German economy grew by three
percent last year, although it lost a lot of mo-
mentum towards the end of the year in the wake
of the sovereign debt crisis. Initial forecasts by
the Federal Statistical Office suggest that GDP
fell by 0.25 percentage points in the fourth quar-
ter [update to follow after 15.02]. GDP growth of
1.2% is expected in 2012.

Very pleasing employment market data
There were positive developments in the em-
ployment market in 2011: the number of people
in employment grew strongly by 0.5 million to
41.5 million, whilst the number unemployed fell
by 230,000 to 2.8 million. The unemployment
rate averaged 7.1 percent and fell by 0.6 percent
compared to the previous year. The number of
people in employment and paying social secu-
rity contributions enjoyed the most marked rise
in 2011, growing by 1.0 million to reach 28.8 in
December 2011. This is particularly pleasing for
us due to its strong correlation with the letting of
commercial and office space.

Sovereign debt crisis holding back the economy
The sovereign debt crisis in a range of countries in the euro area
as well as the general weakening in the global economy in-
creasingly held back the European economy in 2011. After
Greece, significant problems were also encountered by Ireland,
Portugal, Italy and Spain in using the capital market to borrow
funds or refinance debt. These countries were supported by
comprehensive and extraordinary stabilisation measures. Due
to instability in the financial sector, the key interest rate for the
euro area was reduced to a low 1.0% in December 2011.

Financing still strained 
Even the fall in the interest rate was unable to decisively stop
the strained situation in the banking sector: the discussion
 regarding a debt haircut for Greek bondholders, more robust
 equity capital requirements for banks and disruptions to inter-
bank lending again led to increased capital requirements among
 financial institutions. The consequence for lending is stricter loan
conditions, higher risk premiums and, for several banks provid-
ing finance to the real estate sector, a block on new business.
 Although it is essentially possible to carry out real estate financ-
ing at present, it can only be achieved with smaller volumes and
greater use of capital resources. 

SECTOR TRENDS

Broad upward trend for the rental market 
Driven by a positive employment market, there has been a sharp
revival in the letting market whereas no general weakening as a
result of the European sovereign debt crisis was apparent. In
2011, around 3.2 million sqm of let space was registered in the
seven major office centres (2010: 2.8 million sqm). The result rep-
resents a 13% rise on 2010 and is also significantly higher than
the ten year average of 3.1 million sqm. Thanks to high demand,
the vacancy rate fell in all major office centres, with the largest
falls in Hamburg (-1.7% to 8.1%) and Frankfurt (-1.0% to 14.4%).
Increased momentum even enabled medium-sized towns and
cities to develop positively. Letting growth amounted to 16%,
reaching around 370,000 sqm. 

Strong demand for quality and location
Demand in the major office centres was primarily for high-qual-
ity, prestigious properties in central locations. The high demand
for such properties enabled a premium to be charged, which
pushed up high-end rents in four of the seven major locations.
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Out of the 13 locations considered overall, a year-end increase of
just over 1% was registered for high-end rents, whilst mid-level
rents remained stable. However, the increased demand had a
significant dampening effect on rental incentives throughout
the market.

Hardly any speculative new construction activities 
New construction activities in the major office centres were less
marked in 2011: The volume of finished properties fell by 25% to
a total of around 880,000 sqm. Most of the properties were let in
advance, whilst the remainder were taken up by the market gen-

erally without any problems, thanks to their contemporary
 quality and fixtures and fittings. Almost two thirds of the total
volume of new construction activity was carried out in Frank-
furt, Hamburg and Munich. Similar volumes to 2011 are pro-
jected for the coming year, and many properties have also
 already been let.

High demand on the German commercial property market
Activities on the transaction market increased in 2011, although
they were almost unilaterally focused on top-end long-term
rental property in prime locations ("Core properties") which

many investors regard as safe. Transaction volumes in 2011
 totalled EUR 22.6 billion, representing an increase of 18% com-
pared to the previous year (2010: around EUR 19.2 billion) and
the best result for four years. Just like the German economy as a
whole, the commercial real estate market is attracting capital
from across the world thanks to its solidity and attractiveness in
a European context. With turnover of EUR 5.8 billion, the final
quarter was the strongest quarter of the year.

Foreign investors active
Confidence in the German market has been clearly reflected in
the greater role played by foreign investors, who invested over
EUR 7.6 billion in 2011 and thus made up more than a third of
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DEVELOPMENT OF EMPLOYMENT MARKET IN GERMANY
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the total transaction volume (2010: around EUR 6.7 billion).
 Investors with strong levels of share capital were also dominant.
In the five major German investment centres (Berlin, Düsseldorf,
Frankfurt, Hamburg and Munich) a total of EUR 11.7 billion
changed hands (+18% compared to the previous year). This is
therefore also where competition is strongest: around one half
of total investment turnover goes to these five top locations.
Euro).

Risk aversion continues to underpin investments
In 2011, there was an unusually strong focus on retail properties,
alongside offices from the relatively slim Core segment. Whilst
EUR 10.6 billion was invested in retail properties (a share of 47%
of the market as a whole), for office properties the figure was
EUR 8.2 billion (36% share), whereas in 2010 the figures were EUR
8.0 billion for the office segment (42%) and EUR 7.6 billion for
 retail (40%) respectively. Most investors are therefore willing to
accept high purchase prices and lower rental returns. They are

looking for a high level of security from more modern properties
with long-term tenancy agreements in prime locations. The high
demand led to a fall in top rents in these segments. Outside the
Core segment, demand was markedly lower overall. 

Outlook
Due to the continuing economic tensions following the sover-
eign debt crisis, we are expecting the real estate market in 2012
to show a hesitant yet stable rental market along with a trans-
action market centred as in the previous year around core prop-
erties. More detailed estimates for 2012 are contained in the
chapter on "Opportunities and forecast“.
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Summary
In 2011 we set ourselves the principal target of further develop-
ing DIC Asset AG through internal and external growth and
 enhancing the quality of our portfolio. We implemented this in
full, buoyed by robust economic development and a benign and
stable real estate market. With acquisitions of around EUR 300
million we have reached the upper limits of our planning vol-
umes and accordingly attractively expanded our real estate port-
folio on a long-term basis. We laid the basis for these achieve-
ments in the first half of the year with two capital procurement
measures, the capital increase and the bond issue. As planned,
in the rental sector we repeated the previous year's success with
a strong letting volume. Due to greater levels of new tenancy
agreements we were even able to increase the quality of our
portfolio more than expected. The vacancy rate fell, while rental
income increased in a like-for-like comparison. FFO also fared as
expected: the figure of some EUR 41 million is precisely within
our forecast range. 

With a high rental rate we have secured our rental income and
enhanced portfolio quality. The good result was based above all
on new rentals, which we were able to expand by 16% and
which made a decisive contribution to the 1.9% reduction in
 vacancy rates to 12.4%. 

Good framework conditions for letting
The cyclical upward trend with good prospects for companies
and a labour market with record levels of employment encour-
aged tenants to up-size and move house again for the first time
in several years. Even with the increasingly negative headlines
as a result of the sovereign debt crisis we were not able to dis-
cern any recognisable hesitancy from the market observations
by our branches. Due to the limited supply, price rises were also

noted in sought-after locations. Rents remained stable across
the market, although rental incentives fell significantly. 

Letting volume of 247,000 sqm  
Our letting volume in 2011 amounted to 247,000 sqm, which
 almost matched the previous year's level despite a significantly
smaller portfolio over the year as a whole (-4%, 2010: 256,600
sqm). As planned, we intensified new letting activities and also
exploited the positive economic environment. With success: we
were able to significantly expand our new tenancies by 16% to
some 117,800 sqm (2010: 103,200 sqm). Since relatively few ten-
ancy agreements expired in 2011, we took additional early
 action in relation to extensions to existing tenancies for agree-
ments expiring in 2012. Here too, we once again a recorded a
high level of tenancy extensions, for 127,200 sqm (2010: 153,400
sqm). We concluded some 430 tenancy agreements in 2011. Our
letting volume corresponds to annual rental income of EUR 27.3
million. Despite a slight fall in letting volume, this is at the same
level as the previous year. The high average term of eight years
secured on our new tenancies has had a positive impact on the
overall term structure. We have a balanced tenancy structure
that is split roughly equally in the three size classes of under
1,000 sqm (80,700 sqm), 1,000 to 5,000 sqm (81,500 sqm), and
over 5,000 sqm (84,800 sqm). The ten most significant tenancy
agreements account for around 94,000 sqm in total.
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REDUCTION OF VACANCY RATE in %*

12.4%

14.3%

31.03.2011

14.3%

31.12.2010

13.8%

30.06.2011

13.5%

30.09.2011 31.12.2011

LETTING VOLUME

in sqm on signature annualised in EUR million
2011 2010 2011 2010

Office 156,800 159,900 19.9 19.2
Retail 30,900 22,700 3.5 3.8
Other 
commercial 52,800 67,700 3.4 3.7
Residential 6,500 6,300 0.5 0.5

Total 247,000 256,600 27.3 27.2

Parking 2,190 2,020 1.0 0.9

GROWTH IN RENTAL INCOME  like-for-like in %

Q1

2010

2011

Q2

Q3

Q4

-0.5%

+0.5%

+1.7%

+1.0%

+0.6%

+0.6%

REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT    

Like-for-like rental income up by 1.7% 

Vacancy rates significantly reduced by almost 2 percent
to 12.4%  

Rental volumes of 247,000 sqm match the high level
from the previous year
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Marked increase in like-for-like rental income
Due to the high letting volume, like-for-like rental income in-
creased by +1.7%. This growth was significantly higher than the
previous year's result of +0.5% and exceeded our forecast. The
like-for-like comparison is based on properties which remained
in the portfolio in 2011. Therefore the impact on our letting
 activities is significant, and the effects of purchases and sales are
not accounted for. 

Vacancy rates significantly reduced to 12.4%
The momentum in letting activity significantly reduced vacancy
rates at 31 December 2011 by 1.9 percentage points to 12.4%
(2010: 14,3%). This was higher than our planned levels, which
projected a reduction of at least 1.0 percentage point. The aver-
age duration of our rental agreements improved slightly to
around five and a half years (2010: 5.4 years). The rent per square
metre increased by EUR 0.10 to EUR 10.50. 

Rental expiries significantly reduced for 2012
At the start of 2011, rental expiries for 2012 still amounted to
18.9 million (16.5% of rental income). With our consistent letting
activity, we had already reduced this volume by around one-
third by the end of 2011 to 13.1 million (9.9% of annualised rental
income). The percentage of leases expiring in the medium term,
i.e. within the next two years, was reduced from 26% to already
19,5%. In addition, we strengthened our lease expiry structure,
most notably through a marked increase in new tenancies with
longer contractual terms. In order to reduce rental expiries fur-
ther still, our focus in 2012 will mainly be on re-leasing in addi-
tion to a strong showing in new tenancies. 
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EXPIRING TENANCIES in %

9.9% 9.6% 8.9%
11.7%

59.9%

2012 2013 2014 2015 from 2016

DISTRIBUTION OF LETTING RESULTS

34%

> 5,000 sqm

33%

1,000 – 5,000 sqm

33%

< 1,000 sqm
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We acquired this office building with
around 2,800 sqm in 2007. We took exten-
sive measures to reposition the property,
which had a high vacancy rate, in a chal-
lenging environment and make it an at-
tractive and marketable proposition. With
sustainability in mind, for instance, we in-
stalled a thermal insulation composite sys-
tem and renovated the roof to maximise

energy efficiency. A new art scheme has also given the building an optimised
and uniform look. These measures have enabled us to secure a high-profile,
long-term anchor tenant in the shape of TARGOBANK, which can help attract
more new tenants. This new tenancy has more than doubled our rental in-
come and significantly reduced the vacancy rate.

DIC acquired the 4-star hotel with a letta-
ble area of some 6,600 sqm as part of a joint
venture portfolio in 2006. The previous te-
nant ended his tenancy on the due date at
the end of March 2011. We devised a
scheme to improve the quality of the buil-
ding to a level that meets modern require-
ments in terms of accommodation long-
term.  As a result, we were able to win a

new tenant, RIMC, which is leasing the property for 15 years and running it as
the 4-star Golden Tulip Parkhotel. Both DIC and the tenant are investing a sum
of euros in the low seven-figure range to keep the value of the property sta-
ble and secure rental income long-term.

HERNER STRASSE, RECKLINGHAUSEN

High-profile anchor tenant to
attract new business

 Property repositioned 

 Anchor tenant secured for ten years

SILCHER STRASSE, NEUULM

Hotel property let 
without interruption

 Investment scheme for continuing operation long-term 

 Continuation at previous 4-star level

KAUFHOF, LEVERKUSEN

Complete letting secured 
long-term

 Extension to over 10 years

 No investment commitments

In Leverkusen, we were able to extend a
large-scale tenancy agreement long-term.
We own a department store offering some
20,400 sqm in the city's most important
pedestrian precinct, which is let to Galeria
Kaufhof. We were able to extend this ten-
ancy agreement by 9 years to 10.5 years –
without incurring any investment commit-
ments or associated additional expendi-

ture. This will secure our cash flow and the complete letting of the space long-
term.

HAIDGRABEN, OTTOBRUNN

100% newly let

 Adaptation for new tenants

 Vacant property newly let

The property of approximately 2,000 sqm
was purchased by DIC in 2007 and was left
vacant in mid-2010. By applying a suitable
usage concept, we have been able to
acquire a highly specialised safety engi-
neering company as a tenant for the pro-
perty, which is located in Ottobrunn near
Munich and enjoys good transport links.
The company will rent the entire building

once various adaptations are complete. We will increase our annual rental
 income significantly by letting this property.

HEBELSTRASSE, MANNHEIM 

Long-term extension by public
sector tenant

 Full letting secured for ten years

 Conversion increases rental income

Acquired in 2006, this office building with
some 3,200 sqm of lettable area is a single-
tenant property leased to the City of Mann-
heim and used by the job centre. We were
able to extend the tenancy agreement for a
further ten years and thus ensure the pro-
perty remained fully let over the long term.
We also succeeded in increasing rental in-
come by converting underground car par-

king space into conventional lettable areas. Our tenant is also benefiting from
the renovation of the façade and partial air conditioning, which significantly
increase the appeal of the space. 
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Our portfolio comprises 278 properties with a total lettable area
of 1.9 million sqm. The total value of assets under management
increased by some EUR 200 million to EUR 3.3 billion. Our prop-
erties generate pro rata annual rental income of EUR 139.5 mil-
lion (including Co-Investments). In 2011, we sold 22 properties
for a total of EUR 72 million. We grew our portfolio through
 acquisitions worth some EUR 300 million. The valuation of our
properties saw market values increase by 0.7%. As at 31 De-
cember 2011, our property portfolio had a pro rata market value
of EUR 2,202.3 million. 

Portfolio: robust and broadly diversified
Our property portfolio is leased long-term, with an average ten-
ancy of 5.5 years, generates steady rental income and has a
broad level of diversification in terms of sectors as well as
 regions. With 1,450 commercial tenancies, our risk is also broadly
diversified, with only some 38% of income accounted for by the
ten largest tenants.

Property values up by 0.7% 
Each of our properties was inspected by external valuers as of 31
December 2011 as part of the annual market valuation. The mar-
ket value is affected by factors internal to the company such as
the tenancy levels, the level of rental income, the length of
 tenancy agreements and the age and quality of the property.
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PORTFOLIO 

Market value of our own properties increased by 
approx. 1%

Portfolio volume increased by approx. 10%

Portfolio market value of some EUR 2.2 billion

86%
Market value 1,888 Mio. Euro

Co-
Investments

Commercial 
Portfolio 14%

 High rental yields with continuous cashflows from investment properties

 Preserving values and taking advantage of value creation

 Mid to long-term investment horizon

 Selective disposals at appropriate time

Funds

 Core properties in major cities

 Steady income from investments
and services

Joint Venture Portfolio

 Investments with potential for value creation and new 
positioning

 Upside potential in developments and refurbishments

 Ongoing fee income from asset and property management

Market value 314 Mio. Euro
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This is in addition to external factors such as the development of
the local environment and the market in general as well as the
financial climate. As in the previous year, a stable price trend was
established for the market as a whole.

The market value of our properties increased in this year's valu-
ation by 0.7% compared with the previous year. Following
 acquisitions, sales and finally the value increase, the pro rata mar-
ket value of our portfolio amounted to EUR 2,203.3 million. At
the end of 2010 the figure was EUR 2,001.8 million. The Net Asset
Value increased by 14% to EUR 682.6 million. Net Asset Value per
share amounted to EUR 14.93 (2010: EUR 15.27). The dilution due
to the capital increase of EUR 1.05 was therefore largely offset.
NNNAV per share increased from EUR 14.43 to EUR 14.50. 

TYPES OF USE *
by rents paid

   69%

Office

   20%

Retail

   10%

Other business (e.g. logistics, industrial)

   1%

Residential

MAIN TENANTS *
by rents paid

25%

Public sector

23%

Retail

10%

Telco/IT/Multimedia

31%

SME and others

4%

Insurance, Banking

7%

Industry

* pro rata* pro rata

PORTFOLIO BY REGIONS *  

North East Central West South Total 2011 Total 2010

Number of properties 50 38 56 62 72 278 288
Market value in EUR million 234.2 270.6 646.5 641.3 409.7 2,202.3 2,001.8
Lettable area in sqm 178,300 160,700 245,200 340,700 303,200 1,228,000 1,171,100
Portfolio proportion after rental space 15% 13% 20% 27% 25% 100%
Annualised rental income in EUR million 14.7 19.7 33.4 41.4 30.3 139.5 128.9
Rental income per sqm in EUR 7.70 10.90 13.20 11.50 8.80 10.50 10.40
Lease expiry in years 6.9 4.8 6.6 5.5 3.9 5.5 5.4
Rental yield 6.4% 7.3% 6.0% 6.5% 7.4% 6.6% 6.6%
Vacancy rate 11.1% 9.3% 16.2% 14.2% 9.5% 12.4% 14.3%

* all figures pro rata, except number of properties; all figures without developments except number of properties and market values
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Market valuation methodology
The market value is based on a sales-oriented consideration and
is the estimated transaction amount at which a property would
change hands between the buyer and seller under normal con-
ditions on the date of the valuation. 

The calculation of market value is based on a dynamic calcula-
tion of their present values (discounted cash flow method). Gen-
erally a holding period of ten years with regular cash flows

 followed by the disposal of the property is assumed here. Cash
flows are discounted at the discounting rate, which is calculated
on the basis of a risk-free interest rate and a risk premium specific
to the property. When making the valuations the surveyors
made overall conservative assumptions. The current yield on
fixed-income federal bonds with a term of 9-10 years is used as
the risk-free interest rate; they have a ten-year average return of
3.70%. The property-specific risk premium amounts to between
1.30% and 3.30%. Overall, this amounts to a discounting rate of
between 5.00% and 7.00% for 2011. The discounting rate is
mostly between 6.25% and 6.50% and thus matches the previ-
ous year's level.

We record our assets at cost less depreciation, which is why the
change in market value has no direct impact on the balance
sheet. Further information on how our real estate is accounted
for is contained in the chapter on the Asset Position.

Portfolio acquisitions
We significantly strengthened our portfolio in 2011: Real estate
with strong cash flows and long-term rentals in economically

strong areas of Germany were most prominent. With around EUR
300 million we reached the upper end of our planned acquisi-
tion volume for 2011. The portfolio grew by some 112,000 sqm
pro rata, with FFO increasing pro rata by around EUR 8.5 million
on an annualised basis [tbc]. The portfolio volume increased pro
rata by some EUR 250 million. 

– In March, in exclusive negotiations, we acquired two retail
properties in Bremen and Chemnitz (tenant Galeria Kaufhof )
with tenancies averaging more than eleven years for around
EUR 108 million. The properties are situated in prime retail lo-
cations and together offer retail space of over 49,000 sqm.

– In September we purchased the retail property "Marktforum"
Duisburg with around 10,000 sqm of rental space for around
EUR 16 million. Alongside EDEKA as the main tenant, other
well-known names leasing space include dm, Deichmann
and Takko.

– Also in September, we acquired two top-quality Core office
properties in Karlsruhe and Leipzig for our "DIC Office Bal-
ance I" fund. The properties, which offer 40,000 sqm of rental
space and cost some EUR 62 million, are leased to inter -
national insurers and service providers for an average term
of around eight years, with Allianz as the main tenant.

– In October we acquired in full three joint venture portfolios
with Morgan Stanley Real Estate Funds, in which we had pre-
viously already held a 50% stake. This means that we are now
the sole owner of this attractive portfolio that has a market
value of some EUR 190 million and that currently comprises
22 commercial properties over 90,000 sqm. Vacancy rates
amount to only 10%, whilst the average tenancy term is
around 5.5 years.

– In December we purchased an office property at Frankfurt
Airport for around EUR 22 million, with transfer of ownership
planned for the first quarter of 2012. The recently completed
property has rental space of around 11,500 sqm, and the
 average tenancy term is currently seven years.

CHANGES IN MARKET VALUE   EUR million

Portfolio market value as at 31.12.2010 2,001.8
+ Acquisitions/additions +221.9
- disposals -37,5
+ Impact of valuation (+0,7%) +16,1

Portfolio market value as at 31.12.2011 2,202.3

Galeria Kaufhof Marktforum Office properties Joint venture Office property
properties Duisburg Karlsruhe, Leipzig portfolios airport, Frankfurt

Number of properties 2 1 2 22 1
Volume in EUR million 108 16 62 95 22
Rental area in sqm 49,000 10,000 40,000 90,000 11,500
Vacancy rate 0% 0% 0% 10% 0%*
Average lease term in years 11 12 8 6 7
Annual rental income, pro rata 7.3 1.2 4.0 7.0 1.6
Transfer of ownership Q1 2011 Q4 2011 Q4 2011 Q4 2011 planned Q1 2012
Portfolio segment Commercial Portfolio Commercial Portfolio Co-Investments, Commercial Portfolio Commercial Portfolio

Funds

ACQUISITIONS 2011

* including rental guarantee of the seller
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Sales of EUR 72 million
We had reduced our planned sales volume for 2011 in line with
our objectives for expansion of our portfolio. One objective of
our disposals activities in this regard was the structural
 improvement of our portfolio with regard to optimal property
sizes and types of use. We sold a total of 22 properties (2010: 29
properties), thereby optimising our portfolio by above all di-
vesting ourselves of smaller properties worth up to EUR 3 mil-
lion. We also sold three apartments that had been part-owned
by a property in Berlin. The average volume per property in our
portfolio have now increased from around EUR 11 to 12 million.
Transaction volumes of disposals announced in 2011 – without
accounting for the level of capital ownership – totalled EUR 72
million. This is around EUR 50 million less than in 2010, which
lies within our planning range. Nine properties, representing a
volume of some EUR 21 million, come from our commercial
portfolio, with 13 properties (EUR 51 million) from co-invest-
ments.

Disposals volume per transaction averaged EUR 3 million after
EUR 7 million in 2011.  The proceeds from the disposal of our
properties exceeded market values by 5% in average. The largest
properties sold were a retail property let to Mediamarkt in
Würzburg (EUR 14.4 million), an office in Mannheim (EUR 9.5
 million) and a retail property let to Marktkauf in Ulm (EUR 9.0
million). 

Fund business expanded
In 2010 we supplemented our activities by establishing and
managing funds for institutional investors. We design appropri-
ate special funds and investment vehicles and win over investors
(including foundations, pension funds and private asset man-
agers) as long-term partners for DIC Asset AG. 

In principle we have a 20% stake as a co-investor and contribute
our real estate and investment expertise as a service provider. In
addition to income from equity interests we therefore regularly
earn income for asset and property management as well as
management fees on acquisitions and sales for the fund. This at-
tractive combination of stable sources of income also enables
us to conclude investments in core properties which make our

portfolio even more well-balanced – and which would other-
wise not belong in DIC Asset AG's core business model due to
their lower rental yields. In addition, we develop new investment
circles. 

At the start of the 2011 financial year, our first fund was fully
placed. "DIC Office Balance I" invests in first-class office proper-
ties in major urban centres and has a starting portfolio of five
properties. By the end of 2011 we had expanded the fund
 volume to around EUR 275 million. In addition, we also pur-
chased two properties in Karlsruhe and Leipzig for around EUR
62 million. 

We started developing our second fund in 2011, which is
 designed to be a similarly ideal complement to our activities.
From 2012 onwards, we are planning to launch a special fund
for investments in top-class business premises in city-centre
 locations rated 1a. Like our first fund, this will also be targeted at
institutional investors. In this, we are building on the proven
 expertise in the retail segment which we have gained over the
past few years through successful investments and letting. A
 target volume of some EUR 250 million is planned for the fund,
which will enable it to make a significant contribution to the
 success and further expansion of our portfolio. 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENTS  

Project developments enable the value of properties to be
 increased significantly through extensive construction measures
which means that they can be placed within a higher-value mar-
ket segment or gain lettable area. In an ideal scenario, the cycli-
cal trend of the real estate markets is exploited to prepare proj-
ects during weaker market phases and then to launch attractive
products as the market picks up. 

We invest in project developments, where we make use of the
expertise of the Deutsche Immobilien Chancen Group as an
 experienced developer. In addition, we invest in properties with
development potential, for which we consistently enhance the

added value and in whose development we also act as financial
partner. Our target for project developments is to achieve a sale
once value has been created. We minimise existing construction
and financing risks by ensuring that sufficient pre-letting is in
place before going through with a project and, as a basic prin-
ciple, only conducting business in places where we are repre-
sented with branch offices. We also target project developments
that guarantee a steady cash flow and, where possible, split
larger projects up into several sub-projects that can be marketed
and sold separately.

We are currently involved in MainTor and Opera Offices, two
projects worth around EUR 640 million that are subdivided into
a number of independent sub-projects. The TRIO Offenbach
 development is also now part of the portfolio, with its success-
ful implementation already at an advanced stage.

“MainTor – The Riverside Financial District“ in Frankfurt
With the "MainTor" project, the DIC Group is developing a new
city district on one of the most attractive locations in the middle
of Frankfurt. In the future, the city’s central business district (CBD)
will stretch as far as the River Main. The previously closed site will
not only be redeveloped but will also become a public space
once again, to be permanently incorporated into the surround-
ing urban district with paths and roads. We are implementing
the MainTor development in five sub-projects that can be
 executed consecutively and independently of one another. Each
individual construction stage of the sub-projects is only started
once corresponding advance marketing has taken place.

The sub-division and advance marketing means that the over-
all project risk can be significantly limited. At the start of 2012,
two sub-projects, "MainTor Primus" and "MainTor Porta", were
 already under construction. These represent around one third of
the commercial volume of the project. Demolition and con-
struction work is proceeding on schedule and on budget. We
have introduced stringent controlling measures in order to
 prevent cost risks.
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The MainTor project will enhance the part of Frankfurt's bank-
ing quarter that lies alongside the River Main, from both an
 architectural and an urban planning perspective. Three towers
will be built: The 100 metre high "WinX" tower and the Porta and
Primus towers, both of which will be around 65 metres high. The
entire MainTor district is set to be completed by 2015/2016. The
construction stage is to take account of numerous aspects
 relating to sustainability and will thus make the MainTor project
one of the largest sustainable development projects in Germany.
We have a 40% stake in this project. 
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SUCCESSFUL START

n MainTor was a guest exhibition area for the MMK Museum for
Modern Art, which was celebrating its 20th anniversary and
presented part of its collection to more than 100,000 visitors.

n In June we were able to sell the "Primus" complex even before
building work started. From 2013, the Frankfurt headquarters
of the whole DIC Group will be based there, in a property
measuring around 3,300 sqm.

n Building started in August with the demolition of the whole
area and the gutting of the Primus building.

n In January 2012, we were able to report on the successful pre-
letting of the MainTor Porta office complex with around
14,000 sqm (70 percent of the total rented area) to Union 
Investment.

n In March 2012, the MainTor project won the MIPIM Award for
"Best German Project“

Framework data for value creation
– Increase in lettable space from 64,000 sqm to 108,000 sqm

(+40% increase)
– Development of the city district in an absolutely first class

river location 
– Positioning as premium properties in the banking district

(Riverside Financial District)
– Outstanding urban usage mix with top-quality residential

space in addition to the principal use as office space as
well as restaurant and retail areas.

Opera Offices, Hamburg 
Our project development in Hamburg is situated in an up-and-
coming district right by the Hamburg Opera House. The Opera
Boulevard is currently undergoing large-scale renovation as a
business improvement district (BID) is being enhanced amongst
other things by means of traffic calming measures and pave-
ment widening work. We are involved in these activities. 

With its facade curving round an atrium, the newbuild "Opera
Offices Neo" offers exceptional, modern office space in a prime
city-centre location. "Opera Offices Klassik" involves the re-
spectful conversion of a stylish listed administrative building
 designed by the famous architect Fritz Schumacher, which offers
office space with classical charm. 

The construction permits have been issued for both properties,
with an approximate total volume of EUR 60 million. The plan-
ning stage has been completed, and both properties are cur-
rently being marketed. The properties have been prepared for
the start of building work, so that this can start without losing
any time immediately after pre-letting and advance marketing
have been carried out. We have a 20% stake in the Opera Offices
project.

Framework data for value creation
– Increased lettable space (+60%) to 12,800 sqm
– Opening of ground floor for 1A retail spaces through to

the new Opera Boulevard 
– Repositioning in the attractive Hamburg office market
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We will be publishing our first Sustainability Report at the same
time as our 2011 Annual Report. We have chosen this new and
significantly more extensive form in order to provide an appro-
priate context for the growing significance of the issue of sus-
tainability. We have used the ZIA industry Code of Practice as the
basis for our first Sustainability Report.

In the Sustainability Report we present our basic strategy and
the establishment of sustainability in the business model of  
DIC Asset AG. In addition we summarise our general intentions
and concrete targets. We have collected and assessed specific
data for the first time. In future, we shall report annually on the
targets, measures, results and progression in our sustainable
 activities. The Sustainability Report is available on the DIC Asset
AG website.

Framework data for value creation
– Long-term letting over 17 years
– Successful refurbishment of a site formerly used by an

insurance group
– Potential for further development

TRIO Offenbach
In mid-2011, we signed a tenancy agreement with MainArbeit,
a subsidiary of the City of Offenbach, to rent a total of around
7,400 sqm in TRIO Offenbach for a term of 17 years. This set the
ball rolling for our project development from our commercial
portfolio. First of all, the strikingly curved 5,200 sqm building was
given an extensive overhaul, before the tenant moved in as early
as December 2011. In addition, an adjacent newbuild offering a
further 2,000 sqm will be prepared by early 2013. More build-
ings can be added on the rest of the site in the long term,
 allowing active use to be made of the entire quarter. The in-
vestment volume is around EUR 15 million.
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First Sustainability Report drafted
The issue of sustainability is becoming increasingly important
for real estate companies. Social influences, statutory provisions
and changes in the requirements of tenants all play a role here.
In collaboration with the German Property Federation (Zentraler
Immobilien Ausschuss - ZIA) and together with other compa-
nies from the industry, DIC Asset AG has therefore pushed for
the introduction of a Sustainability Code of Practice for the real
estate sector. This Code of Practice was published in autumn
2011. 

Status quo and successes 2010/2011

- Publication of the first Sustainability Report

- Integrating sustainability into the future business strategy

- Work begun to communicate sustainability strategy to stake-
holders

- Appointment of Sustainability Managers at Management Board
and divisional level

- Undertaking an initial series of analyses to log energy (electricity,
heating and water consumption)

- Calculating CO2 output

- “Green Energy” project launched to bundle mains electricity
supply from 100% renewable energy sources for the DIC property
portfolio

- Inclusion of sustainability issues in new facility management
service agreements put out to tender and concluded

Targets for 2012-2016

- Developing uniform reporting structures and expansion of the
database to calculate energy (electricity, heating and water 
consumption) 

- Drafting an initial sustainability action plan for 2012-2016 based
on the findings from our first portfolio of analyses (e.g. optimising
of energy efficiency)

- Expanding sustainability reporting on a gradual basis in accor-
dance with GRI, ZIA and EPRA standards, achievement of a high
level of  reporting in accordance with GRI

- Participating in training courses on sustainability

- Reporting annual data to sustainability initiatives

- Involvement in initiatives and projects to promote sustainability
in the real estate industry 

- Raising awareness of sustainability among all employees of DIC
Asset AG and its subsidiaries 

- Expanding communication with tenants and service providers
with the aim of integrating aspects of sustainability into operat-
ing processes gradually and for the long term

- Further supporting projects that have a positive influence on the
social, cultural and economic environment 
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OUR EMPLOYEES

The knowledge, performance and commitment of our employ-
ees provide the basis for our company's success. We only achieve
our ambitious goals if we have qualified and motivated staff who
represent our company successfully and convincingly. We there-
fore appreciate and encourage entrepreneurial thought and ac-
tion, the ability to act on one's own initiative, flexibility and spe-
cialist knowledge.

Systematic staff development
A significant share of our long-term corporate development
comes through systematic staff development. It is targeted at
fostering and training satisfied staff, as well as retaining them on
a long-term basis. We therefore support our employees in their
personal further development and advancement and invest in
disseminating knowledge and skills. We offer specific training
sessions (e.g. on changes to the IFRS accounting standards or
concerning sustainability in project development) as well as
general ongoing training areas such as languages and presen-
tation skills. 

Staff development is also a core element of the duties of our
managers, both at our headquarters as well as in our local

branches. We support our managers in this regard and provide
them with tools, including through training sessions. Our central
Personnel Department ensures that talents are discovered, nur-
tured and deployed ideally throughout the Group. 

An attractive employer
One of the most important tasks of our personnel management
team is to enthuse high performing staff for our company and
to retain them long term. In order to appeal to talented and
highly qualified candidates, we invest in the positioning of DIC
Asset AG as an excellent employer and the perception of the
benefits of working for us. Thus – in contrast to major corpora-
tions – we are able to offer flat hierarchies, the assumption of re-
sponsibility at an early stage and extensive powers to take deci-
sions independently. One of the ways of doing this is to establish
early contact with young talent with impressive academic qual-
ifications. For instance, we cooperate with selected universities
focusing on real estate, where our managers give lectures and
establish close contact with academic staff. 

Training of young employees, fostering of students
We invest in training young people and also view this as an im-
portant socio-political contribution. In 2011, an employee at our
Frankfurt site was trained in the real estate business. In addition,
students and secondary-school pupils gain an insight into vari-
ous areas of our company over 2-6 months and are given tasks
in day-to-day operations. We currently offer university graduates
a twelve-month trainee programme on completion of their

 degree. There are currently three employees making use of this
opportunity. We also support students on bachelor's and mas-
ter's courses. We view all these programmes as a key part of our
work to attract highly qualified young talent to our company.

Salaries: fair remuneration and the promotion of performance
Salary payments consist of basic income, supplementary bene-
fits and performance-related components. Salary levels are com-
petitive and based on industry standards. The performance-re-
lated component is based on achieving strategic and operating
targets and individual goals. As a result, we encourage and an
awareness of entrepreneurial awareness amongst our staff. In
2011, DIC Asset AG paid approximately EUR 10.2 million for its
employees. This includes  EUR 1.4 million in performance-related
bonuses, corresponding to a share of 14%. Social security con-
tributions, pension provision and other benefits amounted to
EUR 1.3 million. 

Employee base for company growth expanded 
DIC Asset AG employed an average of 121.5 employees in 2011
(2010: 109.5), with 127 at year-end (2010: 110). We bolstered our
position in 2011 in order to be able to implement both the
growth targets for our company and the qualitative expansion
of our business areas. The necessary expansion of capacities
 involved in particular portfolio management, the investment di-
vision, fund business and real estate management at DIC Onsite.
We employed some 12 extra members of staff on average.

The majority of our employees work in property on directly
adding value to our properties at our subsidiary DIC Onsite. It
operates throughout Germany with six branches located in areas
where our portfolio is concentrated. DIC Asset AG is managed
from Frankfurt am Main, as the location of the Management
Board, and central management and administrative duties are
also carried out there. 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Portfolio management, investment 
and funds 14 10
Asset and portfolio management 97 85
Group management 
and administration 16 15

Total 127 110
2010 2011

127
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Upward trend in rental income during 
the second half-year  

Financing costs sharply reduced

FFO within the target range at around 
EUR 41 million

Profit for the period of EUR 10.6 million  

in 2011 we were able to report growing rental income in each
quarter. this was driven forward by the year's acquisitions and
the good rental results. this effect will not yet be apparent from
the whole-year perspective and, due to the portfolio reductions
through sales at the start of the year, rental income was lower
than the previous year's level in 2010. with efficient operating
structures, high fees from real estate management and low fi-
nancing costs, we were however able largely to make up for this
fall in earnings. as we generated less profit from disposals in
2011 as transaction volume was reduced as planned, and earn-
ings from co-investments were also down as had been forecast,
the profit for the period was, as expected, lower than in the pre-
vious year, at eUR 10.6 million. 

Increase in rental income during the year
Rental income in 2011 was lower than the previous year. the
same is true of gross rental income (eUR 116.7 million, down 7%
year-on-year) as well as net rental income (eUR 106.8 million,
down 6% year-on-year). this is mainly due to the portfolio re-
ductions through sales. on the other hand, rental income in-
creased steadily as the year progressed thanks to the improved
occupancy rate and our acquisitions. in the fourth quarter, there-
fore, gross rental income amounted to eUR 31.0 million, eUR 1.7
higher than in the previous quarter (+6%). 

Significant increase in revenue from real estate management 
in 2011 year-round real estate management services were of-
fered to the special fund for the first time. this was the main rea-
son why fees from real estate management increased markedly
by eUR 1.8 million to eUR 5.3 million. the fall in total revenues of
eUR 71.5 million (-31%) to eUR 157.3 million was mainly due to
the lower disposal volume. 

Efficient cost structure
as intended, we maintained our operating costs in an efficient
proportion to rental income: despite lower rental income, the
operating cost ratio (administrative and personnel expenses to
gross rental income, adjusted for fees from real estate manage-
ment income) is up only slightly on the previous year at 11.5%
(2010: 11.1%) and thus within the target range of 11-12%. ad-
ministrative costs increased by eUR 0.5 million (+6%) to eUR 8.5
million, and staff costs rose by eUR 0.8 million (+9%) to eUR 10.2
million; in both cases, this was associated with gradual portfolio
growth. 

Financing costs significantly reduced
By reducing liabilities, concluding new loan agreements and
 extending existing ones at more favourable conditions, we re-
duced interest expense by eUR 6.5 million (+9%) to eUR -63.9
million, aided by low interest rates. interest income is up on the
previous year at eUR 7.9 million, mainly due to increased cash
and cash equivalents following the capital increase. overall, we
improved the interest rate result by eUR -8.0 million (+13%) to
eUR -56.0 million. 

Financial inFoRmation

REVENUES AND RESULTS  

oveRview oF RevenUes eUR million

2011 2010

Rental income  116.7 124.9 -7%
Fees from real estate 
management 5.3 3.5 +51%
Proceeds from disposals 
of properties 17.7 81.2 -78%

other 17.6 19.2 -8%

total revenues 157.3 228.8 -31%

Rental income and
Fees FRom Real estate management eUR million

Rental income

Fees from real estate 
management

56.5 60.2

H2 2011H1 2011 H2 2011H1 2011

2.3
3.0
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FFO remains high
FFo (funds from operations), reporting the earnings from port-
folio management, held up well at eUR 40.6 million. compared
to 2010, FFo fell by only eUR 3.4 million approximately (-8%). the
fall in gross rental income of eUR 8.2 million was largely offset
by reduced financing costs, efficient management and the ex-
pansion of earnings from real estate management. the FFo-yield
as a proportion of rental income remained stable at 35%. FFo
per share amounts to 0.92 (2010: eUR 1.15).

On the path of growth: Smaller focus on disposals
the declared aim for 2011 was to acquire more properties for
the portfolio than were sold. For this reason, our sales amounted
to a lower transaction volume, as planned, causing proceeds
from disposals to fall significantly by eUR 63.5 million to eUR 17.7
million. Profits from sales of properties thus fell as expected by
eUR 3.4 million (-67%) to eUR 1.7 million, although they repre-
sent a very attractive return considering the disposal volume. 

Income from investments: EUR 2.3 million
as expected, share of the profit of associates (our co-invest-
ments) was down eUR 5.4 million on the previous year at eUR
2.3 million, a fall of 69%. the main cause for the decline was the
planned loss of earnings from the maintor site, which in 2010
was still leased and on which our development project has been
under way since early 2011. the figure comprises income from
letting our opportunistic co-investments (eUR 1.2 million), our
fund investment (eUR 1.4 million) and from the disposal of prop-
erties (eUR 0.2 million). due to marketing costs, our investment
in the maintor project development reduced overall share of the
profit of associates by eUR 0.5 million.

deRivation oF FFo eUR million

2011 2010

net rental income 106.8 113.9 -6%

administrative expenses -8.5 -8.0 -6%
Personnel expenses -10.2 -9.4 -9%
Result of other operating 
income/expenses +0.9 +0.2 >+100%
income from real estate 
management fees +5.3 +3.5 +51%
share of the profit 
from associates +2.3 +7.8 -69%
interest result -56.0 -64.0 +13%

Funds from operations 40.6 44.0 -8%

FFo and PRoFit FoR tHe PeRiod eUR million

FFo

Profit for the period

44.0 40.6

16.5
10.6

20112010

eaRnings oveRview eUR million

2011 2010

operating cost ratio 11.5% 11.1% +0.4 pp

FFo 40.6 44.0 -8%
Profit for the period 10.6 16.5 -36%
Profit for the period
per share (eUR) 0.24 0.43 -44%
FFo per share (eUR) 0.92 1.15 -20%

Profit for the period of EUR 10.6 million
the profit for the period stood at eUR 10.6 million, which is eUR
5.9 million (-36%) less than in the previous year. this is due above
all to the reduction in profit from disposals and lower share of
the profit of associates. Higher revenue from real estate man-
agement had a positive impact. we were able to partly counter
the fall in rental income due to the reduced portfolio at the start
of the year above all through higher fees from real estate man-
agement and less depreciation and amortisation. the result per
share amounts to eUR 0.24 compared to eUR 0.43 in the previ-
ous year (after accounting for the capital increase, which equates
to an adjustment of eUR 0.01 to the previous year's value when
subscription rights are factored in). 

Segment results
as mentioned in the section on company management, we
have changed the way we demarcate our segments and, with
effect from the 2011 financial year, report by region as we do for
our internal reporting and management. information can be
found in the "Portfolio" chapter on page 34 and in the notes on
page 96.
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loan from Provinzial Rhineland of eUR 8.7 million. we maintain
good business relationships with many partner banks and avoid
being heavily dependent on individual financial institutions. 

management of our financing is organised centrally within dic
asset ag and covers all subsidiaries and property companies. as
a result our payment arrangements are cost-efficient. we are
therefore able to optimise our liquidity management, improve
our capital structure and reduce external borrowing to a mini-
mum.

Increased borrowing 
Financial debt amounted to eUR 1,519.7 million at 31 decem-
ber 2011, up eUR 143.6 million from the previous year. our
 financial debt is comprised above all of loans from banks (95%)
and funds from our bond issue (5%). in 2011, we took on loans
worth eUR 91 million (Kaufhof properties eUR 80 million, mark-
tforum duisburg eUR 11 million), primarily as part of our acqui-
sitions. in addition, eUR 70 million of borrowed capital originated
from the issue of our bond. sales and scheduled repayments
 reduced our debt by eUR 128.9 million in 2011. 

Sound financial base
as at 31 december 2011, the average term of the liabilities was
3.4 years. the term structure was further strengthened by the

FINANCIAL POSITION

Interest result significantly improved

Interest coverage ratio of around 170%

Average interest rate of 4.35%

Free liquidity of EUR 100 million

Underlying principles of our financial management strategy
the primary goal of our financial management strategy is to en-
sure that we are solvent at all times and, in the process, to main-
tain an appropriate level of financial independence. in addition,
we have established long-term and stable financing arrange-
ments which provide enduring support for our business devel-

opment and allow for an important degree of freedom when
making strategic decisions. 

we always conclude financing on a long-term basis to achieve
the greatest possible stability, and ensure that the financing hori-
zon is consistent with our targets for the properties and property
portfolios. we achieve greater stability and security in our plan-
ning by hedging against increases in interest rates. liabilities are
always agreed at normal market conditions and are constantly
reviewed to see if there is scope for optimisation. 

we meet our financing requirements above all through the
banks and capital markets. we issued our first bond in 2011 (five-
year term, 5.875% interest rate), which brought in some eUR 70
million and thus expanded our financing scope and gave us
greater flexibility. we also work together with our strategic
 financial partners to meet our financing requirements, an ad-
vantage which we are currently making use of in the form of a

oPtimisation oF exPiRing deBt
Financial debt as at 31.12.2011

13%

<1 year

10%

1-2 years

35%

2-3 years

13%

>5 years

7%

4-5 years

22%

3-4 years

Key data Financing eUR million

2011 2010

total assets 2,248.1 2,050,0
equity 624,2 587.1

Financial debt (short and long-term) 1,519.7 1,376.1
other liabilities 104,3 86,8

total debt 1,624.0 1,462.9
interest coverage ratio 167% 162%
debt ratio 72.2% 71.4%
equity ratio 27.8% 28.6%
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acquisitions and refinancing carried out in 2011. the largest
 refinancing measure, involving some eUR 37 million for two of-
fice properties, was implemented in the fourth quarter of 2011
with a five-year term. compared with the previous financing
structure, interest costs are now some 120 basis points lower. in-
terest costs were also lower than before in the case of a number
of other extensions worth some eUR 33 million.

13% (around eUR 194.9 million) are due to be refinanced in 2012,
essentially spread over three loans that are independent of one
another. in each of the next two years, the largest individual
 refinancing packages amount to approx. eUR 90 million. For sub-
sequent years, too, the extensions are spread across several
loans, also independent of one another. we hedge the vast ma-
jority of debt (80%) against interest rate rises – either by taking
out fixed-rate loans or simply constructed derivative interest rate
hedging instruments. this gives us long-term security in our
planning and prevents interest rate risks. Possible changes in the
interest rate do not impact on income but only on the equity
reported in the balance sheet. 20% of our liabilities – primarily
short-term in nature – are agreed at variable rates. 

Interest result improved, interest cover ratio increased
the average interest rate on all liabilities at 31 december 2011
amounted to 4.35%, five basis points higher than the year be-
fore (4.30%). in the last three months of 2011, we reduced the

 remaining constant, the fall of eUR 17.0 million resulted from the
portion of investments funded from equity. 

Investments in external growth
in 2011 we invested a total of eUR 154.6 million, the majority of
which (eUR 139.3 million) was used to expand our portfolio. we
increased portfolio investments by eUR 3.2 million to eUR 15.3
million. this involved in particular refurbishments and improve-
ments to fixtures and fittings in connection with lettings. in the
previous year we invested a total of eUR 17.2 million, eUR 5.1 mil-
lion in acquisitions and eUR 12.1 million in the portfolio. 

the company has investment commitments of eUR 3.2 million
for work on portfolio properties, of which eUR 2.6 million was in-
vested up to the end of 2011. an additional eUR 0.6 million is set
to be invested in 2012, thus meeting all contractual investment
obligations. dic asset ag has sufficient equity to pay these
 necessary expenses.

High cash flow from operating activities
with a smaller portfolio at the beginning of the year due to sales,
we generated cash flow from ordinary operating activities of eUR
97.1 million, eUR 11.1 million down on the previous year. this
was more than offset by the fall in operating expenses and sig-
nificantly lower interest payments: with cash flow from ongoing
business activities of eUR 38.4 million in 2011, we have matched
the previous year's level.

casH Flow eUR million

2011 2010

Profit for the period 10.6 16.5
cash flow from operating activities 38.4 37.7
cash flow from investing activities -155.8 201.5
cash flow from financing activities 100.3 -160.8
net changes in cash and cash equivalents -17.0 78.5
cash and cash equivalents as at 31 december 100.2 117.3

 average interest rate of 4.45% significantly – by 10 basis
points –compared with the third quarter. the interest result im-
proved by eUR 8.0 million to eUR -56.0 million. interest income
increased from eUR 6.4 million to eUR 7.9 million, while interest
expense fell from eUR -70.4 million to eUR -63.9 million.  we gen-
erate interest income from cash deposits and the strategic
 deployment of funds in co-investments at appropriate interest
rates. the icR (interest coverage ratio), the ratio of net rental in-
come to interest payments, of 167% was higher than the previ-
ous year (2010: 162%).

Financing obligations met in full 
in principle, we conclude long-term financing for our acquisi-
tions, which is in line with the goals for real estate development.
as at the reporting date, we met all our financing obligations in-
cluding financial covenants. Financial covenants are standard on
the market and specify the attainment of key financial figures
such as the interest coverage ratio (icR) or the debt service cov-
erage ratio (dscR). 

Other information
there are no forms of off-balance sheet financing. the consoli-
dated financial statements reflect all forms of the company's
 financing. more detailed information on financing such as the
terms of loans or information on derivative financial instruments
are provided in the notes. 

Liquidity at a high level
liquidity planning has the utmost priority for us, as part of
 financial management, above all against the backdrop of bor-
rowing conditions which have become more stringent. we en-
deavour to avoid instructing additional financing for ongoing
operations. For this purpose, we carry out annual liquidity plan-
ning as part of our budgeting process, which is then continu-
ously updated through weekly liquidity status reports. the con-
sistency of our cash flow enables us to make a detailed liquidity
forecast against which we can align our cash deployment and
requirements very precisely. during the reporting year, dic asset
ag was at all times able to honour its payment obligations. as at
31 december 2011, free liquidity amounted to eUR 100.2 mil-
lion. we also have access to eUR 15.9 million in financing facili-
ties that we have not yet drawn on. with operating cash flow

inteRest ResUlt imPRoved eUR million

income

expenses

6.4 7.9

-70.4
-63.9

Management Report

Financial information

20112010

44



cash flow from investments was marked by acquisitions in 2011,
whilst in 2010 the focus was primarily on sales and the 20% stake
in our special fund. accordingly, cash flow from sales fell signifi-
cantly in 2011, whilst there were much higher outflows for real
estate acquisitions (eUR 124.8 million) and the acquisition of the
msReF share of the joint venture (eUR 14.5 million). Portfolio
 investments amounted to eUR 15.3 million, with cash flow from
investment activities at eUR -155.8 million in 2011, compared to
eUR 201.5 million in 2010.  

Borrowing for financing purposes was mainly employed to
 finance growth in 2011. in the main, we received funds from the
capital increase (eUR 52.3 million) as well as the bond issue (eUR
70.0 million). this was partially offset by eUR 2.8 million in pay-
ments for transaction costs for the bond as well as the dividend
payment of eUR 16.0 million. new loans were fully balanced by
the redemption of old loans. cash flow from financial activities
amounted to eUR 100.3 million in 2011. in 2010 the figure was
eUR -160.8 million, with the repayment of loans after the fund
had been hived off playing a primary role. 

overall, 2011 saw a slight fall in liquid funds: cash and cash
equivalents at 31 december 2011 amounted to eUR 100.2 mil-
lion, eUR 17.0 million lower than the previous year. 

ASSET POSITION

Real estate assets up 11% to EUR 2.0 billion

Net asset value up EUR 84 million 
to EUR 683 million

Net asset value of EUR 14.93 per share 

our growth was most heavily affected in 2011 by the asset situ-
ation. this included acquisitions through which we strength-
ened our portfolio as well as the bond issue which provided us
with the means for more flexible financing of acquisitions. our
real estate assets in the commercial portfolio increased by 11%,
whilst the value of our co-investments grew by 8%. net asset
value amounted to eUR 682.6 million (2010: eUR 598.5 million).

equity

28%

non-current liabilities

63%

current liabilities

9%

non-current assets

89%

current assets

11%
ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Sound accounting methods 
we report our real estate at cost less depreciation and con-
sciously opt not to report it at market value in order to be able
to pursue a sound, calm and long-term asset policy. our acqui-
sition values are reviewed each year within the framework of the
impairment test required under iFRs to establish whether ex-
traordinary impairment charges are required. as a criterion for
comparison with balance sheet values, we are guided by the
value in use, which reflects the value of a property irrespective
of its intended use. we believe this consideration is the view-
point that best reflects our medium to long-term portfolio strat-
egy involving intensive management, value enhancement
measures and investments. By contrast, a market value has a
rather short-term basis, since it primarily represents the sale
value on the balance sheet date. no adjustments to real estate
assets were required under the impairment tests. the market
value of our properties amounted to eUR 2,202.3 million as at 31
december 2011.

Balance sHeet stRUctURe
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Assets: Real estate assets increased through acquisitions
on 31 december 2011, total assets of eUR 2,248.1 million were
10% higher than the value at the end of the previous year.

as at the end of 2011, investment properties (in our commercial
portfolio) were reported in the balance sheet in the amount of
eUR 1,902.1 million. the increase on 2010 amounted to eUR
183.9 million (+11%). shares in associates – i.e. our co-invest-
ments – increased by a total of eUR 5.4 million (+8%) to eUR 70.1
million, mainly due to our participation in investments by our
special fund. overall, non-current assets amounted to eUR
1,997.3 million as at 31 december 2011, as against eUR 1,803.1
million (+11%) in the previous year.

current assets of eUR 250.8 million remained virtually un-
changed from the previous year (2010: eUR 246.8 million) the
increase in receivables from related parties is mainly due to the
financing of our co-investments and particularly the provision of
bridging financing for our maintor project development, in
which dic asset ag holds a 40% stake. the reduction in credit
balances with banks occurred above all within the context of
purchase price payments for acquisitions. at the end of the year
credit balances with banks amounted to eUR 100.2 million (2010:
eUR 117.3 million).

Equity ratio of 28% 
equity increased by eUR 37.1 million (+6%) to eUR 624.2 million,
due in the main to the capital increase (eUR 51.2 million) and
the profit for the period (eUR 10.6 million). Factors that reduced
equity in 2011 included the decline in the negative hedging re-
serve as a result of the lower interest rate (eUR -9.0 million) as
well as the dividend payment for the 2010 financial year (eUR  
-16 million). the equity ratio fell by 0.8 percentage points to
27.8%, primarily as a result of new financing taken out as part of
acquisitions.

Debts increased to finance growth
as of 31 december 2011, non-current debt had increased by
eUR 99.2 million to eUR 1,406.7 million (+8%), mainly as a result
of the bond issue (eUR +68.6 million) and the increase in nega-
tive market values arising from derivatives due to the fall in in-
terest rates. current liabilities increased by eUR 61.7 million
(+40%) to eUR 217.2 million. this was due above all to the in-
crease in current interest-bearing debt (eUR -58.6 million) as a
result of shorter terms on our loans as well as the taking on of
short-term loans as part of our acquisition of majority stakes in
joint ventures.

Net asset value increases to EUR 682.6 million
net asset value amounted to eUR 682.6 million at the end of
2011, an increase of eUR 84.1 million (+14%) year-on-year. this
figure was boosted above all by the capital increase, the expan-
sion of our portfolio through acquisitions and the increase in
market value, but was adversely affected by the dividend
 payment

the net asset value per share amounted to eUR 15.27. nnnav
per share rose by eUR 0.07 to eUR 14.50.

net asset value represents the real value of all tangible and
 intangible assets less liabilities.

net asset valUe eUR million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

market values / real estate 1,893.0 1,673.3
market values / investments 72.8 65.9
+/- other assets/liabilities 
incl. minority interest 236.4 235.4
net loan commitments 
at carrying amount -1,519.7 -1,376.1
net asset value (nav) 682.6 598.5
number of shares (thsd.) 45,719 39,187
nav in eUR per share 14.93 15.27
nnnav in eUR per share 14.50 14.43

net asset  valUe eUR million

682.6

598.5

oveRview oF tHe Balance sHeet eUR million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

total assets 2,248.1 2,050.0
non-current assets 1,997.3 1,803.1
current assets 250.8 246.8
equity 624.2 587.1
non-current liabilities 1,406.7 1,307.4
current liabilities 217.2 155.5

equity ratio in % 27.8 28.6
debt ratio in % 72.2 71.4
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Non-financial performance indicators 
the following non-financial performance indicators play a major
role in the enduring success of dic asset ag. these values are
not quantifiable and cannot, therefore, be reported, in the bal-
ance sheet. these are values which constitute clear competitive
advantages and are due to the long-standing nature of the com-
pany's operations, the expertise developed as well as an exten-
sive network within the market. these include amongst other
things:

1. motivated and committed managers and employees (more
from page 40)

2. competitive and organisational advantages from our real es-
tate management throughout germany (dic onsite) (more
from page 31)

3. long-term relationships with highly satisfied tenants (more
from page 31) 

4. established, trusting cooperation with service providers 
5. integration of sustainability aspects into the business model

(more from page 39)
6. trusting partnerships with strategic financial and capital part-

ners (page 43) 
7. cooperation with analysts, journalists, the media and the

capital market (from page 8)

certain leased, rented or hired assets (operating leases) are not
included in the balance sheet. this does not relate to any dic
asset ag properties and has no material impact on the asset po-
sition overall. more details are contained in the notes on page
97. the dic brand ranks among the intangible assets which are
not capitalised in the balance sheet. during the reporting year,
we used the brand by consistently applying it in our corporate
image and enhanced it further in a targeted manner through a
variety of public relations activities. 

OTHER INFORMATION

Impact of balance sheet policy on the economic position 
in the financial year, no options were exercised, no facts were
presented in the balance sheet or changes made to discre-
tionary decisions which – if treated differently – would have had
a material impact on the earnings, asset and financial position.
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THE RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
OF DIC ASSET AG

the risk management system supports dic asset ag in achiev-
ing its targets and is an elementary component of company
management. it protects it from critical situations in the long
term in the interests of its management, employees and in-
vestors and secures its continued existence. the fact that it is in-
tegrated within our organisation and is mandatory for all em-
ployees should ensure that risks are recognised promptly and
can be countered in an appropriate and prompt manner. as an
important component, the internal control system is integrated
into the superordinated risk management system. our risk pol-
icy is derived directly from the business strategy approved by
the management Board. it furthers our efforts to grow on a sus-
tainable basis, to increase corporate value and accordingly trans-
fer, reduce or entirely avoid any risks which may arise. 

Risk management undergoing further development on a per-
manent basis 
the risk management system is adjusted and enhanced on an
ongoing basis in 2011 we focused on internal group reporting
structures and the higher development risks. the highly com-
plex and long-term nature of project developments means that
there is the underlying risk that they are not continued for tech-
nical or financial reasons or that the budget is exceeded, which
can have a considerable impact on commercial success. as part
of our risk and project management system, the efficiency,
chance of success and framework conditions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis for each phase of the project. 

Risk early warning system 
our early warning system is designed to record all relevant risks
and their causes, to quantify them and communicate them, in
order to be able to execute optimum countermeasures at an
early stage. the effectiveness of the early risk early warning sys-
tem is reviewed annually and assessed by the auditors. Respon-
sibility for identifying, reporting, assessing and managing risks
lies with the specialist level. Real estate data specific to individ-
ual properties are recorded, aggregated and forwarded on an
ongoing basis through asset and property management. these
data are centrally supplemented and summarised, reviewed and
continuously monitored through risk controlling procedures. 

Risk identification
Risk is identified in accordance with the integration concept
within general business processes. Business processes and op-
erational areas are examined in order to determine whether they
may be a source of risk which, depending upon its nature and/or
extent or in conjunction with other risks, may be liable to jeop-
ardise ongoing trading by the company. the identification and
documentation of risks is a continuous task. in order to gain in-
formation regarding newly created risks as well as the most im-
portant events within the market environment, risk manage-
ment has become an integral part of our regular planning,
reporting and management system. in this way our intention is
to ensure that the management Board and the supervisory
Board are promptly and comprehensively informed of impor-
tant risks.

Risk analysis and communication 
all staff are required to deal with risks and opportunities in a de-
liberate and autonomous fashion, within the framework of their
powers. Responsibilities are defined accordingly in accordance
with the hierarchy, for all relevant risks.

if an employee identifies a risk, the likelihood of its occurring will
be assessed and the extent of potential financial loss calculated.
the next step involves a decision by the operational managers,
if necessary together with the management Board, regarding an

appropriate strategy for managing the risks. thereafter, appro-
priate response measures are devised, implemented and mon-
itored. By linking up individual parameters, the total risk for the
company can be calculated. longer-term risks are integrated in
the strategic planning process. the management Board and the
supervisory Board and any other decision making bodies are
regularly informed via established reporting channels at quar-
terly intervals, or on an ad hoc basis for critical issues. this means
that they are in a position to take appropriate risk management
measures and to adjust and improve internal structures and
processes in good time.   

Risk management and control
in order to make effective risk management possible, response
measures must be specifically tailored. For this reason we have
developed a variety of response measures with different char-
acteristics. For example, we attempt to reduce the risk from in-
terest rate fluctuations by hedging transactions. with regard to
our long-term development projects, systematic and compre-
hensive project management with standardised project mile-
stones, including preliminary acceptance and clearly deter-
mined approval processes, assist us in recognising risks at an
early stage even before offers are made and minimising these
through targeted action. Relevant risks and opportunities are
prioritised in quantitative and qualitative terms according to
their extent and likelihood. Reported risks are analysed and ag-
gregated according to their potential cumulative effects. con-
trolling monitors the operating success of risk management.

Risk management documentation
the existing guidelines, procedures, instruments, areas of risk
and responsibilities are documented in writing and are ex-
panded on an ongoing basis. a document summarises the key
elements of the normal cycle introduced as part of the risk man-
agement system. 

RisK RePoRt 
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For 2012, we are currently assuming that the probability of the
sector suffering negative growth is low. this would have a slight
to moderately serious financial impact.

 Regulatory and political risks
Risks may arise out of changes to framework conditions or reg-
ulations. above all in exceptional situations such as the financial
crisis, governments may take rapid action, without leaving suf-
ficient time for adjustments. For financial year 2012, we expect
government support of the eU member states facing payment
difficulties to continue. we consider the risk of major changes to
be unlikely for the next twelve months. we assess the possible
financial impact as low.

 legal risks
dic asset ag is exposed to the risk that third parties will assert
claims or file actions for a possible breach of their rights within
the framework of normal business operations. we therefore care-
fully check all material acts carried out by the company in order
to identify and avoid potential conflicts. Risks may also arise from
non-compliance with contractual obligations. ongoing legal
disputes relate almost exclusively to outstanding rental pay-
ments. we have made provision for this and made value adjust-
ments to the claims as required. there are currently no material
legal disputes, which could constitute a considerable risk, either
pending or foreseeable. in our view, current legal disputes will
result in more opportunities than risks. overall, we estimate the
legal risk and its financial implications to be low.

External risks
 macroeconomic risks
a period of economic weakness constitutes a short to medium-
term risk for growth in sales and earnings. this risk relates in the
first instance only to a certain share of sales revenue from find-
ing new tenants for vacant offices space or extending tenancy
agreements that are expiring. in addition, rental income may
nonetheless cease if tenants become insolvent. in order to min-
imise this risk, we focus on long-term leases to top-quality ten-
ants, on spreading rental income across a large number of dif-
ferent tenants, investing in rapidly growing regions and our
professional property service.

in 2012 we are expecting a significant slowdown in economic
growth and have incorporated this into our planning. we con-
sider an even more sharper downturn in the economy over the
next twelve months to be unlikely to moderately likely. if it oc-
curred, this could have a slightly to moderately serious negative
financial impact on the current financial year. a factor creating
uncertainty in this regard is the current sovereign debt crisis in
europe which could have a more negative impact on the ger-
man economy.

 sector-specific risks
in the letting market an oversupply of space can lead to price
pressures, a loss of margin and vacancies. Prices may also come
under pressure if the letting market weakens as a result of eco-
nomic factors. we minimise this risk on the one hand by the in-
tensive examination of investments, whilst on the other hand
engaging in asset and property management, which is regularly
able to achieve high rental volumes even in difficult markets. the
tensions in the financial system may represent a further risk. dif-
ficult financing conditions may hold back the transaction mar-
ket, which would have an negative impact above all on our pur-
chasing and sales targets. similarly, banks encountering
difficulties with refinancing could bring large number of prop-
erties to market, thereby causing a negative impact on prices.
in the medium term this risk would not cause any significant
damage since our business plans are always based on a long-
term perspective and are flexibly structured.

External risks

 macroeconomic risks
 sector-specific risks
 Regulatory and political risks
 legal risks

Financial risks

 interest rate risks
 Financing and liquidity risks
 valuation risks
 currency risks 

Strategic risks

 acquisition risks
 Risks from growth targets
 Project development risks

Operational risks

 Property risks
 Personnel-related risks
 it risks

INDIVIDUAL RISKS

a risk is often also matched by opportunities. For example, real
estate investments may perform less well than planned, but may
also perform better than forecast. we examine the key oppor-
tunities separately in the "opportunities and forecast" section
starting on page 59. 
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Financial risks

 interest rate risks
interest rate risks arise due to fluctuations in interest rates caused
by market developments. they may impair dic asset ag's prof-
itability, liquidity and financial position as well as its opportuni-
ties for expansion. in order to hedge against interest rate rises
we use derivative financial instruments. at present 80% of our
financing volume is hedged against interest rate rises. interest
rate changes have implications, acting through financial instru-
ments, above all on the balance sheet and have the effect of re-
ducing equity capital. the average interest rate, made up of the
underlying interest rate and credit margin, was 4.35% as of 31
december 2011. in light of the sovereign debt crisis, we are ex-
pecting interest rates to remain low in 2012 and interest rate
risks to therefore be unlikely. an increase in interest rates of 100
basis points would only have a marginal impact on our cash flow
due to hedging of eUR 2.9 million. on the balance sheet, an
 increase in interest rates would have a positive impact on our
equity by reducing the negative hedging reserve. 

 Financing and liquidity risks
Financing risks have increased over recent years due to the
 financial and sovereign debt crisis. Banks have tightened up their
lending conditions, increased risk premiums and are, in some
cases, unable to deal with large credit volumes on their own.
this makes financing more complex and, due to the higher risk
premiums, more expensive. in addition, due to the sovereign
debt crisis, the default risk among banks has increased. we there-
fore only agree loans and derivative financial instruments with
 financial institutes with a very good credit standing or which are
members of a deposit guarantee fund.

the real estate portfolio of dic asset ag is financed on a prop-
erty or portfolio basis. Financial risks from individual properties
or portfolios do not therefore have a direct impact on the group
as a whole (non-recourse financing). within the next two years
some eUR 357 million (23% of the financing volume) will have to

be refinanced. in 2011, we launched the dic bond issue as part
of our response to the difficult financing conditions and have
therefore become more flexible in structuring financing due to
the addition of greater shares of equity capital. 

dic asset ag has agreed a manageable level of credit with
 financial covenants (loan agreement clauses imposing financial
ratios). depending on the loan contract, risks can emerge if con-
tractual agreements are not honoured. in consequence, banks
may amongst other things modify credit terms or in part de-
mand short-term repayments of loans, which would have neg-
ative financial implications. loan agreements essentially contain
the following covenants: the iscR (interest service coverage
ratio), the dscR (debt service coverage ratio) and loan-to-value
requirements. the iscR specifies the percentage of interest ex-
penditure which is covered by the net annual base rent; the
dscR specifies the percentage of expected interest plus repay-
ment (capital service) which is covered by rental income. no
shares in dic asses ag have been provided as security or pa-
rameters on any of our loan agreements, and therefore the share
price is irrelevant both with regard to termination and margins.
compliance with credit clauses is monitored continuously and
providently through risk management in the treasury division.
deviations from fixed threshold values identified through on-
going sensitivity analyses are presented to the management
Board without delay and the type and scope of the counter-
measures to be taken are determined. 

the liquidity risk consists in the risk that, due to insufficient avail-
ability of funds, payment obligations may not be honoured or
unfavourable loan terms may be agreed to in order to meet cash
shortfalls. in order to ensure the solvency and financial flexibility
of the group at all times, long-term credit lines and liquid funds
are managed on the basis of multi-year financial planning and
monthly rolling liquidity planning. cash is passed on to group
companies as required under the cash pooling arrangements.
dic asset ag's financing and liquidity requirements for its oper-
ations are secured long-term and are based on the substantial,
long-term cash flow that can be planned from our investments.
the conclusion of affordable long-term financing was, and is, a
material condition for all new acquisitions. 

overall, we rate the probability and impact of financing and
 liquidity risks as moderate.

 Funds business
in 2010, dic asset ag set up a special real estate fund for insti-
tutional investors and provides services in the area of investment
and real estate management. Risks arise primarily in relation to
the expected revenue from real estate management, which is
in part influenced by the fund volumes under management, the
rental income of the fund properties as well as acquisitions and
sales. the fund volume may for its part be negatively influenced
by negative transaction balances, reduced investment activity
or the liquidation of the fund. Rental income may be influenced
amongst other things by changes to the tenant structures, in-
creases or reductions in vacancy rates as well as the creditwor-
thiness of tenants. 

a further risk lies in the customer loyalty of investors. in un-
favourable situations, a lack of customer confidence can lead to
the return of share certificates and cash outflows, thereby re-
ducing the fund's equity levels. Under contract, share certificates
may only be returned after a time delay, which means that liq-
uidity implications can be planned. if the reputation of dic asset
ag as a provider of institutional fund products suffers, then the
implementation of  new fund issues may also be jeopardised. in
order to boost investor confidence, dic asset ag has a 20% stake
in the fund, thereby signalling the high overlap between its
 interests and those of investors.

Based on our expertise and good customer loyalty, we regard
the probability of occurrence and risk scope as low.
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in view of the expected lower economic growth and the fore-
seeable stable development in the real estate sector, we con-
sider that – leaving aside individual cases – there will be a little
likelihood of depreciation risks in 2012. the consequences to be
expected of any falls in value would be moderate.

 currency risks
all of our tenancy agreements are denominated in euro and al-
most all of our tenants do business predominantly in the euro
area. there is a direct exchange rate risk only for two loans to-
talling less than eUR 7 million which were taken out in swiss
francs. in particular situations this manageable amount can even
be subject to significant fluctuations, and in 2011 the swiss franc
to euro exchange rate fluctuated between + 3% and – 9%. this
resulted in total foreign currency losses of around eUR 200,000.
considered overall, the likelihood and the potential scale of the
currency risks are low. 

Strategic risks

active portfolio management is a key component of our corpo-
rate development. we constantly monitor the risks associated
with the sale or purchase of companies or real estate or with re-
structuring and where required make financial provision in our
accounts.

 growth risks
in the case of acquisitions, there are medium to long-term risks
in overvaluing potential income as well as in undervaluing future
cost increases and rental risks. we reduce this risk prior to any
purchase being made by means of extensive due diligence and
the preparation of risk-oriented business plans, which are ad-
justed on an ongoing basis in line with cost and earnings trends.
ongoing property management also contributes to reducing
risk. most recently, when taking on the joint venture portfolio,
we acquired properties with which we were already very famil-
iar. we estimate this risk and its financial repercussions for 2012
to be low. 

 valuation risks
the market value of our real estate assets is cal-
culated annually by independent external sur-
veyors in accordance with international guide-
lines. the market valuation is subject to
fluctuations, which may be influenced by ex-
ternal factors such as an economic downturn,
interest rate changes, falling rents and qualita-
tive factors such as rental levels and the state of
the property. a fall in market values can have
repercussions on fixed assets, the balance sheet
structure and on financing conditions. to min-
imise risk, we pursue a well-balanced diversifi-
cation of our portfolio and aim to secure and
increase the intrinsic value of our properties
through consistent tenant-oriented real estate
management and by observing the market and
its demands. 

sensitivity calculations were carried out as at 31
december 2011 in order to quantify possible
valuation risks. the sensitivity analysis shows, by
way of example, how market values react to
changes in the discounting rate and capitalisa-
tion rate. For example, if the discounting rate in-
creases by 25 basis points, market values will fall
by eUR 38.9 million. if the capitalisation rate in-
creases at the same time, the fall will increase
to eUR 73.4 million. since our accounts are
drawn up according to the cost model (ias
40.30), variations in market values do not have
a direct effect on the balance sheet and the in-
come statement, but rather only when the cur-
rent or fair values of the properties fall below
the carrying amounts reported. 
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in 2012, we are aiming for an acquisition volume of at least eUR
200 million, which will help us meet our sales and earnings tar-
gets. we consider the risk that we will not meet our acquisition
target entirely to be low to moderately likely. the possible
 financial implications would be moderate for 2012.

 Project development risks
the overwhelming majority of our project development activi-
ties are arranged on a long-term basis, which is why risks to the
company's income lie above all in any discrepancies which may
arise from the planned construction law feasibility, planned
building costs and deadlines as well as in relation to leases and
sales. to reduce this risk, we only carry out development proj-
ects where suitable tenants have been found in advance. we
also enter into long-term financing arrangements at an early
stage and implement a stringent system of project and cost con-
trols. we endeavour to spread risk appropriately by involving
partners in the projects and through contractual agreements.
at present we are involved in three project developments: main-
tor Frankfurt (total value approx. eUR 580 million, dic asset ag
share 40%), opera offices Hamburg (total value approx. eUR 60
million, dic asset ag share 20%) and trio offenbach (total value
approx. eUR 15 million, dic asset ag share 100%). 

with regard to our joint venture on the major "maintor" project
there are risks above all in relation to financing, delays in letting
and construction work as well as growing construction costs.
the financing of demolition work and the two construction
stages which have been started is secured. Further construction
stages will only be started following the advance marketing
phase, and accordingly the need for financing will only arise at
that time. delays and increasing costs would, above all, reduce
the planned profit on the project. in order to guard against this
risk, general contractors are to be engaged or individual trade
contracts bundled together and overall management per-
formed with well-known professional engineering firms, and at-
tempts are to be made to spread the risk. Potential construction
risks are covered by appropriate contractual clauses and the
arrangement of insurance cover.

on the basis of current and planned project development work
for the next twelve months, we consider this risk and any
 potential financial implications to be moderate for 2012. 

Operational risks

 letting risks
letting risks involve the non-payment of rent and profitability
risks due to less profitable new tenancy agreements or renewals.
we avoid non-payment of rent by letting and leasing our prop-
erties to creditworthy companies and through intensive prop-
erty management. in addition, when deciding on acquisitions,
we minimise the risk of non-payment of rent through an inten-
sive analysis of properties, the market, locations and tenants. the
risk of default is taken into account in value assessments. the
maximum theoretical default risk is the carrying amount of the
financial assets reported in the balance sheet (less than eUR 3
million). in general we strive to secure long-term tenancies and
take measures in good time to extend tenancy agreements and
to find new tenants. when doing so, we try to avoid being de-
pendent on major tenants. in 2012 and 2013, around 39% of
total rental income will be accounted for by the ten largest ten-
ants. these tenants are all renowned and largely creditworthy
tenants, primarily from the public sector, telecommunications
and the retail sector. with the exception of the tenant metro and
deutsche Bahn ag, no tenant accounts for more than 5% of total
letting volume. 

in financial years 2012 and 2013, tenancy agreements worth eUR
12.5 million and eUR 10.3 may come to an end. Further revenues
of eUR 5.4 million come from tenancy agreements which are
regularly extended without any specific final maturity. we are
working on the assumption that, as in previous years, the over-
whelming majority of these agreements can be extended, or the
properties can be leased to new tenants. should we fall short of
our targets for new tenancy agreements by 10% in 2012, this
would lead to lead to a loss in rent of around eUR 0.2 million,
based on our average rent.

there is a general risk of rental income declining through 2012
and 2013. thanks to our effective property management, we
 regard the likelihood and potential effects of this as moderate.

 Property risks
Property risks are risks resulting from the possession and opera-
tion of a property. in addition to wear and tear and depreciation,
these include all risks resulting from the wearing out or partial
destruction of the property. Furthermore, risks may arise from
inherited problems, including war damage, ground conditions
and harmful substances in building materials or breaches of
 construction law requirements.

as lessor, we strive to reduce the risks from property deprecia-
tion as far as possible by creating a contractual requirement for
the tenant to use the property in general in the customary man-
ner and to contribute to its maintenance or repair in order to
avoid untimely deterioration. with our professional asset man-
agement approach, we have virtually excluded the risk of inad-
equate care for the properties and the associated maintenance
requirements or inefficient cost management. 

 Personnel-related risks
competent, committed and motivated employees are impor-
tant for the successful development of dic asset ag. Risks arise,
most notably, in losing high-performers and in attracting suit-
able new employees. in order to minimise these risks, we are en-
deavouring to be perceived as an attractive employer. we focus
above all on systematic personnel marketing, practice-oriented
promotion of young talent, targeted professional training and
the promotion of staff with particular potential. Key positions are
regularly analysed with regard to anticipated planning of suc-
cession, and appropriate internal candidates are prepared for
these roles. Further elements include target-group oriented sup-
port and advice and attractive incentive systems. due to these
measures we consider more serious problems and personnel-
related risks to be unlikely and their financial implications to be
low.
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 it risks
a loss of the database or a longer failure in the systems used
could lead to our operations being considerably disrupted. we
have protected ourselves against it risks though our own net-
work, modern hard and software solutions and appropriate
measures against attacks. structural security measures are in
place to protect the computer centre. all data are backed up
daily in an external data depository. detailed rules on access
rights ensure that employees can only access the systems and
documents they need for their work. we are currently consoli-
dating our software solution in the area of property manage-
ment, as part of which sub-systems are being replaced and
modernised. we are planning to introduce new eRP software in
2013, which has been specifically tailored to the requirements of
real estate companies and is integrated into the real estate man-
agement system, company accounting, but also planning, man-
agement and analysis systems.

this will bring a significant improvement in data structure, qual-
ity and availability as well as efficiency gains in analysing data
thanks to optimised processes, along with further gains in se-
curity over the control and administration of our real estate port-
folio. due to the early requirement for analysis and communica-
tion to software consultants as well as the staffing of the project
team with members of the departments involved, we expect
that the it project will be implemented on time. 

overall, we consider it risks to be unlikely and their possible
 consequences to be low to moderate.  

ASSESSMENT OF THE OVERALL RISK: 
NO LIABILITY

as part of the risk management procedure, individual risks are
 incorporated into a general risk overview by the Finance de-
partment. with regard to the individual risks listed in this report
– taking account of the probability of their occurring and the
potential financial impact – as well as the aggregate total risk,
the management Board assumes that these risks cannot directly
jeopardise the company's future development. as a result, the
overall risk profile of dic asset ag has not changed compared to
the previous year. 

in europe in particular, state-level financing remains strained,
 although there are also comparable debt problems in the Usa,
Japan and the United Kingdom. in addition, many of the loans
granted during the boom years 2006 and 2007, and which con-
tributed to the financial and sovereign debt crisis, matured in
2012. the resulting developments and their potential implica-
tions may have significant consequences for the german econ-
omy, its businesses and the real estate sector. However, due to
their complexity, these implications cannot be predicted or
 calculated at present.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

General
the internal control system (ics) and the risk management
 system with regard to dic asset ag's financial reporting process
encompass all guidelines, procedures and measures aimed at
ensuring that the financial reporting is effective, cost-effective
and compliant and guaranteeing compliance with the relevant
legal provisions. the internal control system consists of two
areas, namely control and monitoring. in organisational terms,
the treasury, controlling and accounting divisions are responsi-
ble for control. 

the monitoring measures consist of elements incorporated into
the process and external independent elements. among oth-
ers, the integrated measures include manual controls such as
the "dual control principle", which is applied universally, and
technical controls, essentially by software-based checking
mechanisms. in addition, qualified employees with the appro-
priate powers (managing directors of portfolio companies or
employees in the second management tier, for instance) as well
as specialised group departments such as controlling or legal
perform monitoring and control functions as part of the various
processes. 

the management Board and the supervisory Board (in particu-
lar the audit committee) as well as a firm of auditors are involved
in the monitoring system with various checks that are inde-
pendent of the company's processes. the audit of the group's
 financial statements represents a key measure in the controlling
measures that are independent of the company's processes,
which is supplemented by additional audits such as the audit
carried out by the fiscal authorities.

with regard to the company's financial reporting, the risk man-
agement system focuses on recognising the risks of inaccurate
bookkeeping, financial accounting and reporting in good time,
on assessing them and communicating them. Further com-
ments on the risk management system are provided under the
heading "Risk management" in the Risk Report, which is annexed
to the consolidated financial statements.

Use of IT
the software used to record accounting transactions in the
 individual companies consists of established standard sector so-
lutions in the majority of cases. the correctness of the programs
and interfaces used is regularly examined and verified. ac-
counting-related interfaces are checked by the group auditor as
part of the audit. the results of the audit of the it systems in-
clude concrete recommendations for increasing the security of
the systems and for enhancing the expertise of the employees
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responsible for the systems. the entire it system, including the
bookkeeping and the accounting, is protected against unau-
thorised access. we are currently consolidating our software
 solution in the area of property management, as part of which
sub-systems are being replaced and modernised. this brings sig-
nificant benefits for us, efficiency gains and even greater security
in the control and administration of our real estate portfolio.

Ensuring that the financial reporting is correct and reliable  
the regulations, control activities and measures prescribed by
the internal control system ensure that transactions are recorded
promptly and completely in compliance with statutory and in-
ternal provisions, and that assets and liabilities are recognised,
measured and reported accurately in the consolidated financial
statements. the accounting documents provide a reliable and
comprehensible information base. 

the pertinent statutory reporting rules are supplemented by the
international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) and recom-
mendations such as ePRa and applied by dic asset ag as uni-
form measurement and reporting principles throughout the
group. this also encompasses regulations pertaining to the bal-
ance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and seg-
ment reporting. the reporting rules regulate in detail the formal
requirements for the consolidated financial statements, such as
stipulating the companies to be included in the scope of con-
solidation and the content of the reports to be prepared by the
individual companies. internal regulations governing settlement
practice within the group, for instance, are also provided.

at group level, control encompasses, most notably, the analysis
and, if necessary, adjustment of the separate financial state-
ments submitted taking into account the findings of the audi-
tors and the discussions held with them. impairment tests car-
ried out centrally, in particular, the annual review of the market
value of all real estate carried out by independent surveyors
 ensure that the valuation criteria are applied uniformly and on a
standardised basis. the data required for disclosures in the
 management Report and the notes are also aggregated and
adapted at group level. 

Qualificatory statements 
even tried and tested and established systems such as dic asset
ag's internal control system and risk management system can-
not exclude errors and infringements entirely, meaning that ab-
solute security with regard to the accurate, complete and
prompt recording of data in group financial reporting cannot
be guaranteed. non-recurring, non-routine business opportu-
nities or those which are urgent may for example conceal a
 certain potential for risk. Risks may also arise from the scope for
discretion that employees have in recognising and measuring
assets and liabilities. a certain risk also arises from the use of serv-
ice providers to process data. Financial reporting-related risks
arising from financial instruments are explained in the notes. 

otHeR disclosURes

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
OF DIC ASSET AG

Results of operations, financial and asset position
dic asset ag is the holding and management company of the
group. in essence, its operational real estate activities are
 organised via the property companies. 

dic asset ag's asset and earnings situation is therefore influ-
enced primarily by its involvement in its investments. the sound-
ness of its investments emerges from the net assets and finan-
cial position of the properties and is secured, in particular, by
their real estate assets. dic asset ag prepares its financial state-
ments in accordance with the HgB. 

sales revenues and other income of eUR 4.3 million relate to ad-
visory and other services provided to subsidiaries. this figure rep-
resents a fall of eUR 1.2 million on the previous year, mainly due
to the lower level of sales activity. expenses were dominated by
the costs of the capital increase and bond issue to the tune of
eUR 3.1 million overall, with interest expense connected with
our loan amounting to eUR 2.6 million. the increase in expenses
was more than offset by the contributions to earnings made by
our investments: the interest balance of subsidiaries and invest-
ments increased by eUR 6.1 million and their dividends rose by
eUR 1.2 million to eUR 14.6 million. Profit for the period thus
 increased by eUR 2.3 million to eUR 12.3 million.
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in the 2011 financial year, dic asset ag acquired the stakes held
by the previous joint venture partner msReF in three property
portfolios. this increased total financial assets by eUR 15.2 mil-
lion. the restructuring of individual investments and capital
measures resulted in a net fall in financial assets by eUR 41.8 mil-
lion (7.4%) to eUR 525.8 million (previous year eUR 567.4 million).

in conjunction with the optimisation of the group's financing
structure and acquisitions in 2011 (Kaufhof, marktforum duis-
burg), receivables from associates and investments increased by
eUR 88.6 million (54.7%) to eUR 250.7 million. liabilities to asso-
ciates and investments fell by eUR 39.2 million (25.2%) to eUR
116.6 million.

overall, the involvement in associated companies, comprising
investments as well as receivables from and liabilities to associ-
ates and investments had risen as at the balance sheet date of
31 december 2011 by eUR 86 million from 573.7 million to eUR
659.7 million (15%).

Borrowed capital rose overall by eUR 33.2 million to eUR 200.8
million (19.8%), due to the changes in liabilities to associated
companies as well as our corporate bond with a volume of eUR
70 million. 

as at 31 december 2011, the company's equity amounted to
eUR 693.3 million, some eUR 48.5 million more than in the
 previous year. in addition to the profit for the period (eUR 12.3
million) and the dividend (eUR 16.0 million), this was mainly in-
fluenced by the capital increase (some eUR 52.2 million). total
assets increased by eUR 81.8 million to eUR 894.1 million (10%),
mainly due to our greater involvement in associated companies,
which was primarily financed by the capital increase and bond
issue. liquid funds stand at eUR 76.0 million, eUR 25.7 million
more than in the previous year. the equity ratio remained at the
previous year's level at around 78%.

Forecast for the separate financial statements of DIC Asset AG
assuming that the economic trend remains stable and the
group's acquisition targets for the 2012 and 2013 financial years
are met, we are expecting a positive performance in 2012 and
2013 in terms of income from investments and the annual re-
sults, maintaining the level of 2011 and 2012. we are anticipat-
ing being able to continue with our stable dividend policy in the
next two years. 

For more information, please see the forecast report for the
group (page 60).

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

there were no significant events after the balance sheet date
that could affect the net assets, financial position or earnings
 situation.

  AFFILIATES

the management Board has prepared a separate report on
 relationships to affiliates in accordance with § 312 aktg. the
 report ends with the following declaration:

„we hereby declare that according to the facts known to us
at the time in which the legal transactions were conducted,
our company received or paid a commensurate considera-
tion in each transaction. we took no actions at the behest of
or on behalf of the controlling company."

information on related parties in accordance with the provisions
of ias 24 can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. information on the remuneration of the supervisory
Board and management Board is provided in the Remuneration
Report, which forms an integral part of this report.
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TAKEOVER RELATED DISCLOSURES

the following disclosures in accordance with §§ 289 para. 4, 315
para. 4 HgB reflect the circumstances as of the balance sheet
date. the following explanation of these disclosures also meets
the requirements for an explanatory report under § 176 para. 1
sentence 1 aktg.

Composition of the subscribed capital
the subscribed capital in the amount of eUR 45,718,747.00 con-
sists of 45,718,747 bearer shares in the form of no-par shares.
there are no other classes of shares. all shares have the same
rights and obligations. each share gives entitlement to one vote
at the general shareholders' meeting. this excludes any treas-
ury shares held by the company itself. the company will have
no rights based on these shares. the voting right begins when
the statutory minimum deposit has been made on the shares.
the rights and obligations tied to the shares are shown in detail
in the terms of the stock corporation act [aktg], in particular §§
12, 53a ff., 118 ff. and 186.  

Direct and indirect capital shareholdings which exceed 10%
of the voting rights
Please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments with regard to direct and indirect holdings in the capital
of dic asset ag which exceed 10% of the voting rights. 

Statutory provisions and the requirements of the Articles of
Incorporation on the appointment and dismissal of members
of the Management Board and the amendment of the Arti-
cles of Incorporation 
the appointment and dismissal of members of the manage-
ment Board is based on §§ 84, 85 aktg and § 7 of the articles of
incorporation. Pursuant to § 7 para. 1 of the articles of incorpo-
ration, the management Board is composed of at least one per-
son. the articles do not contain any special arrangements for
the appointment or dismissal of individual members or all mem-
bers of the management Board. the supervisory Board has the
power of appointment and dismissal. it appoints members of
the management Board for a maximum term of office of five
years. members may be reappointed or their term may be ex-
tended for a maximum of five years in each case subject to § 84
para. 1 sentence 3 aktg. 

amendments to the articles of incorporation are made pursuant
to §§ 179, 133 aktg and § 5, § 9 para. 6 and § 14 of the articles
of incorporation. the articles of incorporation have not exer-
cised the option to impose further requirements for amend-
ments to the articles. Unless prevented by statute, the general
shareholders' meeting adopts resolutions by a simple majority of
votes cast and, if the law prescribes a majority of shares besides
a majority of votes, by a simple majority of the share capital in
place when the resolution is made. the supervisory Board has
the power to make amendments to the articles of incorpora-
tion if only the wording is affected.

The Management Board's powers to issue and redeem shares
the powers of the company's management Board to issue and
redeem shares are all based on resolutions to that effect by the
general shareholders' meeting, the essential content of which is
shown below.

 authority to acquire treasury shares
By resolution of the ordinary general shareholders' meeting of
5 July 2011, the management Board was authorised, provided
that prior consent is obtained from the supervisory Board, to
purchase treasury shares before 4 July 2016 up to a total of 10%

of the company share capital at the time of the resolution or – if
lower – at the time the authorisation is acted upon. at no time
may the acquired shares together with other treasury shares in
the possession of the company or allocated to it under §§ 71a ff.
aktg represent more than 10% of the share capital. the authori-
sation may not be used for the purpose of trading in treasury
shares. the authorisation may be exercised as a whole or in in-
stalments, once or more than once, for one or more purposes, by
the company or by companies dependent on or majority-
owned by it, or by third parties acting on their behalf or on
 behalf of the company.

at the management Board' option, and with the prior consent of
the supervisory Board, shares may be acquired through the
stock exchange or through a public offering directed to all share-
holders or a public invitation to all shareholders to submit offers
for sale. 

the volume of the public offering directed to all shareholders or
the public invitation to all shareholders to submit offers to sell
can be restricted. insofar as, in the case of a public offering or a
public invitation to submit offers to sell, the volume of the of-
fered shares exceeds the planned repurchase volume, the ac-
quisition can take place proportionate to the shares subscribed
to or offered in each case; to this extent, the shareholders' right
to offer their shares proportionate to the percentage of shares
that they hold is excluded. a preferential acceptance of smaller
numbers up to 100 offered shares per shareholder can be stip-
ulated, as can a rounding on the grounds of sound business
practice to avoid arithmetic fractions of shares. to this extent,
any further right of the shareholders to offer shares is excluded.
the public offering directed to all shareholders or the public in-
vitation to all shareholders to submit offers for sale may stipu-
late further conditions.

the management Board is authorised, with the prior consent of
the supervisory Board, to use the treasury shares acquired on
the basis of this authorisation for any legal purpose, in particu-
lar the following: (i) the shares may be withdrawn without a
 further resolution by the general shareholders' meeting being
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required for the withdrawal or its execution. they may also be
withdrawn by the simplified procedure without capital reduc-
tion by adjusting the pro rata mathematical amount of the
 remaining shares in the company's share capital. if they are with-
drawn by the simplified procedure, the management Board is
authorised to amend the number of shares in the articles of in-
corporation. (ii) the shares may also be disposed of in a way
other than through the stock exchange or by an offering
 directed to all shareholders if the purchase price payable in cash
is not significantly lower than the market price of the already
listed shares that enjoy essentially the same terms. the number
of shares sold in this way together with the number of other
shares that were sold during the life of this authorisation under
the exclusion of subscription rights in accordance with § 186
para. 3 sentence 4 aktg or issued from authorised capital, and
the number of shares that can be created through the exercise
of option and/or conversion rights or the fulfilment of conver-
sion obligations arising from warrant bonds and/or convertible
bonds issued during the life of this authorisation under the ex-
clusion of subscription rights in accordance with § 186 para. 3
sentence 4 aktg does not exceed 10% of share capital, neither
at the time this authorisation becomes effective nor at the time
when it is exercised; (iii) the shares can be sold against contri-
butions in kind, in particular for the purpose of the acquisition of
companies, parts of companies, interests in companies or other
assets associated with the purpose of the acquisition or within
the scope of business combinations. (iv) the shares may be used
to fulfil subscription and exchange rights on the basis of the
 exercise of conversion and/or option rights or the fulfilment of
conversion obligations or as part of convertible bonds or bonds
with warrants issued by the company or its group companies
fully owned by dic asset ag. 

Further details are contained in the authorising resolution.

as at 31 december 2011, the company holds no treasury shares.
it has not made use of the authorisation described above.

 authorised capital  
By resolution of the ordinary general shareholders' meeting of
5 July 2011, the management Board is authorised, with the su-
pervisory Board's approval, to increase the share capital by 4 July
2016 by one or more issues of new individual bearer shares for
cash and/or contributions in kind by up to eUR 22,859,000.00 in
total (authorised capital). in principle, shareholders are to be
granted subscription rights here. the shares can be accepted by
one or more financial institutions specified by the management
Board or companies within the meaning of § 186 para. 5 sen-
tence 1 aktg, subject to the obligation that they offer them to
the shareholders for subscription (indirect subscription right).
the management Board is, however, authorised to exclude
shareholders' subscription rights with the approval of the su-
pervisory Board,
(i) to remove fractional amounts from the shareholders' sub-

scription right;
(ii) if the new shares are issued against cash contributions and

the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower
than the market price of the shares already listed that enjoy
essentially the same terms. the number of shares sold in this
way, combined with the number of other shares that have
been issued or sold with subscription rights excluded in di-
rect or indirect application of § 186 Para, 3 sentence 4 aktg,
and the number of shares that can be created through the
exercise of option and/or conversion rights or the fulfilment
of conversion obligations arising from bonds with warrants
and/or convertible bonds that have been issued during the
life of this authorisation with subscription rights excluded in
accordance with § 186 para. 3 sentence 4 aktg does not ex-
ceed 10% of the share capital, neither at the time this au-
thorisation becomes effective nor at the time when it is ex-
ercised;

(iii) if the capital increase is carried out against contributions in
kind, in particular for the purpose of the acquisition of com-
panies, parts of companies, interests in companies or other
assets associated with the purpose of the acquisition or
within the scope of business combinations. the number of
shares issued in this manner may not exceed 20% of the
share capital, neither at the time this authorisation becomes
effective nor at the time when it is exercised;

(iv) if it is necessary in order to grant holders or creditors of bonds
with warrants and convertible bonds with option and/or
conversion rights or conversion obligations which have been
or are still to be issued by the company or group companies
in which the company holds a 100% stake, either directly or
indirectly, a subscription right to new shares to the extent
that they would be entitled to as a shareholder after exercis-
ing the option or conversion rights or after fulfilment of con-
version obligations.

the management Board has not made use of the authorisation
described above.

 contingent capital
By virtue of the resolution of the general shareholders' meeting
of 5 July 2010, the management Board is authorised to grant,
with the approval of the supervisory Board, bearer bonds with
warrants or convertible bonds (together, "bonds") on one or
more occasions up to 4 July 2015 in a total nominal amount of
up to eUR 300,000,000.00 and to grant conversion or option
rights to holders of bonds (including with a conversion obliga-
tion) to bearer shares in the company representing a propor-
tionate amount of the share capital of up to eUR 19,590,000.00
in total subject to the precise terms of the option or convertible
bond conditions (together also "bond conditions"). the bonds
can only be issued against cash payment. 
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as a basic principle, the shareholders have a subscription right,
i.e. the convertible bonds and bonds with warrants are in prin-
ciple to be offered to the company's shareholders for subscrip-
tion. the bonds can also be accepted by one or more financial
institutions or companies within the meaning of § 186 para. 5
sentence 1 of the german stock corporation act (aktg), subject
to the obligation that they offer them to the shareholders for
subscription (indirect subscription right). if bonds are issued by
a group company, the company will ensure that the company's
shareholders are granted subscription rights accordingly. 

the management Board is, however, authorised, with the
 supervisory Board's approval, not to grant shareholders the right
to subscribe to the bonds,

– for fractional amounts resulting from the proportionate
 subscription right;

– sinsofar as the management Board, having undertaken a
proper examination, concludes that the issue price is not sig-
nificantly lower than the theoretical market value of the
bonds calculated using recognised methods of financial
mathematics. this authorisation to exclude a subscription
right does not, however, apply to bonds with a conversion
or option right (including with a conversion obligation) to
shares to which is attributed at most a proportional amount
of 10% in total of the existing share capital at the time of its
entry into force or at the time of the exercising of this au-
thorisation, whichever is lower. this upper limit of 10% of
share capital must include the proportionate amount of
share capital attributed to shares, which were issued during
the life of this authorisation within the scope of a capital in-
crease under the exclusion of subscription rights as per § 186

para. 3 sentence 4 aktg or which were sold as acquired treas-
ury shares during the life of this authorisation in a manner
other than via a stock exchange or via an offer to all share-
holders with the application mutatis mutandis of § 186 para.
3 sentence 4 aktg;

–  if it is necessary in order to grant holders or creditors of bonds
with warrants and convertible bonds with option and/or
conversion rights or conversion obligations which have been
or are still to be issued by the company or group companies
in which the company holds a direct or indirect 100% stake
a subscription right to bonds to the extent that they would
be entitled to as a shareholder after exercising the option or
conversion rights or after fulfilment of conversion obligations.

in the case of the issue of warrant bonds, each individual bond
will have one or more option certificates which entitle the holder
to obtain bearer shares of the company in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the option to be determined by the
management Board. the term of the option right cannot exceed
the term of the warrant bond. there may also be a provision that
fractions can be combined and/or settled in cash. in the case of
the issue of bonds with warrants, holders are entitled to ex-
change their individual bonds for bearer shares in the company
subject to the precise terms of the convertible bond conditions
to be defined by the management Board. the conversion ratio
is calculated by dividing the nominal amount or the issue
amount of an individual bond, whichever is lower, by the fixed
conversion price for a bearer share in the company, and can be
rounded up or down to the nearest whole number; furthermore,
an additional cash payment may also be determined. there may
also be a provision that fractions can be combined and/or set-
tled in cash. § 9 para. 1 para. 

the convertible bond conditions may also provide for a conver-
sion obligation at the end of the term (or earlier). the propor-
tional amount of the share capital of the ordinary shares in the
company to be issued for individual bonds may not exceed the
nominal amount of the individual bond. § 9 para. 1 para. the
conditions of the convertible bond or bond with warrants may
grant the company the right to grant new shares or treasury
shares in the company to the bond creditors instead of some or
all of the payment of a sum due. Furthermore, the conversion or
warrant bond conditions can determine in each case that, in the
case of conversion or exercising of an option, treasury shares in
the company can also be granted. moreover, it can be stipulated
that the company does not grant shares in the company to the
parties entitled to a conversion or an option but pays the equiv-
alent value in cash of the shares, which would otherwise have
been delivered. 

Further details are contained in the authorising resolution.

to service conversion or option rights or conversion or option
obligations as part of bonds issued by authorisation of the gen-
eral shareholders' meeting of 5 July 2010 until 4 July 2015, the
company's share capital was conditionally increased by up to
eUR 19,590,000.00 by the issue of up to 19,590,000 individual
bearer shares (contingent capital 2010).

the management Board has not made use of the authorisation
described above to issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with
warrants.
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oPPoRtUnities and FoRecast

special events and developments may have a positive impact
on our activities. if these opportunities are specific enough and
can be sufficiently controlled by us, we integrate them into sce-
narios as part of our planning and actively pursue them. gen-
eral opportunities lie outside our sphere of influence, although
they cannot be controlled. if they occur, then they will boost our
business development significantly. However, these general op-
portunities are not included in our planning, since they cannot
be clearly planned for, influenced or quantified. 

GENERAL OPPORTUNITIES

Better economic framework conditions
the macroeconomic environment and the real estate sector
have performed better than expected. any differences, such as
unexpectedly high letting volume, rental increases across the
board or successful disposals would have a positive impact on
profits and the further development of dic asset ag.

Use of low interest rates
the low level of interest rates offers opportunities for concluding
deals on favourable terms and for improving our long-term fi-
nancing. we are therefore involved in regular negotiations with
financing institutions. if we succeed in renewing financing ear-
lier than scheduled or agreeing attractive terms, we benefit from
a long-term improvement in our financing.

Major agreements on condition of a change of control as a re-
sult of a takeover bid
dic asset ag has entered into the following significant agree-
ments that contain change-of-control clauses.

a loan agreement with Provinzial Rheinland lebensversicherung
ag that provides for a cancellation right for the lender if
deutsche immobilien chancen ag & co. Kgaa ceases to hold at
least a 30% interest in the equity of the company.

in addition, dic asset ag is a partner in several joint ventures
with morgan stanley Real estate Funds (msReF) on the one hand
and dic capital Partners (germany) gmbH & co. Kgaa on the
other hand. the respective joint venture partner will be granted
the right in the case of a change of control to acquire the inter-
ests of dic asset ag in the respective real estate investment at
the current market value. in particular, there is change of control
if deutsche immobilien chancen ag & co. Kgaa no longer di-
rectly or indirectly holds at least 30% of the shares and voting
rights in dic asset ag.

Finally, the terms of issue of the corporate bonds issued by the
company (isin de 000a1KQ1n3) totalling eUR 70 million (ma-
turing in may 2016) specify that early payment may be made at
the choice of the creditor in the event of a change in control.
thereafter, every creditor will have the right, but not the obliga-
tion, to demand full or partial repayment from dic asset ag or,
at the choice of dic asset ag, the purchase of its bonds by dic
asset ag (or at its request by a third party). However, the exercise
of the option by a creditor will only take effect if the creditor has
exercised the option in respect of at least 20 % of the total
amount of bonds still outstanding at this time. a change of con-
trol pursuant to the terms of issue occurs where it becomes
known to dic asset ag that (i) a person or a group of persons
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acting together pursuant to § 2 (5) of the german law on secu-
rities acquisitions and takeovers [wpÜg] has become the legal
of economic owner of more than 50% of the voting rights in dic
asset ag; or (ii) a person has obtained actual control over dic
asset ag under the terms of a control agreement with dic asset
ag pursuant to § 291 aktg. 

Indemnity agreements entered into with members of the
Management Board or employees in the case of a takeover
bid
in the case of a change of control, a member of the manage-
ment Board will be entitled to extraordinary termination of the
employment contract. a case of change of control will be in
place if a shareholder holds at least the majority of the voting
rights represented in the general shareholders' meeting and at
the time of the conclusion of the employment contract, that
shareholder did not already hold more than 20% of the share
capital of the company, or the company concludes an affiliation
agreement as an independent company or is integrated into or
merged with another company. a Board member exercising his
right to terminate is entitled to receive a payment of twice his
total annual earnings in the financial year prior to the change of
control. if the remaining period of his contract of employment
is less than two complete years, the equivalent of two years' total
earnings is replaced by a proportion of two years' total annual
earnings calculated pro rata over the shorter period remaining.

Other information
the other disclosures in accordance with §§ 289 para. 4, 315
para. 4 HgB refer to circumstances that do not exist at dic asset
ag. there are no restrictions affecting voting rights or the trans-
fer of shares, nor are there any shareholders with special rights
conferring supervisory powers nor are there any voting right
controls by employees with shares in the company's capital.
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FORECAST

Significant earnings growth

Rental income of around EUR 124-126 million 

Further reduction of vacancy rate to approx 11.5%

Acquisition volume of at least EUR 200 million

Marked increase in FFO of 10% to 
between EUR 43-45 million planned

Overall view 
in 2012, we intend to use our operational strengths to achieve
significant earnings growth. to this end, we will continue to
make acquisitions and will further enhance the quality and prof-
itability of our portfolio through our property management
structure.  through our services along the entire value added
chain, we leverage potential in our portfolio through our in-
house property management service. investment in high-
growth regions gives us a considerable degree of risk diversifi-
cation. 

we view our strategic positioning as a resilient competitive ad-
vantage, particularly with regard to international investors, which
contributes to our maintaining of our long-term growth targets
even in difficult conditions. with our longstanding strategy, we
are soundly placed to cope with downturns in the economy and
to exploit any opportunities that are available. 

the coming months will not see any changes to dic asset ag's
basic focus. we plan to exceed profit levels from the previous
year and endeavour to achieve marked FFo growth to between
eUR 43 and 45 million. 
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Stronger changes in the transaction market
distinct safety-oriented thinking still dominates the investment
targets of almost all investors. should investors branch out into
smaller locations due to the scarcity of core properties in the
major office centres, attractive sales opportunities may arise for
dic asset ag. should a significantly higher number of more
management intensive properties come to market triggered by
non-performing loans, more attractive acquisition opportunities
may arise for dic asset ag. 

Higher growth rates
we pursue growth that maximises our earnings. to this end we
continuously examine and develop possibilities of all natures
and sizes. if we are able to unexpectedly take advantage of major
growth opportunities – as appropriate in conjunction with the
involvement of appropriate equity capital partnerships – this will
permit a more rapid expansion of turnover and profits. 

Completion of project developments
we participate via co-investments in project developments and
have our own properties with development potential. it we suc-
ceed in finding sufficient numbers of tenants for pre-letting our
project developments, then more extensive projects may also
be completed on a sound basis. the value added produced as a
result can open up extraordinary potential income. 

Opportunities from property market values
in a reviving market environment with rising property market
values, dic asset ag has the opportunity to increase undisclosed
reserves which can be realised when properties are sold. our net
asset value would also increase as a result, which can lead to a
more attractive stock market valuation. Finally, rising market val-
ues will minimise the risk from financial covenants.



Further reduction in vacancy rates
we are continuing to work on enhancing the quality and value
of our portfolio through internal growth. in 2011, we were al-
ready able to offset some of the previous year's falls incurred as
a result of the economic downturn. this is supported on the one
hand by letting activity, which has seen the conclusion of long-
term rental agreements with creditworthy clients. a further
means of support comes from portfolio investments in con-
junction with our lettings which significantly enhance the value
of our portfolio. we are planning to reduce the vacancy rate to
around 11.5%. as an additional effect alongside previous acqui-
sitions, our measures will contribute to growth in rental income. 

Acquisition volume of at least EUR 200 million
in 2012 we shall make enhancements to our portfolio in a bal-
anced manner and in line with our investment strategy. in this
regard we plan to make investments in all investment segments.
our broad base in the value-added chain – from efficient prop-
erty management through to repositioning via project devel-
opments – makes us well placed to acquire both attractive in-
dividual properties and portfolios alike. Based on our current
liquidity levels, we are planning a direct and indirect investment
volume of at least eUR 200 million. 

Expansion of the second fund area
in addition of the further growth of dic office Balance i, we are
planning to launch a further special fund from 2012 onwards.
the planned second fund will focus on investments in top-qual-
ity commercial buildings in city-centre locations rated 1a. as
usual, we will take a 20% stake as a co-investor and provide prop-
erty management services and purchase/sale support. in addi-
tion to the expansion of our portfolio, we are focusing on in-
creasing the diversification of our income. the fund is set to have
a target volume of some eUR 250 million and, if placement pro-
ceeds suitably quickly, may even be able to begin the invest-
ment phase as early as 2012. 

Economic environment 
the german economy will probably be driven on by several fac-
tors in 2012: the continuing high demand for german products
on world markets based on a weak euro, very favourable
 financing terms and a stable domestic economy. current fore-
casts are predicting gdP growth of 1.2%. this figure would
 already be sufficient in order to be placed once again at the fore-
front of economic development in europe. due to the continu-
ing problem which governments in certain eU countries have
in borrowing we may continue to expect very low interest rates
and extraordinary stimulus measures. despite low interest rates,
which actually offer the ideal conditions for corporate  financing,
we do not expect lending to rise. it is expected that the higher
risk requirements of the banks and significantly lower demand,
caused by the necessary capitalisation requirements for finan-
cial institutions, are preventing a smooth lending business. 

Assessment of sectoral development
we expect stable development in the rental market in 2012 as a
whole. However, this should not have a particularly negative im-
pact on our business. traditionally, there is a time lag of 12 to 18
months in the reaction of the letting market to economic trends.
the employment market at the start of 2012 has shown itself to
be in a healthy state, which will support rental activities over the
course of the year. However, we are predicting competitive pres-
sure to remain high on the market as a whole in terms of the let-
ting of space, with rents thus expected to remain stable by and
large. market analysts are expecting a weaker second half of the
year, with letting volumes set to remain at the level of the aver-
age for the past five years.

the opportunities for a successful 2012 on the transaction mar-
ket are good, even against the backdrop of the sovereign debt
crisis in europe: the german economy is robust and the real es-
tate market is liquid, diversified and oriented towards the long
term. the general economic downturn and the lower levels of
lending due to higher equity capital requirements for financial

institutions could have the effect of reining in the market. we
are proceeding on the basis of undiminished demand for core
properties from a group of national and international investors
whose main interest is security. scarce supply could see yields in
this segment fall further. the market in general is not currently
expecting a marked increase in the number of properties that
would be available at appropriate prices in view of risk consid-
erations and that would offer potential for improvement, i.e.
properties that would be of particular interest to real estate com-
panies with management expertise. However, situations involv-
ing non-performing real estate loans could potentially create
some supply. at any rate, the likelihood of an increasing number
of impending loan extensions encountering unfavourable
 financing conditions is certainly higher in 2012 than in the pre-
vious years. overall, estate agents consider transaction volume
of around eUR 23 billion – corresponding to the previous year's
volume – to be possible.

Rental volumes to remain within last year’s range 
in 2012 we expect an overall stable rental market, which will
however be characterised by greater caution and reticence on
the part of tenants. For us, this means that we must step up our
letting activities even more this year than last. in this respect, we
are well placed with our presence close to our properties and
our direct contact with tenants and have an advantage over cen-
trally operating portfolio holders. in 2012 both new tenancies
and lease renewals will be equally important, on the one hand
in order to stabilise our rental income and on the other hand in
order to enhance portfolio quality. depending on the progress
made with our planned letting of our project developments, we
are aiming for a letting volume within last year’s range. in terms
of the commercial portfolio, a lower letting volume will be suf-
ficient to meet our objectives thanks to the reduction in the
 vacancy rate and tenancy expiries achieved in 2011. 
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Disposals of approx. EUR 80 million
in the coming financial year, we expect transaction activity to
remain buoyant, especially in core properties. we have identi-
fied properties that are suitable for sale and will bring them onto
the market if conditions are right. should the demand for prop-
erties be less marked, then we will benefit from our flexibility:
we are not forced to sell at any given point in time. we expect
to sell properties worth around eUR 80 million in 2012.

Project developments make further progress
our ongoing project developments are progressing as planned.
on the maintor project, we will make significant progress on the
construction work for the sub-projects which we have started.
Here, we are adopting a strict controlling approach to keep
within the planned budget. in addition, we will launch the mar-
keting of the maintor “living” sub-project in the second half of
the year. the operational implementation of our operaoffices
project development in Hamburg is also planned for the second
half of the year.

Comments on the profit forecast
our forecast is based on a number of different material as-
sumptions:

 the german economy will remain sound, and gdP will
grow slightly

 the rental market will remain stable 
 Rental defaults due to insolvency will remain low
 we will be able to increase rental levels as planned
 we will be able to achieve our planned growth

we will not give any firm indications as to the profit for the pe-
riod. it is hard to put an exact figure on the expected profit for
the period as it depends first and foremost on whether we are
able to acquire or sell properties from our various segments with
majority or minority stakes.

Expected sales and earnings position for 2012
since the financial crisis erupted in 2008, it has been even harder
than previously to make forecasts in view of the huge scope of
the state-backed support measures introduced and their incal-
culable long-term effects. at present the problems regarding the
state finances of european countries are complicating forecasts.
For this reason our planning contains additional risk assump-
tions. in spite of this, our forecast may differ materially from
 actual results if underlying assumptions are not fulfilled or other
extraordinary developments occur. 

Based on our current portfolio and a reduction in the vacancy
rate to around 11.5% at the end of the year, we are expecting
rental income to be between eUR 124 and 126 million, includ-
ing planned purchases. this amount also takes into account
some eUR 2 million from purchases in the 2012 financial year. 

our operating expenses are comparable with the previous year,
although these will increase moderately due to the increase in
the workforce planned or already implemented. due to higher
borrowing requirements, we are also expecting higher interest
expenses. on this basis, we are expecting operating income,
namely FFo, of between eUR 43 and 45 million in 2012 (around
one eUR per share).

Expected financial situation in 2012
our ongoing business operations do not at present require any
major external financing. it is expected that portfolio invest-
ments (planned to match the previous year's level and depend-
ing on individual sizeable tenancies), funds required for refi-
nancing, the dividend payment for the 2011 financial year and
cash flow from disposals will represent the most significant fac-
tors influencing liquidity from operating activities in 2012. to the
extent foreseeable, all liquidity requirements and commitments
from financing are met. 

liquidity planning also enables us to exploit external opportu-
nities for growth through acquisitions as part of our growth plan.
in these cases, we will be able to raise additional external funds.
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opportunities and forecast

Outlook for 2013
assuming the economic trend remains positive and acquisition
and sales targets are met, in 2013 we are expecting positive
growth in sales and earnings with a moderate increase on 2012.
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notes 2011 2010

total revenues 157,320 228,767
total expenses -91,162 -154,216

Gross rental income 1 116,746 124,941
Ground rents 2 -784 -773
service charge income on principal basis 3 16,300 17,719
service charge expenses on principal basis 3 -17,964 -19,415
other real estate related operating expenses 4 -7,543 -8,531
net rental income 106,755 113,941

administrative expenses 5 -8,544 -8,008
Personnel expenses 6 -10,216 -9,409
depreciation and amortisation 7 -29,788 -30,818
fee from real estate management 8 5,310 3,543

other income 9 1,250 1,397
other expenses 10 -291 -1,213
net other income 959 184

investment property disposal proceeds 11 17,714 81,167
Carrying value of investment property disposed 11 -16,032 -76,049
Profit on disposal of investment property 1,682 5,118

net operating profit before financing activities 66,158 74,551

share of the profit of associates 12 2,386 7,812
interest income 13 7,898 6,416
interest expense 13 -63,921 -70,452
Profit before tax 12,521 18,327

Current income tax expense 14 -2,082 -2,484
deferred income tax expense 14 163 622

Profit for the period 10,602 16,465
attributable to equity holders of the parent 10,497 16,380
attributable to minority interest 15 105 85

Basic (=diluted) earnings per share (eur) 16 0.24 0.43

Consolidated Profit and loss aCCount for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 december 2011 in teur
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2011 2010

fair value of hedge instruments
Cash flow hedges -9,741 1,721
Cash flow hedges from associates 776 3,656

recorded directly in equity -8,965 5,377
Profit for the period 10,602 16,465

Comprehensive income 1,637 21,842
attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,532 21,757
attributable to minority interest 105 85

statements of ComPrehensive inCome from 1 January to 31 december 2011 in teur
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assets notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

investment property 17 1,902,129 1,718,215
office furniture and equipment 18 538 519
investments in associates 19 70,057 64,670
intangible assets 21 152 255
deferred tax assets 14 24,441 19,465

total non-current assets 1,997,317 1,803,124

receivables from sale of property 22 358 7,967
trade receivables 23 2,692 2,635
receivables due from related parties 24 128,058 105,682
income tax receivable 25 7,837 7,442
other receivables 26 4,390 3,955
other current assets 27 4,950 1,876
Cash and cash equivalents 28 100,244 117,292

248,529 246,849

non-current assets held for sale 29 2,300 0

total current assets 250,829 246,849

total assets 2,248,146 2,049,973

Consolidated BalanCe sheet as at 31 december 2011 in teur
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equity and liabilities notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

issued capital 30 45,719 39,187
share premium 30 614,312 569,288
hedging reserve 30 -60,077 -51,111
retained earnings 30 22,739 28,243

total shareholders´equity 622,693 585,607
minority interests 15 1,497 1,473

total equity 624,190 587,080

liabilities
Corporate bond 31 68,589 0
non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 31 1,256,165 1,239,804
deferred tax liabilities 14 11,649 9,508
derivatives 20 70,254 58,116

total non-current liabilities 1,406,657 1,307,428

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 31 194,923 136,278
trade payables 32 5,323 3,451
liabilities to related parties 24 347 18
Provisions 33 33 22
income taxes payable 34 2,086 2,864
other liabilities 35 12,356 12,832

215,068 155,465

liabilities in content with non-current assets held for sale 29 2,231 0

total current liabilities 217,299 155,465

total liabilities 1.623,956 1,462,893

total equity and liabilities 2,248,146 2,049,973
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2011 2010

operating activities
net operating profit before interest and taxes paid 76,736 86,972
realised gains/losses on disposals -1,682 -5,118
depreciation and amortisation 29,788 30,818
movements in receivables, payables and provisions -754 536
other non-cash transactions -7,026 -4,984
Cash flow generated from operations 97,062 108,224

interest paid -57,674 -69,274
interest received 4,143 4,002
income taxes paid -5,170 -5,235
Cash flow from operating activities 38,361 37,717

investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment property 25,339 255,480
disposal of subsidiaries 0 10,444
acquisition of stakes in the three joint venture portfolios -14,544 0
acquisition of investment property -124,785 -5,068
Capital expenditure on investment property -15,266 -12,107
acquisitions/disposal of other investments -3,661 -25,285
loans to and from other entities -22,689 -21,841
acquisitions -185 -106
Cash flow from investing activities -155,791 201,517

financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 52,250 47,025
Proceeds from other non-current borrowings 70,000 0
repurchase/disposal of own shares 129,351 7,269
repayment of borrowings -128,877 -202,356
deposits -3,500 0
Payment of transaction costs -2,840 -950
dividends paid -16,002 -11,756
Cash flow from financing activities 100,382 -160,768

net changes in cash and cash equivalents -17,048 78,466

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 117,292 38,826

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 december 100,244 117,292

Consolidated statement of Cash flow  for the financial Year 2011 in teur
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issued share reserve for retained total minority Total
capital premium cash flow earnings shares interest

hedges equity

status as at 31 december 2009 31,350 530,747 -56,489 23,620 529,228 1,450 530,678

Profit for the period 16,380 16,380 85 16,465
Gains from cash flow hedges* 1,721 1,721 1,721
Gains from cash flow hedges from associates 3,656 3,656 3,656

Comprehensive income 5,377 16,380 21,757 85 21,842

dividends 2009 -11,756 -11,756 0 -11,756
Capital increase 7,837 38,541 46,378 46,378
repayment of minority interest 0 -62 -62

status as at 31 december 2010 39,187 569,288 -51,111 28,243 585,607 1,473 587,080

Profit for the period 10,497 10,497 105 10,602
losses from cash flow hedges* -9,741 -9,741 -9,741
Gains from cash flow hedges from associates* 775 775 775

Comprehensive income -8,966 10,497 1,531 105 1,636

dividends 2010 -16,001 -16,001 -16,001
Capital increase 6,532 45,024 51,556 51,556
repayment of minority interest 0 -81 -81

status as at 31 december 2011 45,719 614,312 -60,077 22,739 622,693 1,497 624,190

* net of deferred tax

Consolidated statement of ChanGes in equitY for the financial Year 2011 in teur
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Notes

Consolidated financial 
statements

iNFormaTioN oN The ComPaNy

diC asset aG (the "company") and its subsidiaries ("diC asset" or
the "Group") are active in the area of asset and portfolio man-
agement. 

shares in the company are listed in the Prime standard segment
of the frankfurt stock exchange and the stock exchanges in
 munich, düsseldorf, Berlin-Bremen, hamburg, stuttgart and
hanover.  

diC asset aG, which is entered in the commercial register of the
district Court of frankfurt am main (hrB 57679), has its regis-
tered office in frankfurt am main, eschersheimer landstr. 223.

these consolidated financial statements were approved for pub-
lication by the management Board on 1 march 2012.

PriNCiPleS uNderlyiNg The 
CoNSolidaTed FiNaNCial STaTemeNTS

application of international Financial reporting Standards
the consolidated financial statements for the 2011 financial year
have been prepared in accordance with ifrs valid as per 31 de-
cember 2011 (including the interpretations of the ifrs interpre-
tations Committee (ifrs iC)) in the form in which they have been
adopted by the eu. diC asset aG has also prepared its consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with § 315a Para. 1
hGB (handelsgesetzbuch - German Commercial Code).

accounting and valuation methods
the accounting and valuation methods applied in the disclo-
sures and the notes to the consolidated financial statements in
financial year 2011 are based on the same accounting and val-
uation methods applied in the consolidated financial statements
in financial year 2010. the effects of any changes made are ex-
plained in the corresponding section of these notes. 

the annual financial statements for the companies included in
the consolidated financial statements are based on uniform ac-
counting and measurement principles. as a basic principle, the
same accounting and valuation methods are applied at the level
of the associated companies of diC asset aG. 

with the exception of certain items, such as shares valued under
the equity method, derivative financial instruments and hedging
reserves, the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the historical cost principle. the valuation
methods used are described in detail on page 76 ff.

the consolidated financial statements were prepared on the as-
sumption that the company is a "going concern" in accordance
with ias 1.23.

the separate financial statements of the consolidated compa-
nies were prepared as at the reporting date of the consolidated
financial statements (31 december 2011).

Structure of the balance sheet and the income statement
the consolidated balance sheet is prepared in line with ias 1
(Presentation of financial statements) using a classified balance
sheet structure. under this method, assets to be realised within
twelve months of the balance sheet date and liabilities due
within one year of the balance sheet date are generally reported
as current assets/liabilities. 

the income statement was prepared following the plan sug-
gested by the european Public real estate association (ePra).

the consolidated accounts were prepared in euro. unless noted
otherwise, all amounts are expressed in thousands of euro
(teur). for computational reasons, rounding differences from
the exact mathematical values calculated (in teur, percent (%),
etc.) may occur in tables and cross-references.

Changes in the presentation
the Group made changes to its segment reporting in the 2011
financial year. segment reporting performed in 2010 according
to the Core plus and value added segments has been replaced
by segment reporting by regions. for more information, see
pages 96 ff.

New standards and interpretations

a) New and revised standards and interpretations required
to be applied for the first time in the financial year

the following standards and interpretations were applied for the
first time in the financial year. their application had no impact
on the Group's asset, financial or earnings situation. some addi-
tional information was required in the notes.

ias 24  "related Party disclosures"
the revised ias 24 contains revised definitions of
related parties. furthermore, disclosure obligations for compa-
nies controlled or significantly influenced by governments have
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been revised with regard to such companies' relations with
other companies controlled or significantly influenced by the
same government. 

ias 32  "financial instruments: Presentation"
the revisions to ias 32 relate to the classification of subscription
rights. the iasB established that the previous ruling, &"the clas-
sification of subscription rights denominated in foreign curren-
cies and issued to all current shareholders as a derivative liabil-
ity"& was at odds with the economic substance of the
transaction, as it involves a transaction with owners acting in
their capacity as such. subscription rights must now be classified
as an equity instrument regardless of the currency in which the
exercise price is denominated if they are issued in exchange for
a fixed amount of liquid funds and are offered to all current
shareholders in a class of equity instruments. as a result, the
amendment thus creates an exception to the "fixed-for-fixed
rule" in ias 32.

- ifriC 14 "Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement"
ifriC 14 is an interpretation of ias 19 "employee Benefits". the
amendment agreed by the iasB concerns the limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their inter-
action. the revision only applies in circumstances in which a
company is subject to minimum funding requirements and
makes a prepayment that satisfies these requirements. after the
revision, a company is now permitted to recognise the benefit
arising from such a prepayment as an asset.  

ifriC 19  "extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
 instruments"
ifriC 19 contains guidelines for the reporting of "debt for equity
swaps", whereby a company renegotiates the terms of a financial

liability with the creditor, with the creditor accepting shares or
other equity instruments of the company as full or partial re-
payment of the financial liability. ifriC 19 clarifies that:

– the company's equity instruments are deemed to be part
of the "compensation paid" to repay the financial liability
and

– the equity instruments issued are valued at their fair value.
if it is impossible to calculate this fair value reliably, the eq-
uity instruments are to be valued at the fair value of the re-
paid liability.

– the difference between the book value of the repaid finan-
cial liability and of the initial valuation amount of the equity
instruments is reported in the company's current income
statement.

– improvement projects 2010

on 6 may 2010, the iasB published its "annual improvements to
ifrs 2008-2010. this standard encompasses revisions to six in-
ternational financial reporting standards (ifrs) and one inter-
pretation (ifriC).

ias 1  "Presentation of financial statements" 
Clarification of the statement of changes in equity

ias 27  "Consolidated and separate financial statements"
transitional provisions for amendments to ias 21, ias 28 and ias
31 following revision of ias 27 in 2008

ias 34  "interim financial reporting"
Clarification of the definition of significant events and transac-
tions

ifrs 1  "first-time adoption 
– Change to accounting methods in the year ifrs are first ap-

plied
– new valuation basis in place of acquisition and production

costs"

– replacement of acquisition and production costs in the
case of price-regulated business segments

ifrs 3  "Business Combinations"
- transitional conditions for contingent considerations
- valuation of non-controlling shares
- share-based payments not replaced and replaced volun-

tarily 

ifrs 7  "financial instruments: disclosures"
Clarification of disclosure obligations

ifriC 13  "Customer loyalty Programmes" 
fair value of award credits

b) Standards and interpretations not applied (published, but
not yet required to be applied, or not yet to be applied in the
eu in some cases)

the international accounting standards Board (iasB) and the
ifrs interpretations Committee (ifriC) have adopted additional
standards and interpretations whose application is not yet re-
quired for financial year 2011, or which have not yet been recog-
nised by the eu.   

ias 1  "Presentation of financial statements"
the iasB has published an amendment to ias 1 "Presentation
of financial statements" changing the way in which items re-
ported in other income in the statement of comprehensive in-
come are presented. in future, companies will have to subdivide
the items reported in other income depending on whether or
not they will be posted in future via the income statement ("re-
cycling"). 
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standard  obligatory application endorsement
or interpretation for companies  

whose financial  
year follows the 
calendar year
from:

Completed on Planned for

ias 1 Presentation;
"individual items of other income" 2013 q1 2012

ias 12 deferred tax: recovery of underlying assets 2012 q2 2012

ias 19 employee Benefits (2011) 2013 q1 2012

ias 27 separate financial statements (2011) 2013 q3 2012

ias 28 investments in associates and Joint ventures (2011) 2013 q3 2012

ifrs 1 severe hyper-inflation and removal of fixed dates 2012 q2 2012

ifrs 7 financial instruments: disclosures
transfer of financial assets 2012 22.11.2011

ifrs 10 Consolidated financial statements 2013 q3 2012

ifrs 11 Joint arrangements 2013 q3 2012

ifrs 12 disclosure of interests in other entities 2013 q3 2012

ifrs 13 fair value measurement 2013 q3 2012

ifriC 20 stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a surface mine 2013 q2 2012

ifrs 9 financial instruments 2015 decision postponed

ifrs 7 financial instruments: disclosures
"offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities" 2013 Pending

ias 32 financial instruments:  Presentation
"offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities" 2014 Pending

ifrs 9 and 

ifrs 7 mandatory effective date and transition disclosures 2015 Pending

the term used in ias 1 for the statement of comprehensive in-
come has been changed to "statement of comprehensive and
other income. the amendment is to be applied retrospectively
for the first time for reporting years that begin on or after 1 Jan-
uary 2013. earlier application is permitted..

ias 12  "income tax"
main focus: deferred tax: recovery of underlying assets

establishment of an exception according to which deferred tax
assets and liabilities on

– real estate held as financial investments (investment prop-
erties) valued at fair value (application of the model of the
fair value in accordance with ias 40) and 

– investment properties valued at fair value reported for the
first time within the scope of a company acquisition – inso-
far as these are also to be reported at fair value within the
framework of the subsequent valuation. 

are to be valued as the fiscal consequences of a sale, unless the
reporting party can provide clear evidence that it will realise the
asset's book value in full through utilisation.

the revised version is required to be applied for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2012; voluntary earlier applica-
tion is permitted. as the Group reports its investment proper-
ties at cost less depreciation, these revisions, insofar as they are
adopted by the eu, will have no impact on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements.

ifrs 7  "financial instruments: disclosures"
the iasB has revised ifrs 7 with regard to disclosures on trans-
fers of financial assets. the new disclosure obligations apply to
the following two categories:
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– transferred assets not derecognised in full (e.g. repo trans-
action = purchase and repurchase of securities at a fixed
price or transfer of assets with the granting of extensive
guarantees)

– Certain transferred assets derecognised in full (e.g. factoring
of receivables).

for assets not derecognised in full, two new provisions apply in
addition to the current ifrs 7 requirements:

– the nature of the relationship between the transferred as-
sets and the associated liabilities arising from the transfer
and its use by the reporting company, and

– drawing up an overview that includes the fair value of the
transferred assets and liabilities as well as their balance if the
counterparty for the associated liability is only able to ac-
cess the assets.

for the assets derecognised in full, provided that the transfer-
ring company retains a lasting exposure based on the asset, i.e.
retains or incurs contractual rights or obligations, the following
disclosures, among others, must be made:

– book value and fair value of the lasting exposure 
– maximum risk of loss as well as information on the type of

calculation involved
– future cash flows, if any, to repurchase the derecognised as-

sets
– description of the lasting exposure and associated risk
– profit and loss at the time of derecognition

the revisions will give readers of financial reports an improved
insight into transactions transferring financial assets. the revi-
sions are to be applied to financial years beginning on or after 1
July 2011. earlier application is permitted. Comparative figures
are not required in the first year of application.

ifrs 9  "financial instruments"
the iasB has published provisions on reporting financial liabili-
ties that supplement ifrs 9 and conclude the classification and
evaluation phase of its project to replace ias 39 "financial in-
struments - recognition and measurement." 

ifrs 9 sets out new regulations for the classification and valua-
tion of financial instruments, whereby in future financial assets
and financial liabilities will only be able to be valued "at cost less
depreciation" and "at fair value". in accordance with the new reg-
ulations, a company that has chosen the fair value option to re-
port its financial liabilities must report the amount of change in
fair value that is due to a change in its own credit risk in other in-
come from equity and not in the income statement. 

the revisions are required to be applied retrospectively for the
first time in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
earlier application is only permitted if the provisions stipulated
in ifrs 9 for financial assets are applied at the same time. 
as things stand, the Group does not expect the application of
this addition, insofar as it is adopted by the eu in this form, to
have a material impact on the presentation of its financial state-
ments. 

ifrs 10 to ifrs 12
on 12 may 2011, the iasB published a package of five standards
that deal with consolidation (ifrs 10), joint arrangements (ifrs
11), disclosure of interests in other entities (ifrs 12), separate fi-
nancial statements (ias 27 (2011)) and interests in associates and
joint ventures (ias 28 (2011)).

the core issues covered by the new standards are as follows: 

ifrs 10  "Consolidated financial statements"
on 12 may 2011, the iasB published the standard ifrs 10 "Con-
solidated financial statements", which redefined the term "con-
trol". the new approach combines power of disposal and expo-
sure to variable returns from a shareholding to determine
whether control exists. under ifrs 10, control exists only when
an investor has power of disposal, is exposed to variable returns
and has the ability to use his power of disposal to affect his re-
turns from the affiliated company (ifrs 10.7).

ifrs 11  "Joint arrangements"
on 12 may 2011, the iasB published the standard ifrs 11 "Joint
arrangements", which will lead to a revision of existing ac-
counting regulations. the focus is on increased transparency for
shareholders, which is guaranteed by obliging a company to dis-
close its contractual rights and obligations arising from a joint
arrangement.

Joint arrangements are divided into "joint activities" and "joint
ventures". Joint ventures must be included in consolidated fi-
nancial statements under the equity method. the option to
apply proportional consolidation no longer exists.

ifrs 12  "disclosure of interests in other entities"
on 12 may 2011, the iasB published the standard ifrs 12 "dis-
closure of interests in other entities". it is applicable to compa-
nies that hold a stake in subsidiaries, associates, joint agreements
and unconsolidated structured companies (special purpose ve-
hicles). the disclosures required by ifrs are significantly more
extensive than was previously the case. the intention is for the
recipient of the financial statements to be able to assess the na-
ture of the company's involvement as well as the risks and fi-
nancial consequences that it entails.

the five new standards are to be applied for financial years be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2013. earlier application is permit-
ted insofar as all five standards are applied at the same time.
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ifrs 13  "valuation at fair value"
the new standard ifrs 13 introduces a standard framework con-
cept for calculating the fair value, which applies to all ifrs with
a few exceptions (ifrs 2, ias 17 and ias 36). the definition of ifrs
13 is similar to the previous definition from ias 39.9. ifrs 13 also
adds information on the fair value and introduces standard in-
formation on the fair value hierarchy (levels 1-3), which is struc-
tured in a similar way to the level information known from ifrs 7.

– information on the hierarchical level at which the fair values
are classified;

– transfers between levels 1 and 2;
– Procedures and valuation parameters regarding valuation

at fair value and changes to valuation methods; and
– additional information on level 3 valuations, including rec-

onciliation of opening and closing balances, quantitative in-
formation on unobservable parameters and

– assumptions, explanations of the valuation processes and
sensitivities used in the case of recurring level 3 valuations

ifrs 13 does not contain any information on when the fair value
is to be used.

ifrs 13 applies to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 Jan-
uary 2013. earlier application is permitted. the standard should
be applied prospectively at the start of the reporting period in
which it is to be applied for the first time. the disclosure obliga-
tions laid down in the new guidelines do not apply to compar-
ative figures from the periods before first-time application of
ifrs 13.

the impact of first-time application of the abovementioned
standards and interpretations on the consolidated financial
statements of diC asset aG is currently being assessed. 

the Group does not plan to apply the revisions before it be-
comes obligatory to do so for the first time in accordance with
the provisions on transition as stipulated by the iasB.

CoNSolidaTioN meThodS

Capital is consolidated in accordance with ifrs 3, "Business Com-
binations", by offsetting the book values of holdings against the
proportional revalued equity of subsidiaries on the date of their
acquisition. assets and liabilities are recognised at their fair val-
ues. in accordance with ifrs 3, goodwill arising from business
combinations is no longer amortised by means of scheduled
amortisation, but rather is subject to an annual impairment test. 

negative goodwill resulting from the review is recognised on
the income statement after a review has been completed.
undisclosed accruals and provisions and undisclosed liabilities
are carried forward during subsequent consolidation in accor-
dance with the corresponding assets and liabilities. 

intragroup profits and losses, sales, expenses and revenue and
intragroup receivables and payables are eliminated. in the diC
asset aG Group, trade payables and accruals are recorded at cus-
tomary market conditions. the effects on income tax of consol-
idation processes affecting income are accounted for and de-
ferred taxes are recognised. Joint ventures are consolidated on
a proportional basis using the same principles.

the consolidated financial statements include the transactions
of subsidiaries of which diC asset aG holds a controlling inter-
est, either directly or indirectly, or if, because of its economic con-
trol, it benefits from the activities of the companies in question,
normally through a 50% or greater interest. subsidiaries are con-
solidated from the date on which the possibility of control exists,
and ends if there is no more possibility of control. 

Profits from subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
course of the financial year were included in the consolidated
income statement accordingly from the date on which the ac-
quisition entered into force or until the effective date of disposal.

operational joint ventures in accordance with ias 31 (interests in
Joint ventures) are consolidated proportionately in accordance
with the interest held in the joint ventures.

in contrast, participations in which diC asset aG exercises sig-
nificant influence but not joint management – on the basis of an
interest of between 20% and 50% - are valued using the equity
method (associates). for holdings valued under the equity
method, costs are increased or reduced annually in the amount
of the corresponding change in shareholder's equity of the eq-
uity holding of diC asset aG in accordance with ias 28. 

during initial consolidation of holdings under the equity
method, negative goodwill arising from the initial consolidation
is treated in accordance with the principles of full consolidation.
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between Group
companies and associates are eliminated in accordance with the
Group holdings in the associate.

SCoPe oF CoNSolidaTioN

as at 31 december 2011, in addition to diC asset aG, a total of
144 (previous year 120) subsidiaries were included in the con-
solidated financial statements (see appendix 1 to the notes on p.
58). subsidiaries are companies in which diC asset aG, as the
parent company, can exercise a controlling influence in the form
of a direct or indirect majority of the voting rights in the com-
pany. 
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Changes in the scope of consolidation
in the past financial year, diC asset aG has not made any acqui-
sitions, which must be classified as a business combination in
the sense of ifrs 3. the acquisitions of shares described below
solely formed the basis for the properties acquired in this con-
nection.  

with beneficial effect from 31 march 2011, diC asset aG ac-
quired two retail properties in Bremen and Chemnitz from
apollo rida Golf s.a.r.l., luxembourg as part of a share deal. the
investment volume amounts to around eur 108 million. the
properties are let long-term, the annual rental income amounts
to some eur 7.3 million which equates to a rental yield of around
7% in relation to the property purchase prices. 

on 7 october 2011, diC asset aG acquired the shares in its pre-
vious joint venture partners msref sparks Bv, amsterdam
(netherlands), msref v daffodil holding B.v., amsterdam
(netherlands) and msref quick Gmbh & Co. verwaltungs KG,
frankfurt am main. as a result, its previous share in the proper-
ties increased from 50% to 100%.  the profit and loss account
was accordingly proportionately consolidated until the shares
were transferred and subsequently fully consolidated in the con-
solidated financial statements. 

in october 2011, diC asset aG acquired the remaining stake
worth eur 91 million in the real estate assets of which it already
controlled 50% as well as the debt to be assigned to it in the
amount of eur 70 million. the acquisition procedure thus does
not meet the criteria of a business combination under ifrs 3 ap-
pendix a. acquisition costs were calculated at the time of ac-
quisition based on their fair values and assigned to the corre-
sponding individual assets. 

to handle the property acquisitions carried out in the fourth
quarter, diC asset acquired the shares in two shelf companies
on ia september 2011 and 16 december 2011 and renamed
them as diC objekt eKZ duisburg Gmbh and diC objekt Zep-
pelinheim Gmbh for this purpose.

diC asset holds shares in 13 companies (previous year 13) for
strategic reasons, which are included as associates in accordance
with ias 28.13 in the financial statements of the Group using the
equity method (see appendix 2 of the notes on p. 135). 

diC asset aG holds 1.2% of diC hi Portfolio Gmbh and diC ham-
burg Portfolio Gmbh and their respective subsidiaries directly,
and 18.8% indirectly via diC opportunistic Gmbh.

the following inactive companies were sold or merged within
the diC Group in the financial year.

sale: diC msref ht weimar Gmbh, 
frankfurt am main

merger: diC msref ff südwest objekt würzburg 
Gmbh; frankfurt am main auf 
diC msref ff südwest münchen 2 Gmbh

Summary oF key aCCouNTiNg aNd 
valuaTioN meThodS

Sales and other operating income
sales from letting and leasing as well as income from property
management are realised, after deducting any reductions in in-
come, in line with the tenancies, if the payments are fixed by
contract or can be reliably determined and settlement of the re-
lated claims is likely.

income from the sale of real estate
the realisation of earnings from sale transactions (e.g. invest-
ment property) is strictly recognised at the time of the transfer
of risk, that is, at the time of the transfer of possession, rights and
obligations, rather than at the time of entry into the land regis-
ter, or when the service is provided, less discounts and rebates. 

this does not apply to contract revenue resulting from the ap-
plication of the percentage-of-completion method in the case
of customer-specific development projects.

investment property
Properties which are held or developed to achieve rental income
and/or for the purpose of adding value are classified as "invest-
ment property". 

investment property is accounted for at cost less depreciation.
where they can be assigned directly to the construction or ac-
quisition of a qualifying asset, debt costs are capitalised over the
period during which all work is essentially concluded in order to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use. otherwise, debt
costs are recorded directly under expenses. in financial year
2011, debt costs of teur 302 (previous year: teur 0) were capi-
talised in connection with ongoing construction in the "trio of-
fenbach" project. this equates to a rate of debt costs of 3.08%. 
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in years useful life
residential buildings 60
office and commercial buildings, hotels 50
department and retail stores, 
shopping arcades and centres 40
Parking facilities, underground parking facilities 40

land is not depreciated. Buildings are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives as follows. they are tested for im-
pairment annually and at other times if there are indications of
any possible impairment. 

the following useful lives are assumed when depreciating build-
ings: 

the property of the company is treated as a financial investment,
since property trading itself is not considered to be part of reg-
ular business activity. due to the valuation at cost less depreci-
ation, the fair value of investment properties is to be stated in
the notes (see text number 17). the valuation is carried out by in-
dependent experts and in accordance with international valua-
tion standards (ivs). in particular, the fair value is established on
the basis of discounted future income surpluses in accordance
with the discounted cash flow method or, if available, on the
basis of proposed sales contracts, comparative or market prices. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less depre-
ciation. debt costs are not recognised as part of costs in equity.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis. the useful life of property, plant and equipment is nor-
mally between three and thirteen years.

investments in associates
investments in associates are reported in the balance sheet
using the equity method and are initially valued at acquisition
cost. 

on every balance sheet date, the Group examines whether there
are any indications that suggest any impairment expenses need
to be taken into account with regard to investments in associ-
ates. in this case, the difference between book value and attain-
able amount is reported as an impairment and allocated ac-
cordingly to the result from associates.

intangible assets
intangible assets with a limited useful life are recorded at cost
less depreciation and amortised over their useful lives on a
straight-line basis. they are tested for impairment if relevant
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the book value
is no longer achievable.

Business software is amortised over three years; the useful life of
concessions and other rights is normally 10 years.  

receivables and other assets
receivables and other assets, except for derivative financial in-
struments, are measured at cost less depreciation. 

if there is any doubt as to whether receivables are recoverable,
they are recognised at their lower realisable amount. in addition
to any individual impairment charges that may be required, in
the case of identifiable risks, lumped individual impairment
charges are created from the general credit risk. in the case of
trade receivables, it is assumed that the nominal amount less
impairment charges corresponds to the fair value.

impairments in receivables are partly taken into account using
impairment accounts. the decision on whether a default risk is
to be depicted via an impairment account or a direct reduction
in the receivable depends on the reliability of the assessment of
the risk situation.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and cash at banks that
is available within three months as well as term deposits that are
available within three months. 

Non-current assets held for sale
non-current assets where transfer of title and the benefits and
obligations associated therewith will take place within twelve
months of the balance sheet date are shown separately. they
are valued at the lower of book or fair value less the costs of dis-
posal or with the help of purchase price offers, if available. the
debt attributable to them is reported separately from other debt
in the balance sheet in accordance with ifrs 5.38. 

Provisions
Provisions take into account all recognisable obligations as at
the balance sheet date that are based on past events and for
which the amount or final maturity is uncertain. Provisions are
recognised only on the basis of a legal or constructive obliga-
tion to a third party, the fulfilment of which makes an outflow of
resources probable, to the extent that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are recognised at the amounts required to clear the
obligations and are not offset against reimbursement rights.

Share-based payments
share price oriented compensation paid in the Group is reported
in line with ifrs 2 "share-based Payments". the "virtual share op-
tions" are share-based remuneration transactions with cash
compensation, which are measured at fair value each balance
sheet date. remuneration expense accrues proportionally taking
account of the services provided pro rata temporis during the
waiting period and is recorded in the income statement until it
becomes non-forfeitable. 

this estimate is based on the Black-scholes option pricing
model.
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liabilities
financial liabilities predominantly comprise the bond and liabil-
ities to financial institutions, trade payables and derivative fi-
nancial instruments with negative fair values. 

with the exception of derivative financial instruments, liabilities
are recognised at their repayment or fulfillment amounts or, ap-
plying the effective interest rate method, at cost less deprecia-
tion. when establishing the book value, the Group only takes ac-
count of transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial instruments if the financial instruments are
not recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

liabilities are classified as current, if they will be settled within
twelve months of the balance sheet date.

deferred taxes
deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences be-
tween valuations in the ifrs and tax balance sheets of the sep-
arate companies, on tax loss carryforwards and consolidation
processes. in principle, the differences established are always
recognised if they lead to deferred tax liabilities. deferred tax as-
sets are taken into account on tax loss carryforwards, in particu-
lar, if it is likely that the corresponding tax benefits can also be re-
alised in subsequent years. if, however, a transaction that is not
a business combination gives rise to deferred tax from the first-
time recognition of an asset or liability that affects neither the
balance-sheet nor tax profit or loss at the time of the transac-
tion, the deferral of tax does not apply either at the time of first
recognition or thereafter.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are balanced if there is a corre-
sponding legally obtainable right to offsetting and if the de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes charged by
the same tax authority for either the same tax subject or for dif-
ferent tax subjects intending to carry out the set-off on a net
basis.

deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that
apply or that are expected to apply based on current legislation
at the date on which they are realised. in principle, changes to
deferred taxes in the balance sheet lead to deferred tax expense
or income. 

in financial year 2011, the corporate tax rate totalled 15% plus
the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% of the corporate tax charge. this
resulted in an actual corporate tax rate of 15.8%. including trade
tax of 16.1%, the total tax rate equalled 31.9%. 

actual taxes
actual tax refund claims and tax liabilities for the current period
and previous periods are measured using the expected amount
of a refund from the tax authorities or the expected amount of
a payment to the tax authorities. 

insofar as is evident, sufficient tax provisions have been set aside
for potential tax liabilities in the future. this process was based
on a number of factors such as interpretations, commentaries
and legal precedent relating to the tax legislation in question as
well as past experience.

derivative financial instruments
as part of its active management of interest rate risks, diC asset
uses derivative financial instruments in the form of interest rate
swaps and caps. they are used solely for hedging purposes.  

derivative financial instruments are recognised as assets or lia-
bilities. ias 39 differentiates between the following valuation cat-
egories:

– available-for-sale financial assets (afs): these comprise non-
derivative financial assets that are not to be assigned to the
categories as the necessary subjective or objective prerequisite
is lacking. Changes in value are reported under other income.

– financial assets held for trading (fahft): only caps are allo-
cated to this valuation categories. special regulations apply to
derivatives designated as a hedging instrument in a hedging
arrangement.

– loans and receivables (lar): these include non-derivative fi-
nancial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not listed on an active market. the cost model is used for sub-
sequent valuations. if there are substantial objective indica-
tions of an impairment, these are recognised in the income
statement. 

– financial liabilities measured at amortised Cost (flaC). other
financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities whose
subsequent valuation is based on cost less depreciation. dif-
ferentials between the amount received and the amount re-
paid are reported in the income statement gradually over the
term. this category comprises debt, trade payables and non-
derivative current and non-current liabilities. 

there were no reclassifications between the individual valuation
categories in the year under review. the classes to be set up
under ifrs 7 include the valuation categories illustrated here.
for more information, see no. 36 "additional notes on financial
instruments".

irrespective of their purpose, all derivative financial instruments
are measured at fair value. this is calculated by discounting an-
ticipated future cash flows over the remaining term of the con-
tract based on current yield curves.  they are initially accounted
for on their date of origin. if the preconditions are met, they are
reported as cash flow hedges. 

on conclusion of the transaction, the Group documents the
hedging relationship between the hedging instrument and the
underlying transaction, the aim of the risk management and the
underlying strategy. in addition, the assessment of whether the
derivatives used in the hedging relationship compensate the
changes in fair value or the cash flows of the underlying trans-
actions effectively is documented at the beginning of the hedg-
ing relationship and continuously thereafter. this means that
changes to the fair value of the hedging transaction must fall
within a range of 80% to 125% of the opposite change in the
fair value of the underlying transaction both prospectively and
retrospectively. 
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the effective part of changes in the market value of derivatives,
which are destined to hedge payment streams of fixed obliga-
tions and constitute qualified hedges (ias 39.88) are, in princi-
ple, recorded under equity with no effect on income. on the
other hand, the ineffective part of changes in value is recorded
directly in the income statement. amounts recorded in equity
are reclassified in the income statement and recognised as in-
come or expenditure in the period in which the hedged under-
lying transaction affects earnings. 

when a hedging instrument expires, is sold or the hedging trans-
action no longer fulfils the criteria for hedge accounting, the ac-
cumulated profit or loss remains in equity and is only recorded
in the income statement when the underlying transaction oc-
curs. if the future transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
accumulated profits or losses, which were recorded directly in
equity, are to be reclassified in the income statement immedi-
ately. 

Changes to fair values of derivative instruments, which do not
fulfil the criteria of a hedging relationship (hedge accounting),
are recorded directly in the income statement and recognised as
profit or loss.

movements in the reserve for cash flow hedges in equity are pre-
sented in the statement of changes in equity and in the state-
ment of comprehensive income. 

leasing
whether or not an agreement incorporates a leasing relation-
ship is decided based on the economic content of the agree-
ment at the time it was concluded. the decision requires an as-
sessment of whether fulfillment of the contractual agreement
depends on the use of a specific asset or specific assets and
whether the agreement includes a right to make use of the
asset. a reassessment after the leasing relationship has come
into force can only be made under the preconditions stipulated
in ifriC 4.

leases where a material proportion of the opportunities and the
risks of owning the leased property remain with the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments received or made under
an operating lease are recorded in the income statement over
the term of the lease. tenancy agreements for properties are re-
garded as leases in this sense.

leases where the lessee bears the material risks and the benefits
arising from the leased property are classified as finance leases.
the Group does not enter into this type of lease.

Currency conversion
the functional currency of all consolidated subsidiaries and joint
ventures is the euro. foreign-currency transactions are con-
verted at the exchange rate applicable at the time of the trans-
action. assets and liabilities linked nominally to foreign currency
are measured at the rate on the balance sheet date. the result-
ant exchange differences are reported in the income statement.

Balance sheet items expressed in foreign currencies are valued
at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. foreign-cur-
rency losses of teur -199 (previous year: teur -1,156) are
recorded in other operating expenses.

earnings per share
the undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the
share of the profit for the period allotted to the shareholders of
diC asset aG by the weighted average of the number of shares
outstanding. shares newly issued or repurchased during a pe-
riod are taken into consideration pro rata temporis for the pe-
riod in which they are in circulation. 

in the first quarter of 2011, a capital increase aimed exclusively
at existing shareholders was performed. there was no trading in
subscription rights. the 6,531,249 new shares were offered for
subscription to the shareholders at a price of eur 8.00 at a ratio
of 6:1. this capital increase has resulted in an average number
of 44,278,787 shares for financial year 2011.

in accordance with ias 33.26 and ias 33.27 (b), the weighted av-
erage of the shares in circulation had to be recalculated for 2010.
the new number of 38,279,441 shares to be taken into account
for 2010 is the result of the ratio between the share price of eur
9.25 per share (as at 31 march 2011) and the theoretical ex-rights
value per share (eur 7) in relation to the increased number of
shares of 39,187,498 valid as at 31 december 2010.

assumptions underlying accounting estimates
to a certain degree, preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires discretionary decisions and estimates, which
have an impact on the recognition, valuation and presentation
of assets and liabilities, the income and expenses, as well as the
contingent liabilities and contingent debts. 

the principal areas affected by assumptions and estimates are as
follows:

– the determination of the economic useful lives of assets
held as fixed assets,

– the calculation of discounted cash flows as well as the dis-
counting and capitalisation interest rates used in impair-
ment tests,

– the calculation of the fair values and present values of min-
imum lease payments, 

– the reporting and valuation of provisions, 
– the realisability of receivables and 
– the future usability of tax loss carryforwards.

all assumptions and the underlying estimates are constantly  re-
evaluated. they are based on past experiences and other factors
including expectations with regard to future events. 

actual values may deviate from the assumptions made and es-
timates.
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NoTeS To The ProFiT aNd loSS aCCouNT

1. gross rental income
in financial year 2011, consolidated rental income fell by teur
8,195 (7%) from teur 124,941 to teur 116,746. this fall results,
among other things, from the sale of properties in 2010, which
included the disposal of leases with an annualised annual rental
income of teur 6,557. furthermore, the property sales trans-
acted during 2011 with a pro rata value of teur 989 as well as
leases not extended or extended with some lower average rents
also caused rental income to decrease. the largest lease termi-
nated in 2011 has an annual volume of eur 3.2 million. on the
back of intensive marketing activities, numerous new leases
were concluded over the past financial year. the volume of rental
income attributable to these leases is approximately teur 5,334
per year. acquisitions of properties and companies contributed
teur 9,057 to rental income.

2. ground rents
the Group pays annual ground rents of teur 784 (previous year:
teur 773) for the use of building leases.

3. Service charge income and expense on principal basis
recognised costs include apportionable current expenses in-
curred by the group under § 1 of the German operating Costs
ordinance (Betriebskostenverordnung) due to its ownership of
the land or its use of the building, annexes, facilities, etc. in ac-
cordance with their intended purpose as well as the ancillary
leasing costs to be borne by the tenants on the basis of con-
tractual regulations. these are typically understood to refer to
costs for water, electricity, power and property tax, for example,
as well as the necessary maintenance and inspection costs. 

the income from operating and ancillary costs fell by teur 1,419
(8%) to teur 16,300 during the financial year. expense from op-
erating and ancillary costs decreased by teur 1,451 (8%) to teur
17,964. 

the shortfall between income and expenses from operating and
ancillary costs amounting to teur 1,664 (previous year: teur
1,696) is mainly the result of costs that cannot be passed on in
accordance with exemption clauses agreed in tenants' contracts.

in the interests of economic sustainability, but also to make its
rental properties/tenancy agreements more attractive, the
Group has focused increasingly on optimising operating and an-
cillary costs. these include in particular savings made through
the signing of new insurance contracts as well as framework
agreements for gas supply and waste disposal.

with the exception of one property in the augusta Portfolio,
rental income was realised in the case of all investment prop-
erty. operating expenses directly attributable to the one prop-
erty were not significant in the financial year, amounting to teur
70 (previous year: teur 70).

4. other real estate related operating expenses
other property-related expenses include property management
costs that cannot be passed onto tenants as operating costs be-
cause they are already covered in the rent charged. these in-
clude, for instance, costs to rectify structural defects caused by
wear to the buildings or ageing as well as administrative and an-
cillary costs resulting from vacant space.

in the 2011 financial year, the abovementioned expenses fell by
teur 988 (12%) to teur 7,543 (previous year: 8,531). as in the
previous year, the capitalisation under ias 17.52 of external bro-
kers' leasing commission for finding new tenants for vacant
space, amounting to teur 430, and insurance payments,
amounting to teur 614, had a negative impact.

5. administrative expenses
Compared with the previous year administrative expenses are
made up as follows:
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teur 2011 2010

legal and consulting fees 1,737 1,810

marketing 891 470

accounting and administration 820 659

rental and ancillary costs 791 948

automobile costs 633 543

recruitment and other personnel costs 545 553

ancillary financing costs 530 489

auditing costs 493 510

insurance/contributions and taxes 476 345

edP costs 298 261

remuneration of supervisory Board 204 204

external services 154 397

rental and leasing costs for equipments 99 121

other 873 698

total 8,544 8,008

the increase in legal and consulting fees is primarily connected
with the surveyors' fees for the valuation of the real estate port-
folio required at the balance sheet date of teur 480 (previous
year: teur 550), advice on rental law (teur 486; previous year:
teur 490), guarantee advice (teur 67; previous year: teur 121)
and other issues relating to agreements (teur 189; previous
year: teur 180).

marketing costs primarily include costs for the preparation of re-
ports and presentations, property marketing, Group events and
the preparation and publication of the annual report. 

Notes

notes to the profit and 
loss account



in the financial year the company granted compensation of a
total of eur 204,475.00 to members of the supervisory Board.
additional details, particularly disclosures pursuant to § 314 Para.
1 no. 6. letter a) hGB, are given in the remuneration report,
which forms an integral part of the management report, in the
"Corporate governance" chapter.

the following fees were incurred for the services supplied by the
auditors of the financial statements rödl & Partner Gmbh,
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, steuerberatungsgesellschaft,
nuremberg, in financial years 2011 and 2010:

the average number of employees has risen from 110 employ-
ees at the end of 2010 to 121 employees at the end of 2011. on
average over the year, 24 members of staff were employed at
diC asset aG and 97 at diC onsite Gmbh.

details on the management Board's remuneration pursuant to
§ 314 Para. 1 no. 6. letter a) hGB, are given in the remuneration
report, which forms an integral part of the management report,
in the "Corporate governance" chapter.

7. depreciation and amortisation
depreciation and amortisation primarily affect recognised real
estate and, to a lesser extent, office furniture and equipment and
intangible fixed assets. amortisation and depreciation fell by
teur 1,030 (3.3%) from teur 30,818 to teur 29,788 compared
with the previous year, due in part to the reduction in the port-
folio in 2009 and 2010 due to sales.  

8. Fee from real estate management
the income relates to asset and property management, leasing
and disposition fees charged by diC asset aG and diC onsite
Gmbh to the following unconsolidated companies:

with the exception of diC onsite Gmbh's customers, transac-
tions with related parties within the meaning of ias 24.9 are in-
volved.

9. other income
other operating income is made up as follows:
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teur 2011 2010

audits of the financial statements 398 435
other auditors’ activities 75 75
other consulting activities 20 0

total 493 510

teur 2011 2010

diC office Balance i Gmbh 1,642 248
diC hi Portfolio Gmbh 1,428 778
deutsche immobilien Chancen 
Beteiligungs aG 640 1,289
diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh 336 395
diC msref ht Portfolio Gmbh 312 172
diC msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh 269 123
diC msref ff südwest Portfolio Gmbh 242 190
diC lB Portfolio Gmbh * 155 151
diC maintor Gmbh 100 0
Customers of diC onsite Gmbh 88 83
diC Zeil Portfolio Gmbh * 47 60
deutsche immobilien Chancen 
objekt Coburg Gmbh 24 21
diC eB Portfolio Gmbh * 18 25
deutsche immobilien Chancen 
aG & Co. KGaa 9 8

total 5,310 3,543

teur 2011 2010

income from non-monetary benefits 282 244
release of individual impairment 
charges on receivables 126 689
elimination of statute-barred liabilities 724 125
miscellaneous 118 339

total 1,250 1,397

Notes

notes to the profit and 
loss account

the fees for audits of the financial statements relate to the audit
of the consolidated financial statements and the financial state-
ments of diC asset aG and its affiliates prescribed by law. 

the fees for other assurance activities relate in particular to the
audit review of the interim financial statements in accordance
with ifrs as well as consultancy services for the letter of comfort.

6. Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are composed of the wages and salaries of
the staff of diC asset aG and diC onsite Gmbh of teur 9,546
(previous year: teur 8,634), as well as the related social security
taxes of teur 1,287 (previous year: teur 1,151).

miscellaneous income primarily contains income from addi-
tional services performed for tenants (e.g. deconstruction work
performed under the terms of a tenant's lease) as well as income
from out-of-court settlements and insurance payments. 

* until 30 september 2011 consolidated on a proportionate basis



10. other expenses
this item is mainly influenced by changes in the exchange rate
between the euro and the swiss franc. the valuation as at the
reporting date of two bank loans denominated in swiss francs
that were taken out in 2003 (nominal amount as at 31 decem-
ber 2011 Chf 7,713,510.34) gave rise to foreign currency losses
in the amount of teur 199 (previous year: teur 1,156). amongst
others, it also contains aperiodic expenses amounting to teur
118. 

11.Profit on disposal of investment property
Boosted by the positive performance of the transaction market
and by strategic sales within the scope of portfolio adjustment,
the Group has achieved profits from the sale of investment prop-
erty amounting to teur 1,682 (previous year: teur 5,118). this
corresponds to a return of 10% (previous year: 6%) on the pro-
ceeds of sales. 

the company sold a total of six individual properties and two
apartments under shared ownership. among others, the prop-
erties einsteinstrasse, ulm, Prinzregentenstrasse, Berlin and
müllerstrasse, Berlin were sold. selling costs of teur 192 (previ-
ous year: teur 220) were offset against the proceeds of sales.

12. Share of the profit of associates
this item refers to the profit and loss reported by associates to be
assumed in accordance with the equity method in the amount
of teur 2,386 (previous year: teur 7,812).

in 2011, the result from associates was influenced, among other
things, by the loss of rental income from the maintor site due to
the start of construction work on this project development and
by carefully selected sales. a total of ten properties were sold.
the proceeds from sales in 2011 amount to teur 37,103 (previ-
ous year: teur 31,139); diC asset aG's pro rata capital amounted
to teur 245 (previous year: teur 1,365).

the result for associates includes income from customer-spe-
cific contract manufacture of teur 332 for the Primus section of
our maintor project development in accordance with ias 11.22.

overall, the negative financing costs decreased by teur 8,013
(13%) compared with the same period in the previous year. the
reduction in interest expense is directly linked to the low level of
interest rates throughout the year, from which the Group has
benefited in the case of its variable-rate financing instruments
(20%), which has enabled it to offset the increase in financing
volume.

the expense from the amortisation of processing fees arising in
connection with financial liabilities stood at teur 1,557 (previous
year: teur 1,075) in the financial year. 

the financial results presented include expenses of teur 157
(previous year: income of teur 105) from the valuation of deriv-
ative financial instruments (interest-rate swaps and caps) at fair
value as well as an expense item totalling teur 249 due to two
ineffective swaps. 

Current income taxes exclusively affect profits subject to taxa-
tion of consolidated subsidiaries and diC asset aG. the current
tax expense is composed primarily of corporate taxes incl. soli-
darity surcharge (teur 1,720) and trade taxes on earnings (teur
908). on 31 december 2011, diC asset aG again reports a tax
loss carryforward for the purposes of trade taxes of teur 1,706.
Because of the use of trade tax loss carryforwards, the Group's
parent company only accrued current trade tax expenses to a
limited extent (teur 2). the decrease in expenses for current in-
come taxes is due primarily to the taxation of the Group's parent
company diC asset aG. the deferred taxes result from timing
differences between tax balance sheet values and ifrs balance
sheet values and from existing income tax loss carryforwards.in
the Group, there are corporate tax loss carryforwards of eur 50
million and trade tax loss carryforwards of eur 53 million. there
is no time limit for tax loss carryforwards to be carried forward in
Germany.

the intrinsic value of deferred tax assets is calculated based on
management’s estimates on their realisation. this depends on
the accrual of future profits subject to tax during the periods in
which tax valuation differences reverse and tax loss carryfor-
wards can be claimed. diC asset assumes on the basis of plan-
ning for the individual portfolios, that future income subject to
tax will be sufficient to realise the deferred tax assets with some
degree of probability. the current assessment of the intrinsic
value of deferred tax assets may change and may necessitate
greater or lesser value adjustments.

teur 2011 2010

interest income 7,898 6,416
interest expense -63,921 - 70,452

net financing costs -56,023 - 64,036

teur 2011 2010

Current taxes -2,082 -2,484
deferred taxes 163 622

income taxes -1,919 -1,862

income from this fixed-price order was reported less the con-
struction costs incurred based on the construction work per-
formed. in accordance with ifriC 15.8, the proceeds received
from the order only relate to the construction work for the build-
ing, not the provision of the building plot.

13. Net financing costs
the item is made up as follows:
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14. income taxes



Concerning the disclosures on defererred taxes on the items
taken into account in „other income“, we refer to item 30 f –
hedging reserve.

on temporary differences with the amount of eur 82.0 million
(previous year eur 128.1 million) in connection with shares in
affiliated companies (outside basis differences) and on tempo-
rary differences with the amount of eur 11.5 million (previous
year eur 11.8 million) in connection with associated companies,
no deferred taxes were applied. the application was omitted,
because it is not likely that these temporary differences reverse
in foreseeable future.

the difference between anticipated tax expense and actual tax
expense can be reconciled in the table below.

15. Profit attributable to minority
Profits allocated to minority shareholders of teur 105 (previous
year teur 85) were credited to minority interests in equity from
the results of the financial year. the complete changes in the
profits and losses owing to minority interest can be found in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

16.  earnings per share, Net asset value (Nav) and Nav 
per share

in accordance with ias 33.12, earnings per share are calculated
from the Group profit after minority interests and the number
of the shares in circulation on an annual average.

in accordance with ias 33.26, the weighted average of shares in
circulation in the period and all other periods presented must
be reported if an event occurs which changes the number of
shares in circulation without this thereby entailing a change in
resources. according to ias 33.27 (b), this is the case if a free el-
ement, such as the issue of subscription rights to existing share-
holders, is granted in the issue.

   

eur 2011 2010 2010

Group profit for the 
period after 
minority interests 10,496,987 16,380,056 16,380,056

weighted average 
number of 
shares issued 44,278,787 37,228,123 38,297,441

Basic earnings per share 0.24 0.44

Basic earnings with the 
new number of shares 0.43

teur 2011 2010

tax loss carryforwards +2,307 + 638
real estate valuations -1,111 + 293
derivatives +44 - 5
Capitalising "rent-free periods" -41 - 99
Capital transaction costs -325 - 303
Bond issue -465 0
other adjustments +246 + 98

total +163 + 622

teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

active passive actice passive

loss carryforwards 11,835 9,051 0

Properties 1,461 10,758 0 9,139

derivative financial 
instruments 11,121 0 9,242 0

long-term 
interest-bearing debt 0 581 0 0

other 24 310 1,172 369

total 24,441 11,649 19,465 9,508
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teur 2011 2010

Pre-tax Group results 12,521 18,327

applicable statutory tax rate (in %) 31.925% 31.925%

expected tax expense 3,997 5,851

increase or decrease in income tax 
burden due to:

trade tax reduction and 
differences in tax rates -4,375 -4,288

tax-free income -413 -751

non-deductible expenses 1,966 1,202

effects from associated companies -161 -2,924

effects from non-deducted fiscal losses 1,160 3,514

taxes for previous periods -241 -809

other effects -14 67

actual total tax expense 1,919 1,862

no deferred taxes were reported on corporate tax loss carryfor-
wards of around eur 12 million (previous year eur 14 million) or
trade tax loss carryforwards of around eur 22 million (previous
year eur 21 million). 

deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that
apply or will apply at the date they are realised. the corporate tax
rate of 15%, the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% and the company-
specific trade income tax rate are thus taken into account in cal-
culating domestic deferred taxes.

deferred tax income compares with the previous year as follows:

deferred tax claims and liabilities can be classified into the fol-
lowing issues:

the target tax rate to be applied was determined on the basis of
the tax rates that applied in Germany in 2011 and 2010. a tax
rate of 31.925% was taken as a basis here. this is calculated from
a nominal corporate tax rate incl. solidarity surcharge of 15.825%
and a nominal trade tax rate of 16.10%. the trade tax rate is
based on a levy rate of the City of frankfurt of 460%.



the new share quantity to be taken into account for 2010 is pro-
duced from the free element of 1.97% or 771,407 shares applied
to the number of ordinary shares before the capital increase
(39,187,498). 

for 2011, the management Board will propose a dividend in the
amount of teur 16,001 (eur 0.35 per share). the dividend in the
amount of teur 7,669 will be subject to capital gains tax this is
expected to come to teur 2,022. these dividends will not be
recorded as a liability in accordance with ias 10 in these con-
solidated financial statements. 

ffo (funds from operations), which represents income from
portfolio management, is calculated as follows in line with the
ePra standards:

teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Book value of the real estate 1,902,129 1,718,215

real estate in accordance with ifrs 5 2,300

value difference at fair value -11,401 - 44,906

market value of the real estate 1,893,028 1,673,309

Carrying value Co-investmentss 70,057 64,670

value difference at fair value 2,746 1,189

market value of the interests 72,803 65,859

+/- other assets/liabilities 237,915 236,880

net credit liabilities at book value -1,519,677 -1,376,082

minority interests -1,497 -1,473

nav 682,572 598,493

deferred taxes on the difference 
between fair value/book value -7,966 -746

nnav 674,606 597,747

difference in value as 
compared to fair value 
of net credit liabilities -11,817 -32,406

nnnav 662,789 565,341

nav/share 14,93 15,27

nnav/share 14,76 15,25

nnnav/share 14,50 14,43

NoTeS To The balaNCe SheeT

17. investment property

teur 2011 2010

Cost

as at 1 January 1,820,238 2,109,166

additions resulting from acquisitions 216,434 4,994

additions resulting from
investments in expansion 15,439 9,564

Classification "held for sale" 2,632 0

disposals 17,191 303,486

as at 31 december 2,032,288 1,820,238

depreciation

as at 1 January 102,023 84,941

additions 29,515 30,448

Classification "held for sale" 332 0

disposals 1,047 13,366

as at 31 december 130,159 102,023

Book value 1 January 1,718,215 2,024,225

Book value 31 december 1,902,129 1,718,215

fair value 1,893,028 1,673,309

investment properties are valued at cost when they are added
to the portfolio. transaction costs are included when they are
valued for the first time. the cost model in accordance with ias
40.56 is used for subsequent valuations. here, investment prop-
erties are valued in accordance with the provisions of ias 16, i.e.
at cost less scheduled and unscheduled depreciation as well as
appreciation. 

Notes

notes to the balance sheet

teur 2011 2010

net rental income 106,755 113,941

administrative expenses -8,544 -8,008

Personnel expenses -10,216 -9,409

other result +959 +184

income from 
property management fees 5,310 3,543

result from associated companies 2,386 7,812

interest result -56,023 -64,036

funds from operations (ffo) 40,627 44,027

in accordance with the recommendation of the european Pub-
lic real estate association (ePra), the net asset value (nav) is cal-
culated as at 31 december 2011 and 31 december 2010 as fol-
lows:
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In addition to the sensitivity analysis for fair values included in
the risk report (page 51 of the management report), we have
also calculated the sensitivity of the fair values of the properties
so as to be able to better evaluate the impact of potential inter-
est rate fluctuations. This produced the following result:

If the capitalisation and discount interest rates should increase
by 25 basis points due to the macroeconomic or company situ-
ation, the fair value of the properties would fall by EUR 93.4 mil-
lion. A fall by the same amount would increase the fair value by
EUR 101.8 million.

As at 31 December 2010, the acquisition costs included interest
on debt capital of TEUR 2,801 (previous year: TEUR 2,499).
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Change in value in use of the properties

The fair values of investment property, which are calculated in
addition, are based entirely on the findings of the independent
valuer contracted for this purpose, Cushman & Wakefield, which
has undertaken a valuation in accordance with internationally
recognised standards. The calculation of market values is based
on a dynamic calculation of their present values, the discounted
cash flow method. A cash flow period of ten years is generally
taken, at the end of which the property is assumed to be sold.
The discounting rate recognised for the valuation comprises a
risk-free rate, which can be derived from the average current
yield on long-term, fixed income federal bonds and a property-
specific risk premium, which reflects the restricted fungibility of
real estate investments in relation to more fungible forms of in-
vestment such as equities or bonds. The average current yield
over the past ten years (2002 to 2011) used in the calculation
amounted to 3.70% (previous year: 4.0%). The property-specific
risk premium ranged from 1.30% to 3.30% (previous year: 2.25%
to 2.50%). As in the previous year, the average discount rate
ranged from 6.25% to 6.50%.

When carrying out impairment tests on investment properties in
accordance with IAS 36, the book values of the investment prop-
erties are compared with the values in use derived from the fair
values. The comparison is based on the gross market values, i.e.
excluding transactions costs which may accrue in the event of
the properties actually being sold. In addition, parameters spe-
cific to the company were used when calculating comparative
values. These parameters take account of the fair value of the
properties within corporate use. In this respect, the important
factor is, in particular, planning for the retention of the property
in the Group as well as resultant anticipated cash flows and the
lower management costs in comparison with the standard val-
uation due to the Group's in-house asset management. An ob-
jective asset-specific capitalisation rate is also calculated in ac-
cordance with the criteria of IAS 36.A17. 

TEUR 2011 2010

Cost

As at 1 January 1,064 1,025

Additions 185 39

Disposals 0 0

As at 31 December 1,249 1,064

Depreciation

As at 1 January 545 458

Additions 166 119

Disposals 0 32

As at 31 December 711 545

Book value 1 January 519 567

Book value 31 December 538 519

18. Office furniture and equipment

19. Investments in associates
The share of Group profit and loss due to associated companies,
none of which are listed, and the share of their assets and debt
are as follows:
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in TEUR 2011 2010

Assets 1,574,368 1,373,211

Debt 1,281,536 1,177,155

Net assets 292,832 196,056

Income 87,372 160,659
Expenses 78,118 132,699

Annual profit 9,254 27,960



20. derivative financial instruments
interest-rate swaps and interest-rate caps were concluded.
within the framework of the swap contracts it uses, the Group
pays fixed interest on a specific capital sum and in return re-
ceives variable interest on the same capital sum. these interest
rate swaps offset the effects of future changes in interest rates on
the cash flows of the variable interest-bearing investments. 

in the case of the caps, in exchange for the payment of a pre-
mium, the seller guarantees the purchaser an upper interest-rate
limit for a specified capital amount and a specified term. if the
reference interest rate exceeds the upper interest-rate limit, the
seller offsets the difference for the period in question.

at the balance sheet date, the following derivative financial in-
struments were held:

eur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
nominal fair nominal fair
volume value volume value

assets

interest-rate hedge
agreements (caps) 20,000 62 10,000 171

liabilities

interest-rate hedge
agreements (swaps) 1,065,155 70,254 880,463 58,116

the book values of the derivatives are equal to their market
 values. 

in principle, contracts for derivative financial instruments and fi-
nancial transactions are only concluded with major banks to
keep credit risks as low as possible.

in teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
nominal fair nominal faie-
volume volume volume volume

assets (caps)

diC eB Portfolio 
Gmbh 20,000 62 10,000 171
(prev. year pro rata)

liabilities (swaps)

diC asset aG 100,000 3,595 0 0

diC aP Portfolio 
Gmbh 354,800 22,185 337,800 21,229

diC objekt Braun-
schweig Gmbh 10,875 361 12,155 147

diC objekt 
nürnberg Gmbh 19,110 177 21,638 660

diC objekt 
hannover Gmbh 17,290 160 18,595 568

diC oP Portfolio 
Gmbh 250,000 29,384 260,000 23,907

diC vP Portfolio 
Gmbh 86,500 2,387 86,500 5,273

diC 25 Portfolio 
Gmbh 68,700 6,555 0 0

diC 26 Portfolio 
Gmbh 60,000 1,602 71,000 3,685

diC rmn Portfolio 
Gmbh 18,300 921 21,475 1,345

diC lB Portfolio 
Gmbh 
(prev. year pro rata) 13,800 137 21,300 13

diC eB Portfolio 
Gmbh 
(prev. year pro rata) 17,780 837 0 0

diC rP Portfolio 
Gmbh 48,000 1,953 30,000 1,289

total liabilities 1,065,155 70,254 880,463 58,116
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diC asset aG holds a 20% interest in the diC office Balance i spe-
cial fund and provides one of seven members with voting rights
in its investment committee in the shape of the committee’s
chairman. the Group also provides asset and portfolio manage-
ment services.

in the first quarter of 2011, the Group placed the shares (12.2%)
in the "diC office Balance i" fund held indirectly via ProdiC
Gmbh. 
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teur 2011 2010

share of Book share of Book
voting value voting value
rights rights

interest in:

diC office Balance i 
(fund) 14.0% 34,175 17.0% 27,494

diC maintor 
Zweite Beteiligungs 
Gmbh & Co.KG 40.0% 21,702 40.0% 21,547

diC msref ht 
Portfolio Gmbh 20.0% 4,111 20.0% 3,573

diC msref ff südwest 
Portfolio Gmbh 20.0% 3,958 20.0% 4,263

diC msref hmdd 
Portfolio Gmbh 20.0% 3,518 20.0% 3,202

diC maintor iii Gmbh 40.0% 1,275 40.0% 2,590

diC opportunistic 
Gmbh 20.0% 1,253 20.0% 1,818

ProdiC  Gmbh 0% 0 50.0% 113

diC maintor 
verwaltungs Gmbh 40.0% 4 40.0% 5

diC development 
Gmbh 20.0% 61 20.0% 63

diC GmG Gmbh 20.0% 0 20% 2

70,057 64,670

the nominal and fair values of the interest-rate hedge agree-
ments are as follows:



21. intangible assets

teur 2011 2010

Cost

as at 1 January 588 468

additions 3 122

disposals 0 2

as at 31 december 591 588

amortisation

as at 1 January 333 247

additions 106 86

disposals 0 0

as at 31 december 439 333

Book value 1 January 255 221

Book value 31 december 152 255

teur 2011 2010

as at 1 January 1,210 1,393

additions 699 603

use 160 97

release 126 689

as at 31 december 1,623 1,210

the amount stated relates to rights to use of a cafeteria in the
business park in ulm and software.

22. receivables from the sale of real estate
this item contains a remaining current purchase price claim
from 2011 of teur 358 (previous year: teur 7.967). 

23. Trade receivables
these are primarily receivables from operating and ancillary
costs. all receivables are due within a year.

in financial year 2011, impairment charges were applied to trade
receivables of teur 1,623 (previous year: teur 1,210).

there have been the following changes to impairment charges
for receivables:

as at 31 december 2011, negative market values of teur 58,806
(previous year: teur 48,816) after the deduction of deferred
taxes were recorded in equity. the interest-rate hedge agree-
ments have residual terms of between nine months and nine
years.

in financial year 2011, there were interest rate hedge agreements
in the form of swaps and caps to secure future variable cash
flows at the joint ventures in which diC asset aG has direct and
indirect holdings of 20% and 40%. the hedged pro rata volumes
and fair values from the point of view of diC asset are composed
as follows:

• swap nominal volume teur 122,456, fair value teur -2,010

• Cap nominal volume teur 21,811, fair value teur 12

• Collar nominal volume teur 10,311, fair value teur - 93

the property companies pay fixed-interest rates between 1.40%
and 4.55%, which are matched against interest at 1-month or 3-
month euribor rates. the expenses and revenues arising from
the hedging of future cash flows from interest payments are
recorded by the property companies under equity with no effect
on income in as much as they relate to actual changes in value.
diC asset aG reports its share worth teur –1,692 (previous year
teur –2,531) after deducting deferred taxes in Group equity in
the hedging reserve in accordance with ias 28.39.

teur nominal fair value

term < 1 year 146,500 3,988

term > 1 918,655 66,266

as at the balance sheet date, there were no further overdue
 receivables that were not value-adjusted.

24. receivables from related parties 
the receivables result predominantly from the granting of loans.
in general, an average interest rate of 4.5% to 9.25% p.a. applies
to the loans. relations with related parties are described in de-
tail under item "legal transactions with related parties" on page
100.
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27. other assets
this item mainly includes prepaid ground rents of teur 1,297
(previous year: teur 1,313), the ring-fenced funds in the amount
of teur 3,500 deposited with dZ-Bank to service liabilities from
derivatives and other prepaid costs such as insurance premiums.

28. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are unrestricted available for the
company. 

29. Non-current assets held for sale
the properties reported as being held for sale in the financial
year 2011 concern two properties and two apartments under
shared ownership from our commercial portfolio, east region,
whose sale or transfer of title, benefits and obligations is sched-
uled for 2012. the measures still required to complete the plan
make it unlikely that the plan will be significantly amended or
withdrawn.

the financial liabilities connected with non-current assets
amount to teur 2,231. they fall due for repayment as soon as
the purchase price has been paid and the title, benefits and ob-
ligations pertaining to the properties have been transferred.

30. equity

a. Subscribed capital
the capital increase agreed on 15 march 2011 resulted in the
subscribed capital of the parent company diC asset aG in-
creasing from teur 39,187 to teur 45.719 as at the balance
sheet date. 6,531,249 new shares were issued from the autho-
rised capital resolved by the General shareholders' meeting on
5 July 2010, meaning that 45,718,747 bearer shares in the form
of no-par shares, each of which represents an interest in the cap-
ital stock of eur 1.00, are issued on the balance sheet date. there
are no other classes of shares. all shares have the same rights
and obligations. each share gives entitlement to one vote at the
General shareholders' meeting.

b. authorised capital
with the resolution of the ordinary General shareholders' meet-
ing of 5 July 2011, the management Board was authorised, with

25. receivables from income taxes
the figure reported relates to imputable taxes and corporate tax
reclaims.   

teur Nominal fair value

deposits 2,017 2,017

"rent-free period" receivables 1,807 1,291

value added tax 486 349

Creditors with debit balances 27 27

other 53 271

4,390 3,955

teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

ias receiv- liabil- receiv- liabil-
24.9 ables ities ables ities

diC opportunistic Gmbh b (ii) 30,447 0 24,342 0

deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa b (ii) 22,720 0 21,470 0

diC hi Portfolio Gmbh b (ii) 21,130 0 7,495 0

diC maintor Gmbh b (ii) 20,190 338 0 0

maintor Zweite Beteiligungs KG b (ii) 14,754 0 13,666 0

diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh b (ii) 11,743 0 12,101 0

diC msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh b (ii) 1,594 0 2,102 0

diC maintor iii Gmbh b (ii) 1,418 0 0 0

diC msref ht Portfolio Gmbh b (ii) 1,260 0 1,499 0

deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG b (ii) 1,055 0 849 0

diC msref ff südwest Gmbh b (ii) 938 0 1,845 0

diC office Balance i b (ii) 741 0 296 0

ProdiC Gmbh b (ii) 0 0 13,563 0

diC Zeil Portfolio Gmbh (*) b (ii) 0 0 2,674 0

diC lB Portfolio Gmbh (*) b (ii) 0 0 2,117 0

msref sparks B,v, b (ii) 0 0 827 0

diC eB  Gmbh (*) b (ii) 0 0 415 0

diC Projektentwicklung Gmbh & Co. KG b (ii) 0 9 350 0

other b (ii) 68 0 71 18

total 128,058 347 105,682 18

(*) fully consolidated as at the balance sheet date    
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the supervisory Board's approval, to increase the share capital
of the Company by 4 July 2016 by one or more issues of new in-
dividual bearer shares for cash and/or contributions in kind by
up to a total of eur 22,859,000.00 (authorised capital).

shareholders are to be granted subscription rights here. the
shares can be accepted by one or more financial institutions
specified by the management Board or companies within the
meaning of § 186 Para. 5 sentence 1 aktG, subject to the obli-
gation that they offer them to the shareholders for subscription
(indirect subscription right). the management Board is, however,
authorised to exclude shareholders' subscription rights with the
approval of the supervisory Board,

(i) to remove fractional amounts from the shareholders' sub-
scription right;

(ii) if the new shares are issued against cash contributions and
the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower
than the market price of the shares already listed that enjoy
essentially the same terms. the number of shares issued in
this way, combined with the number of other shares that
have been issued or sold with subscription rights excluded
in direct or indirect application of § 186 Para. 3 sentence 4
aktG, and the number of shares that can be created through
the exercise of option and/or conversion rights or the ful-
fillment of conversion obligations from option and/or con-
version debentures that have been issued over the duration
of this authorisation with subscription rights excluded in ac-
cordance with § 186 Para. 3 sentence 4 aktG do not exceed
10% of share capital, neither of share capital at the time this
authorisation becomes effective nor at the time when it is
exercised;

(iii) if the capital increase is carried out against contributions in
kind, in particular, for the purpose of the acquisition of com-
panies, parts of companies, interests in companies or other
assets associated with the purpose of the acquisition or
within the scope of business combinations; the number of
shares issued in this way may not exceed 20% of share cap-
ital, neither of share capital at the time this authorisation be-
comes effective nor at the time when it is exercised;

(iv) if it is necessary in order to grant holders or creditors of op-
tions and/or convertible bonds with option and/or conver-
sion rights or conversion obligations which have been or
are still to be issued by the company or group companies in
which the company holds a 100% stake, either directly or
indirectly, a subscription right on new shares to the extent
that they would be entitled to after exercising the option or
conversion rights or after fulfillment of conversion obliga-
tions as a shareholder.

the management Board has not made use of the authorisation
described above.

c. Contingent capital
By virtue of the resolution of the General shareholders' meeting
of 5 July 2010, the management Board is authorised to grant,
with the approval of the supervisory Board, bearer bonds with
warrants or convertible bonds (together, "bonds") on one or
more occasions up to 4 July 2015 in a total nominal amount of
up to eur 300,000,000.00 and to grant conversion or option
rights to holders of bonds (including with a conversion obliga-
tion) on bearer shares in the company representing a propor-
tionate amount of the share capital of up to eur 19,590,000.00
in total subject to the precise terms of the option or convertible
bond conditions (together also "bond conditions"). the bonds
can only be issued against cash payment. as a basic principle,
the shareholders have a subscription right, i.e. the convertible
and warrant bonds are in principle to be offered to the com-
pany's shareholders for subscription. the bonds can also be ac-
cepted by one or more financial institutions or companies within
the meaning of § 186 Para. 5 sentence 1 of the German stock
Corporation act (aktG), subject to the obligation that they offer
them to the shareholders for subscription (indirect subscription
right). if bonds are issued by a Group company, the company
assumes the granting of the corresponding subscription right. 

the management Board is, however, authorised, with the su-
pervisory Board's approval, not to grant shareholders the right to
subscribe to the bonds,

(i) for fractional amounts arising from the subscription ratio; 
(ii) insofar as the management Board, having undertaken a

proper examination, concludes that the issue price is not
significantly lower than the theoretical market value of the
bonds calculated using recognised methods of financial
mathematics. this authorisation to exclude a subscription
right does not, however, apply to bonds with a conversion
or option right (including with a conversion obligation) on
shares to which is attributed at most a proportional amount
of 10% in total of the existing share capital at the time of its
entry into force or at the time of the exercising of this au-
thorisation, whichever is lower. this upper limit of 10% of
share capital must include the proportional amount of share
capital attributed to shares, which were issued over the du-
ration of this authorisation within the scope of a capital in-
crease under the exclusion of subscription rights as per §
186 Para. 3 sentence 4 aktG or which were sold as acquired
treasury shares over the duration of this authorisation in a
manner other than via a stock exchange or via an offer to all
shareholders with the application mutatis mutandis of § 186
Para. 3 sentence 4 aktG;

(iii) if it is necessary in order to grant holders or creditors of
bonds with warrants and convertible bonds with option
and/or conversion rights or conversion obligations which
have been or are still to be issued by the company or group
companies in which the company holds a direct or indirect
100% stake a subscription right to bonds to the extent that
they would be entitled to as a shareholder after exercising
the option or conversion rights or after fulfillment of con-
version obligations.   

iin the case of the issue of warrant bonds, each individual bond
will have one or more option certificates which entitle the holder
to obtain bearer shares of the company in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the option to be determined by the
management Board. the term of the option right cannot exceed
the term of the warrant bond. there may also be a provision that
fractions can be combined and/or settled in cash. in the case of
the issue of convertible bonds, holders are entitled to exchange
their individual bonds for bearer shares in the company subject
to the precise terms of the convertible bond conditions to be
defined by the management Board. the conversion ratio is cal-
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culated by dividing the nominal amount or the issue amount of
an individual bond, whichever is lower, by the fixed conversion
price for a bearer share in the company, and can be rounded up
or down to the nearest whole number; furthermore, an addi-
tional cash payment may also be determined. there may also be
a provision that fractions can be combined and/or settled in
cash. § 9 Para. 1 Para. and § 199 aktG shall remain unaffected. 

the convertible bond conditions may also provide for a conver-
sion obligation at the end of the term (or earlier). the propor-
tional amount of the share capital of the ordinary shares in the
company to be issued for individual bond may not exceed the
nominal amount of the individual bond. § 9 Para. 1 Para. and §
199 aktG shall remain unaffected. the convertible or warrant
bond conditions may grant the company the right to grant new
shares or treasury shares in the company to the bond creditors
instead of some or all of the payment of a sum due. furthermore,
the conversion or warrant bond conditions can determine in
each case that, in the case of conversion or exercising of an op-
tion, treasury shares in the company can also be granted. more-
over, it can be stipulated that the company does not grant
shares in the company to the parties entitled to a conversion or
an option but pays the equivalent value in cash of the shares,
which would otherwise have been delivered.

more details are given in the authorisation resolution. 

to service conversion or option rights or conversion or option
obligations as part of bonds issued by authorisation of the Gen-
eral shareholders' meeting of 5 July 2010 until 4 may 2015, the
company's share capital was conditionally increased by up to
eur 19,590,000.00 by the issue of up to 19,590,000 individual
bearer shares (contingent capital 2010).

the management Board has not made use of the authorisation
described above to issue convertible and/or bonds with war-
rants. 

d. The management board's powers to issue 
and redeem shares

the entitlement of the company's management Board to issue
or repurchase shares are all based on corresponding authorisa-
tion resolutions by the General shareholders' meeting, the main
contents of which are detailed below.

 authority to acquire treasury shares   
By virtue of the resolution of the ordinary General shareholders'
meeting on 5 July 2011, the management Board is authorised,
with the prior approval of the supervisory Board, to acquire
treasury shares up to a total of 10% of the company's share cap-
ital at the date of the resolution or - if this figure is lower - at the
date the authorisation is exercised. at no time may the acquired
shares together with other treasury shares in the possession of
the company or allocated to it under §§ 71 a ff. aktG represent
more than 10% of the share capital. the authorisation may not
be used for the purpose of trading in treasury shares. the au-
thorisation may be exercised as a whole or in instalments, once
or more than once, for one or more purposes, by the company
or by companies dependent on or majority-owned by it, or by
third parties acting on their behalf or on behalf of the company. 
at the management Board's discretion, and with the prior con-
sent of the supervisory Board, shares may be acquired through
the stock exchange or through a public offering directed to all
shareholders or a public invitation to all shareholders to submit
offers for sale. 

the volume of the public offering directed to all shareholders or
the public invitation to all shareholders to submit offers to sell
can be restricted. insofar as, in the case of a public offering or a
public invitation to submit offers to sell, the volume of the of-
fered shares exceeds the planned repurchase volume, the ac-
quisition can take place proportionate to the shares subscribed

to or offered in each case; to this extent, the shareholders' right
to offer their shares proportionate to the percentage of shares
that they hold is excluded. a preferential acceptance of smaller
numbers up to 100 offered shares per shareholder can be stip-
ulated, as can a rounding on the grounds of sound business
practice to avoid arithmetic fractions of shares. to this extent,
any further right of the shareholders to offer shares is excluded.
the public offering directed to all shareholders or the public in-
vitation to all shareholders to submit offers for sale may stipu-
late further conditions.

the management Board is authorised, with the prior consent of
the supervisory Board, to use the treasury shares acquired on
the basis of this authorisation for any legal purpose, in particu-
lar the following: (i) the shares may be withdrawn without a fur-
ther resolution by the General shareholders' meeting being re-
quired for the withdrawal or its execution. they may also be
withdrawn by the simplified procedure without capital reduc-
tion by adjusting the pro rata mathematical amount of the re-
maining shares in the company's share capital. if they are with-
drawn by the simplified procedure, the management Board is
authorised to amend the number of shares in the articles of as-
sociation. (ii) the shares may also be disposed of in a way other
than through the stock exchange or by an offer directed to all
shareholders if the purchase price payable in cash is not signifi-
cantly lower than the market price of essentially equivalent
shares already quoted. the number of shares sold in this way to-
gether with the number of other shares that were sold during
the life of this authorisation under the exclusion of subscription
rights in accordance with § 186 Para. 3 sentence 4 aktG or is-
sued from authorised capital, and the number of shares that can
be created through the exercise of option and/or conversion
rights or the fulfillment of conversion obligations arising from
warrant bonds and/or convertible bonds issued during the life
of this authorisation under the exclusion of subscription rights in
accordance with § 186 Para. 3 sentence 4 aktG do not exceed
10% of share capital, neither of share capital at the time this au-
thorisation becomes effective nor at the time when it is exer-
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cised. (iii) the shares can be sold against contributions in kind, in
particular, for the purpose of the acquisition of companies, parts
of companies, interests in companies or other assets associated
with the purpose of the acquisition or within the scope of busi-
ness combinations. (iv) the shares may be used to exercise con-
version and/or subscription rights, which arise on the basis of
the exercising of conversion and/or option rights or the fulfill-
ment of conversion obligations from or in connection with con-
vertible and/or warrant bonds, which were issued by the com-
pany or its group companies in which diC asset aG has a 100%
stake.

more details are given in the authorisation resolution.

as at 31 december 2011, the company holds no treasury shares.
it has not made use of the authorisation described above.

e. Share premium
the share premium totals teur 614,312 (previous year: teur
569,288). it contains the premium from the issue of shares. the
increase of teur 45,024 is the result of the capital increase per-
formed in early 2011. transaction costs in the amount of teur
1,020 were incurred in conjunction with the capital increase.
these were offset against capital reserves after deduction of de-
ferred taxes worth teur 325.

f. hedging reserve
the reserve contains the effects of hedge accounting, which
have no impact on results. 

at the balance sheet date, subsidiaries' cash flow hedge agree-
ments resulted, after the deduction of deferred taxes of teur
11,056 (previous year: teur 9,203) in unrealised losses of teur
58,806 (previous year: teur 48,816), while the cash flow hedge
agreements of fully consolidated companies resulted, after the
deduction of deferred taxes of teur 318 (previous year: teur
291) in unrealised losses of teur 1,692 (previous year: teur
1,547) (cf. 20 derivative financial instruments). the change is pri-
marily the result of fluctuations in the interest rate level.

g. retained earnings
retained earnings includes profits generated in the financial year
and in the past by the companies included in the consolidated
financial statements insofar as they have not been distributed.
the reconciliation of the Group profit for the period with re-
tained earnings is shown in the following table:

31. interest-bearing debt
the fair value of fixed-rate debt (table on page 92) is based on
discounted cash flows calculated on the basis of interest rates
from the yield curve of 31.12.2011 december 2010. when cal-
culating the fair value, the current market trend was also taken
into account in accordance with ias 39 aG78, meaning that the
margin of 1.25% or 1.50% on financial instruments has increased.
the book values of variable-rate debt are roughly equivalent to
their fair values.

the maturities of variable-rate and fixed rate-debt are shown on
the table on the following page. 

interest rates on the variable-rate debt were adjusted regularly.
interest-rate adjustment dates are based on the 1-month or 3-
month euribor plus an average margin of 1.01% (previous year:
0,97 %). fixed-rate debt carries an average interest rate of about
4.69% (previous year: 4,62%).

in may 2011, diC asset aG issued a corporate bond in the
amount of eur 70.0 million with a coupon of 5.875%. the bond
has a term of five years. on 16 may 2011, following initial place-
ment, regular trading commenced in the entry standard seg-
ment of the frankfurt stock exchange.

with the exception of our corporate bond (teur 68,589, previ-
ous year teur 0) and a liability to Provinzial rheinland lebensver-
sicherung aG of teur 8,750 (previous year teur 8,750), the in-
terest-bearing debt was secured entirely through charges over
property in the year under review. the loan from Provinzial
rheinland lebensversicherung aG was primarily secured
through rights and claims from holdings in the share capital and
common stock of the property companies of the fraspa  port -
folio.

teur 2011 2010

Profit for the period 10,602 16,465

Profit/loss carryforwards 28,243 23,620

dividend payouts -16,001 - 11,757

Profit attributable 
to minority interests -105 - 85

Consolidated retained earnings 22,739 28,243
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32. Trade payables 
trade payables amounting to teur 5,323 (previous year: teur
3,451) resulted from deferred ancillary costs (teur 2,329; previ-
ous year: teur 1,934) and from the use of services. they are due
within a year. 

33. Provisions
the company has individual legal disputes with former and cur-
rent shareholders of diC asset aG that are connected with ac-
tions for rescission and similar actions by individual minority
shareholders. teur 33 (previous year: teur 22) has been set
aside for the costs of the legal disputes.

outstanding invoices include, among other things, the survey-
ors' fees for the annual real estate valuations, for consultancy
work and other services. 

34. income taxes payable

35. other liabilities

in teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

trade tax 917 805

Corporate tax 892 2,059

Capital gains tax 277 0

2,086 2,864

in teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

deposits 2,264 2,189

advance rent payments received 1,888 1,844

outstanding invoices  1,828 3,588

Profit-sharing 1,491 1,158

value added tax 1,310 1,084

retention money 585 169

Property transfer tax 530 362

auditing costs 435 452

share-based payments 292 393

holiday pay 245 189

supervisory Board remuneration 237 204

tax consultancy costs 172 158

other 1,079 1,042

12,356 12,832

Fair value of fixed and variable rate debt  

teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Book value fair value Book value fair value

long-term (> 1 year) interest-bearing debt

variable-rate debt 234,959 234,959 182,804 182,804
fixed-rate debt 1,089,795 1,094,466 1,057,001 1,074,986

total 1,324,754 1,329,425 1,239,805 1,257,790

short-term (< 1 year) interest-bearing debt

variable-rate debt 59,218 59,218 48,854 48,854
fixed-rate debt 135,705 138,872 87,423 101,843

total 194,923 198,090 136,277 150,697

1,519,677 1,527,515 1,376,082 1,408,487

maturity of fixed and variable rate debt 

teur 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

total total weighted total total weighted
variable-rate fixed-rate interest rate variable-rate fixed-rate interest rate

debt debt in % debt debt in %
(fixed-rate (fixed-rate

debt) debt)

< 1 year 59,218 135,705 5.36% 48,854 87,423 4.86%

1 - 5 years 194,005 938,425 4.70% 167,490 963,183 4.90%

> 5 years 40,954 151,370 3.99% 15.314 93,818 2.84%

294,177 1,225,500 231,658 1,144,424
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the performance-related compensation agreement with the
members of the management Board is treated by the company
as a share price oriented compensation model. at the end of
2011, both members of the management Board hold options
on 155,000 so-called "virtual shares" of the company. these op-
tions may not be exercised by members of the management
Board until they have been on the board of diC asset aG for
three or four years. as at 31 december 2011, the company esti-
mates the fair value per option at eur 2.80 for mr. höller and eur
1.41 for tranche i and eur 1.26 for tranche ii for mr. Koch. this
valuation is based on the Black-scholes option pricing model.

the critical parameters for this valuation model are the share
price on the balance sheet date of eur 5.36, the exercise price of
eur 2.90 for mr. höller and, in accordance with the new con-
tractual agreement, eur 6.00 for mr. Koch, the standard devia-
tion from the expected share price return of 38.20% and the an-
nual term-dependent risk-free interest rate of 0.91% and 1.29%.
volatility as measured by the standard deviation from the ex-
pected share price returns is based on statistical analyses of the
daily share price over the last two years. 

due to the fall in share price in comparison with the previous
year, teur 101 was credited to earnings. represents a transac-
tion with a related party as defined in ias 24.9e. additional de-
tails, particularly disclosures pursuant to § 314 Para. 1 no. 6 let-
ter (a) sentences 5 to 9 hGB, are provided in the remuneration
report, which forms an integral part of the combined manage-
ment report.

liabilities arising from supervisory Board compensation are lia-
bilities to members of the supervisory Board and are conse-
quently recognised as liabilities to related parties within the
meaning of ias 24.9. the breakdown of the remuneration in ac-
cordance with ias 24.9 criteria is given in the section "related
party transactions" on page 107. for information on individual
members, see the details on supervisory Board compensation
in the remuneration report.

36. additional notes on financial instruments
financial instruments are contractual agreements that incorpo-
rate claims on cash and cash equivalents. in accordance with ias
32 and ias 39, these include non-derivative as well as derivative
financial instruments. non-derivative financial instruments in-
clude in particular cash and cash equivalents, trade payables and
receivables, and loans and advances. derivative financial instru-
ments comprise interest-rate hedging instruments.

the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which
an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. if
financial instruments are listed on an active market, the respec-
tive price represents this value. for unlisted bonds, liabilities to
banks, promissory note loans and other non-current financial li-
abilities, the fair value is calculated as the present value of future
cash flows, taking account of interest rates customary on the
market as applied to the corresponding maturities. 

due to the short terms of cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables and receivables and other current receivables and lia-
bilities, it is assumed that the fair value corresponds to the book
value in each case.

the following tables show the book values, valuations and fair
values for the individual financial assets and liabilities for each
individual category of financial instruments and link these to the
corresponding balance sheet items. the main valuation cate-
gories for the Group in accordance with ias 39 are available-for-
sale financial assets (afs), financial assets held for trading
(fahft), loans and receivables (lar) and financial liabilities
measured at amortised Cost (flaC). for details, see table on
page 94.

financial instruments recognised at fair value are divided into
several valuation levels in accordance with ifrs 7. these are fi-
nancial instruments that

– level 1: are valued at current market prices in an active
market for identical financial instruments,

– level 2: are valued at current market prices in an active
market for comparable financial instruments or
with valuation models whose key input factors are
based on observable market data, or

– level 3: are valued using input factors not based on ob-
servable market prices.

as at 31 december 2011, the division into valuation levels is as
follows:

teur Fair value level 1 level 2 level 3
31.12.2011

assets at fair value –
recognised as profit 
or loss

rated as such on 
first valuation 62 62

liabilities at 
fair value - 
no effect on income

derivative financial 
instruments with 
hedge relationship 70,254 70,254
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teur valuation valuation in accordance with ias 39
category book book

in acc. with value value
ias 39 31.12.11 31.12.11

Cost fair fair
(less value value

deprecia- recocnised recocnised
tion in equity in profit

or loss

assets

receivables from the sale 
of real estate lar 358 358 358

trade receivables lar 2,692 2,692 2,692

receivables from 
related parties lar 128,058 128,058 128,058

other receivables lar 3,904 3,904 3,904

other assets fahft 62 62 62

other assets lar 4,888 4,888 4,888

liquid funds lar 100,244 100,244 100,244

total lar 240,144 240,144 240,144

liaBilities

Corporate bond flaC 68,589 68,589 64,610

long-term interest-
bearing debt flaC 1,256,165 1,256,165 1,264,815

derivative financial 
instruments with 
hedge relationship n.a. 70,254 70,254 0 70,254

Current debt flaC 194,923 194,923 198,090

trade payables flaC 5,323 5,323 5,323

liabilities to related parties flaC 347 347 347

other liabilities flaC 12,356 12,356 12,356

liabilities in connection 
with financial investments 
held for sale flaC 2,231 2,231 2,231

total flaC 1,539,934 1,539,934 1,547,772

teur valuation valuation in accordance with ias 39
category book book

in acc. with value value
ias 39 31.12.10 31.12.10

Cost fair fair
(less value value

deprecia- recocnised recocnised
tion in equity in profit

or loss

assets

receivables from the sale 
of real estate lar 7,967 7,967 7,967

trade receivables lar 2,635 2,635 2,635

receivables from related 
parties lar 105,682 105,682 105,682

other receivables lar 3,955 3,955 3,955

other assets fahft 171 171 171

other assets lar 1,876 1,875 1,876

liquid funds lar 117,292 117,292 117,292

total lar 239,407 239,407 239,407

liaBilities

long-term interest-
bearing debt flaC 1,239,804 1,239,804 1,257,790

derivative financial 
instruments with 
hedge relationship n.a. 58,116 57,993 123 58,116

Current debt flaC 136,278 136,278 150,697

trade payables flaC 3,451 3,451 3,451

liabilities to related parties flaC 18 18 18

other liabilities flaC 12,832 12,832 12,832

total flaC 1,392,383 1,392,383 1,424,788

the values for the previous year are as follows:

teur interest income interest expense

2011 2010 2011 2010

financial assets at cost (lar) 7,898 6,416

financial liabilities at cost (flaC) 37,488 35,649

interest income and interest expense for each category are as follows:

* cf. number 22 for details

94

Notes

notes to the balance sheet



net gains and losses from derivatives are made up of gains from
the swap not underlying the cash flow hedge (teur 123) and
the losses from the ineffective portion from two cash flow
hedges (teur -249).

NoTeS To The CaSh Flow STaTemeNT

the cash flow statement shows how the Group's cash and cash
equivalents have changed in the course of the reporting year as
a result of cash inflows and outflows. Pursuant to ias 7 Cash flow
statements, cash flows are separated into those derived from
operating activities and those derived from investment and fi-
nancing activities.

the funds in the cash flow statement include all liquid funds
shown on the balance sheet, i.e. cash on hand and credit bal-
ances with banks that can be made available within three
months. 

Cash flows from investment and financing activities are calcu-
lated on the basis of payments. 
investing and financing activities that did not result in changes
in cash or cash equivalents are not included in the cash flow
statement.

the cash flow from operating activities is indirectly derived from
the profit for the period before interest and income tax. interest
paid and received and income tax paid are presented separately
in "Cash flows from operating activity".

Besides a large number of property-related measures, which
mainly serve to improve, modernise and protect the property
portfolio, investment in new properties - such as the addition of
retail properties in Bremen, Chemnitz and duisburg and the ac-
quisition of the 50% stake in the ebay, Berlin and Zeil portfolios
that had previously been held by msref - are primarily aimed
at expanding the property portfolio. Cash flows from the acqui-
sition and disposal of investment properties, which arise in this
connection, were shown in cash flow from investing activities.
investing activities also include cash flows from the acquisition
and disposal of plant and equipment, shares in associates, in-
vestments and intangible assets. Cash flows from the granting
and repayment of short-term loans to associates are also re-
ported here.

we reported the purchase of msref's 50% stake as a share pur-
chase in the cash flow statement with an underlying cost price
of eur 14.5 million. as a basic principle, however, we see this
transaction as a property investment, i.e. as the acquisition of an
asset or a group of assets and debts that do not represent busi-
ness operations within the meaning of ifrs 3. some eur 91 mil-
lion was invested in real estate as part of the acquisition proce-
dure and financial liabilities of some eur 70 million were taken
on. in addition, receivables and liabilities between the compa-
nies and shareholders were offset in the amount of eur 4.5 mil-
lion. 

Cash flow from financing activities is characterised by the inflow
of funds in the wake of the capital increase (eur 52 million), the
establishment of the corporate bond (eur 70 million), the rais-
ing of non-current loans, in particular to finance acquisitions in
the diC 25 portfolio (eur 80 million) and individual acquisitions
(eur 11 million), cash outflows for the scheduled repayment of
loans and unscheduled repayments in connection with sales
(eur 129 million) and dividend payments for financial year 2010
(eur 16 million). 

the values for the previous year are as follows:

teur Fair value level 1 level 2 level 3
31.12.2010

assets at fair value - 
recognised as profit 
or loss

rated as such on 
first valuation 171 171

liabilities at 
fair value - no effect 
on income

derivative financial 
instruments with 
hedge relationship 57,993 57,993

liabilities at 
fair value - 
recognised as profit 
or loss

derivative financial 
instruments with 
hedge relationship 123 123

net gains and losses from financial instruments are as follows:

teur 2011 2010

financial assets (fahft) -281 18

derivative financial instruments -125 -23
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teur north east Central west south Total 2010 total 2009

number of properties 53 39 57 61 78 288 318

market value (in eur million) 182.9 158.6 610.2 626.2 423.9 2,001.8 2,192.2

rental term*  5.6 years 3.6 years 6.8 years 5.5 years 4.2 years 5.4 years 5.6 years

rental yield* 6.4% 7.0% 6.2% 6.4% 7.3% 6.6% 6.6%

vacancy rate* 14.2% 16.4% 16.2% 14.4% 11.9% 14.3% 13.3%

SegmeNT rePorTiNg

the segment report is structured in line with ifrs "operating
segments", following the management approach. it corresponds
to internal reporting to the main decision-maker and is done on
the basis of the operational business segments in which diC
asset aG operates. 

the Group's growth in relation to the real estate portfolio, the
integration of diC onsite, the rising numbers of employees and
the broadening of the investment spectrum have gradually led
to changes in the organisation and management of the com-
pany. the previous paramount division between segments
based on the potential added value of investments (Core plus
and value added) has become less significant. management of
the Group and, accordingly, internal reporting to the main deci-
sion-makers is based primarily on regions, whereby portfolio
properties are combined as the Commercial Portfolio and the
investments as Co-investments. the balance sheet and profit
and loss account-related key indicators, which were originally
defined and maintained on the basis of ias 14, were gradually
supplemented or replaced by operating key figures in internal
company management.

the following segment report has been prepared in line with in-
ternal reporting by regions. since the operating figures - such as
annualised rental income, rental yield, rental terms in years and
vacancy rates are particularly relevant for the management
Board, these have been included in the report.

teur north east Central west south Total rental income
(P&l)

Commercial Portfolio 11,608 17,562 31,737 38,713 25,272 124,892 116,746

Co-investments 3,090 2,125 1,807 2,716 4,833 14,571

14,698 19,687 33,544 41,429 30,105 139,463 116,74

annualised rent for business segments 2011

Segment assets 31 december 2011

annualised rent for business segments 2010

Segment assets 31 december 2010

teur north east Central west south Total rental income
(P&l)

Commercial Portfolio 8,348 8,885 30,213 36,689 25,186 109,321 124,941

Co-investments 3,033 2,177 5,911 3,182 5,290 19,593

11,381 11,062 36,124 39,871 30,476 128,914

teur north east Central west south Total 2011 total 2010

number of properties 50 38 56 62 72 278 288

market value (in eur million) 234.2 270.6 646.5 641.3 409.7 2,202.3 2,001.8

rental term* 6.9 years 4.8 years 6.6 years 5.5 years 3.9 years 5.5 years 5.4 years

rental yield* 6.4% 7.3% 6.0% 6.5% 7.4% 6.6% 6.6%

vacancy rate* 11.1% 9.3% 16.2% 14.2% 9.5% 12.4% 14.3%

the difference between the annualised rents and the rental income as per the P&l of teur 15,667 in the commercial portfolio is the 
result of the adjusted figures from funds and sold properties.
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leasing
the Group is the lessor in a number of operating leases (rental
agreements) of the most varied kind via investment property,
from which it generates the majority of its income and earnings. 

as of the balance sheet date, investment properties with a book
value of teur 1,902,129 (previous year: teur 1,718,215) were let
under the Group's operating leasing. with regard to the disclo-
sures on accumulated amortisation and depreciation, and amor-
tisation and depreciation costs for the period as required under
ias 17.56, 57, please see the information in no. 17 "investment
property". diC asset aG will receive the following minimum lease
payments from existing leases with third parties: 

the substantial change in the expected minimum leasing pay-
ments is a result of the sale of properties and the associated
leases during the financial year.

the minimum lease payments include net rental income to be
collected up to the agreed lease expiration date or by the earli-
est possible date of termination on the part of the lessee, re-
gardless of whether notice of termination or non-renewal of a
lease is actually expected. 

in 2011, there were conditional lease payments (ias 17.4)
amounting to teur 522 (previous year: teur 522) from two
leases. 

the total expenses for operating leases in which the company is
the lessee were teur 773 (previous year: teur 600). the operat-
ing lease agreements primarily involve leased vehicles. diC asset
aG will make the following minimum lease payments for exist-
ing operating leases not subject to termination. 

rePorTiNg oN riSk maNagemeNT 

the Group is exposed to various financial risks – credit risk, liq-
uidity risk and interest rate risk – in connection with its operat-
ing activities. managing these financial risks forms a key part of
the Group's business strategy. the associated corporate policy is
laid down by the management Board.  

explanations of the risk management system and the business
risks are given in the company's management report under "risk
management". we are making the following supplementary
notes on individual risks within the scope of ifrs 7:

Credit risk
a credit risk is the unexpected loss of cash and cash equivalents
or income. this is especially the case if the debtor is not fully able
to meet his obligations by the due date or if the assets serving
as collateral lose value. accordingly, the Group can sustain losses
if the creditworthiness of customers deteriorates or they fail to
meet their payment obligations. we limit the risk by carrying out
regular analyses of creditworthiness, especially in connection
with new tenancies and reletting as well as by proactive debtor
management. 

Credit risk concentration could arise if individual tenants are re-
sponsible for over 5% of the Group's income from lettings. as
only two tenants in all, from the public and commercial sectors,
exceed this 5% limit, the Group regards the risk as low. the top
ten tenancies generate some 39% of total annual income from
lettings. 

teur 2011 2010

market value 2,202.3 2,001.8

minus Co-investments 314.2 331.7

plus fair value difference 11.4 44.9

plus minority interests 2.6 3.2

1,902.1 1,718.2

teur 2011 2010

up to 1 year 116,640 102.428

1 to 5 years 237,746 281.671

over 5 years 214,413 183.455

568,799 567.554

teur 2011 2010

up to 1 year 343 355

1 to 5 years 430 245

over 5 years 0 0

773 600
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teur 2010 2009

market value 2,001.8 2,192.2

minus Co-investments 331.7 269.7

plus fair value difference 44.9 99.8

plus minority interests 3.2 1.9

1.718,2 2.024,2

reconciliation between the market and book value in 2010
investment property

reconciliation between the market and book value in 2011 
investment property



the maximum default risk is represented by the book value of
the financial assets recognised in the balance sheet. see para-
graph 23 for value adjustments on customer receivables.

in the case of derivative financial instruments, the Group is ex-
posed to a credit risk which arises through the non-fulfillment of
contractual agreements on the part of the counterparties. this
risk is minimised in that transactions are only concluded with
counterparties with a high credit rating or those which are a
member of a deposit insurance fund. in the case of derivative fi-
nancial instruments, the default risks correspond to their posi-
tive fair values. 

at the reporting date, the maximum counterparty risk with one
single counterparty stands at eur 295 million (previous year: eur
412 million). 

liquidity risk
the Group-wide financial planning instruments, among other
things, help to establish the liquidity situation in good time. the
liquidity planning is responsible for ensuring that unforeseen fi-
nancing requirements can be serviced alongside planned fi-
nancing requirements. the maturities of financial assets and lia-
bilities as well as estimates of the cash flow from operating
activities are included in short- and medium-term liquidity man-
agement.

the liquidity risk to which the diC asset Group is exposed is
made up of obligations under contractually agreed interest and
principal payments for original financial liabilities and the liq-
uidity risk from derivative financial instruments at fair value at
the balance sheet as follows. furthermore, risks exist in the case
of loans which are scheduled for extension and where exten-
sion may not prove possible as well as due to delays in sales ac-
tivities and potentially higher equity requirements in the case of
new financing. 

a further fundamental risk arises from loan agreements in which
covenants are agreed, e.g. loan to value (ltv), debt service cov-
erage ratio (dsCr) or interest coverage ratio (iCr). Covenant in-
fringements, i.e. exceeding the defined thresholds, can necessi-
tate unscheduled repayments or the furnishing of collateral for
the amount required to keep the covenant. 

Compliance with covenants is monitored on an ongoing basis
and reported als part of the quarterly group reporting to the
management. all covenants were met in the 2011 financial year. 
we expect no covenant breaches in 2012.

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to teur 100,244 (previous
year: teur 117,292) is available to cover the liquidity require-
ment. furthermore, the Group has overdraft facilities for Capex
and ti measures that it has not yet used. these amount to a total
of teur 15,929 (previous year: teur 16,114).

Provisionally, the financial liabilities will result in the following
payments over the coming years:

teur 2012 2013 to 2016 2017 and after

non-derivative financial liabilities

long-term interest-bearing debt 215,576 1,160,969 212,763

Current debt 194,923

trade payables 5,323

liabilities to related parties 347

other liabilities 12,356

liabilities – properties held for sale 2,231

derivative financial liabilities 25,060 26,357 2,737

455,816 1,187,326 215,500

teur 2011 2012 to 2015 2016 and after

non-derivative financial liabilities

long-term interest-bearing debt 27,011 1,210,184 119,950

Current debt 139,247

trade payables 3,451

liabilities to related parties 18

other liabilities 12,832

derivative financial liabilities 31,919 64,785

214,478 1,274,969 119,950

the values for the previous year are as follows:
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interest rate risk
interest rate risks arise as a result of market-driven fluctuations in
interest rates or margins on new borrowings and renewals of
loans. the Group's interest rate risk is mainly the result of debt,
loans and interest-bearing investments. some of the financial li-
abilities have a fixed interest rate and thus match the cash flows
from rents, meaning that the impact of fluctuations in market
interest rates can be predicted in the medium term. the variable
financial liabilities are hedged with derivative financial instru-
ments, primarily payer swaps. here, variable interest rate pay-
ments are exchanged for fixed-rate interest payments and thus
protected against changes in interest rates; cf. paragraph 20.

to optimise the interest result, an average of 20% was subject
to variable interest-rate payments in the financial year 2011. 

in accordance with ifrs 7, interest rate risks are presented by
way of sensitivity analyses. these show the effects of changes in
market interest rates on interest payments, interest income and
expense, other income components and, in the case of deriva-
tives with a hedge relationship, the effects on the hedging re-
serve in equity and the fair value of these derivatives. the inter-
est rate sensitivity analyses are based on the assumption that
changes in market interest rates of primary financial instruments
with fixed interest rates only affect income if these are measured
at their fair value. as such, all financial instruments with fixed in-
terest rates that are carried at amortised cost are not subject to
interest rate risk as defined in ifrs 7. sensitivity analyses were
therefore performed only for financial derivatives (swaps and
caps) and variable interest-bearing financial liabilities. the effects
of a market interest rate being increased or decreased by 100
basis points on each balance sheet date would have the follow-
ing implications for income and equity after taking deferred
taxes into consideration:

 CoNTiNgeNCieS aNd oTher FiNaNCial
CommiTmeNTS  

diC asset aG issued a guarantee bond vis-à-vis deutsche Pfand-
briefbank (PBB) to the amount of its 20% holding in diC hi Port-
folio Gmbh in which it undertook a maximum guarantee of a
total of teur 2,000 pro rata on the basis of a loan agreement be-
tween diC hi Portfolio Gmbh and the PBB. as at 28 april 2011,
diC asset aG issued a further guarantee with a term to 15 June
2013 for up to teur 740 vis-à-vis the PBB.

diC asset aG has issued an unlimited, directly enforceable,
 unconditional guarantee for the purposes of providing con-
struction and planning services for diC maintor Primus Gmbh,
frankfurt am main, in the amount of teur 3,000 vis-à-vis Grund-
stücksgesellschaft oPer Gbr, frankfurt am main. the contract
performance guarantee shall lapse once final acceptance of the
construction project to be realised has been granted or the
 construction project has been deemed to have been accepted
by Grundstücksgesellschaft oPer Gbr.  

in addition, a letter of comfort was issued for the subsidiaries of
diC msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh, a subsidiary incorporated
under the equity method, regarding the 20% holdings of out-
standing liabilities on the borrowers' part in the amount of teur
10,706. 

diC objekt Zeppelinheim Gmbh (100% subsidiary of diC asset
aG) acquired an office property in Zeppelinheim at a purchase
price of around eur 20.1 million by means of a notarial agree-
ment of 14 december 2011. the transfer of title, benefits and ob-
ligations is planned for the first quarter of 2012. 

a sublease relationship is in place between deutsche immo-
bilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa and diC asset aG, as well as its
wholly owned subsidiary diC onsite Gmbh, which since 1 au-
gust 2007 has resulted in a payment obligation of teur 150 net
per year for diC asset aG and teur 111 for diC onsite Gmbh.
the agreement remains in effect until 31 october 2014. if the
lease agreement is not terminated in writing at least 12 months
prior to expiration, it is automatically extended by an additional
12 months.

additional financial obligations arise from operating lease agree-
ments for vehicles in which the company is the lessee. see "leas-
ing", p. 44.

overall, there exist investment obligations for work on portfolio
properties in the amount of eur 3.2 million, of which some eur
2.6 million had been ordered by 31 december 2011. 

in the 2011 financial year, eur 1.8 million of this was amount was
carried out or ordered, eur 1.5 million of which had been in-
voiced by 31 december 2011. further investments of eur 0.6
million are planned for the 2012 financial year. all contractual in-
vestment obligations are thus met.

teur 2011 2010

+100 Bp -100 Bp +100 Bp -100 Bp

effect on income 
from variable interest-
bearing financial debts + 2,910 -2,910 + 2,525 - 2,525

effect on income 
from financial 
derivatives (caps) + 121 0  + 563 + 56

effect on equity 
from financial 
derivatives (swaps) + 38,523 - 20,149 + 25,129 - 15,027
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CaPiTal maNagemeNT

the main objective of capital management is to ensure that the
Group retains its ability to repay its debts and its financial stabil-
ity in the future. 

the capital structure is managed in accordance with economic
and regulatory provisions. in this process, we aim to achieve a
balanced maturity structure for outstanding liabilities.  

diC asset is able to manage its capital structure through divi-
dends and/or capital increases or by changes to its financing.
diC asset aG strives to maintain a capital structure that is in line
with the business risk. diC asset is subject to the minimum cap-
ital requirements for stock corporations. Compliance with these
requirements is monitored. 

the equity ratio is used as an important parameter vis-à-vis in-
vestors, analysts and banks.

due to their significant influence, the following companies and
persons are also related parties:

– deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa
– Konzerngesellschaften der deutsche immobilien 

Chancen aG & Co. KGaa
– deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG
– diC Grund- und Beteiligungs Gmbh
– diC Capital Partners (europe) Gmbh
– GCs verwaltungs Gmbh
– msref funding inc. 

together with the companies of the msref Group
– forum european realty income ii l.P. 

(hereinafter "forum")
– diCP Capital se
– Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt

additional related parties are the supervisory Board, the man-
agement Board, executives and close relatives of these individ-
uals.

the company has filed a dependent company report on its re-
lationships to these related parties. this report lists all legal trans-
actions conducted by the company or its subsidiaries with, at
the behest of or in the interest of affiliates over the past financial
year, as well as all other measures taken or omitted by the com-
pany at the behest of or in the interest of these companies over
the past financial year. the report concludes with the following
statement:

„we hereby declare that according to the facts known to us at
the time in which the legal transactions were conducted, our
company received or paid a commensurate consideration in
each transaction. we took no actions at the behest of or on be-
half of the controlling company."

an overview of legal transactions and relations with related par-
ties is shown below.
.

legal TraNSaCTioNS wiTh relaTed
ParTieS

deutsche immobilien Chancen ag & Co. kgaa
there are connections between the personnel ("double man-
date") of deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa and its
sole general partner, deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteili-
gungs aG, at the level of the management Board and supervi-
sory Board. one of the two members of the management Board
of the company, mr. ulrich höller, is also a member of the man-
agement Board of deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs
aG, whose board also consists of two additional members. since
march 2006, the member of the management Board ulrich
höller has had employment contracts with both deutsche im-
mobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG and the company. each of
these companies pays 50% of mr höller's fixed compensation.
in addition, there is variable compensation related to the per-
formance of the companies of the deutsche immobilien Chan-
cen KGaa Group and the diC asset Group, as well as options for
shares of deutsche immobilien Chancen KGaa and compensa-
tion based on the share price of diC asset aG. there is also an
overlap of personnel in the supervisory Board of diC asset aG,
deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa and deutsche
immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG in the person of Prof. dr.
Gerhard schmidt and Klaus-Jürgen sontowski who are also in-
directly significant limited shareholders in deutsche immobilien
Chancen aG & Co. KGaa. in addition, Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt
is also the indirect majority shareholder of its sole general part-
ner, deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG.

the company currently provides general property and building
management services (including re-letting services) as well as
services related to technical building management for a total of
73 properties, including some in which deutsche immobilien
Chancen aG & Co. KGaa has a controlling interest. in 2011, the
total amount of compensation collected by the company for
these services was teur 5,310 (previous year: teur 3,543). of
this, a total of teur 9 (previous year teur 7) was compensation
paid by the companies of the deutsche immobilien Chancen
aG & Co. KGaa Group.

teur 2011 2010

equity 624,190 587,080

total assets 2,248,146 2,049,973

equity ratio 27.8% 28.6%

the fall in the equity ratio is due, among other things, to invest-
ments in investment properties (some eur 200 million) and the
resulting increase in total assets, as well as to the increase in the
negative hedging reserve, which eroded equity.

related party disclosures  
related parties include the 13 companies incorporated at eq-
uity (see "scope of consolidation").
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the company has made an overdraft facility available to
deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, on which inter-
est has been set at 6% p.a., to be payable in arrears. as security
for any part of the loan used, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG
& Co. KGaa has pledged to the company its 10% interest in
deutsche immobilien Chancen objekt ulm 1 erweiterung
Gmbh & Co. KG. as at 31 december 2011, the portion of this
overdraft facility that had been used equalled teur 17,971 (pre-
vious year: teur 16,954). diC asset aG received interest credits
in the amount of teur 1,017 (previous year teur 960) in the re-
porting period for the day-to-day money made available. the
terms agreed were no worse than the terms the company would
have secured for a comparable cash investment. as a result, per-
formance and consideration were the same for every transac-
tion. 

deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa has a current ac-
count relationship with some of the diC asset aG subsidiaries
which is offset with reference to the reporting date. the
deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa companies
shown in the table receive interest credits for the loans made
available in the following amounts:

acts as the general tenant for all space rented by diC Group
companies in the Group headquarters in frankfurt. the amount
of the rent is based on the space actually occupied by diC asset
aG and diC onsite Gmbh and is recharged at the same price
per square metre, which is a component of the general rental
agreement of deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa.
for 2011, rent paid to deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co.
KGaa amounted to teur 260 (previous year teur 261). diC asset
aG considered the rental interest to be at the normal rate for the
location and appropriate. renting space at another company
would not have resulted in lower expenses. as a result, per-
formance and consideration were also the same in this case.

diC Projektentwicklung gmbh & Co kg
diC Projektentwicklung Gmbh & Co. KG, in which deutsche im-
mobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa has a 100% interest, provides
various commercial administration services for diC asset aG. this
relates to all accounting-, finance- and controlling-related activ-
ities to be performed at the company itself of by the company
on the basis of existing service agreements for various portfolio
and property companies as well as other administrative services
and it services.

Compensation for services related to accounting, finance, con-
trolling and administration were calculated on the basis of ex-
penditures and compensated in the amount of teur 18 in 2011
(previous year teur 18) for services rendered for the benefit of
diC asset aG and teur 802 (previous year teur 641) for services
for the benefit of the companies of the diC asset Group. the in-
crease on the previous year results from price adjustments ef-
fective as of 1 January 2011.

diC Projektentwicklung Gmbh & Co. KG also performs services
in the field of technical real estate management for diC onsite
Gmbh, a 100% subsidiary of diC asset aG. these are project
management services for a major construction project that is
expected to take three years from 2010 to 2012. diC onsite
Gmbh is making use of the development expertise of the diC
Group to coordinate and supervise the construction work and to
ensure that project budgets, quality requirements 
and deadlines are met.

the remuneration amounts to 4.9% of gross construction costs
including ancillary costs and non-deductible withholding tax.
teur 54 was paid in 2011, for which a provision in this amount
had been set aside in the previous year. as at 31 december 2011,
no other compensation had been paid and no new provisions
set aside. diC asset aG regarded this level of remuneration as
appropriate. Purchasing these services on the market would not
have resulted in lower expenses.

diC opportunistic gmbh
in accordance with a loan agreement dated 17 december 2008
and the addenda thereto, diC asset aG has granted a loan to
diC opportunistic Gmbh. as at 31 december 2012, this loan
amounts to teur 19.551 (previous year: teur 14.352). it has a
fixed term until 30 June 2012 with interest is payable at 7.25%
p.a. in the reporting year, diC asset aG received interest credits
of teur 1,199 (previous year: teur 1,029) for the funds made
available. the terms agreed were no worse than the terms the
company would have secured for a comparable cash invest-
ment. as a result, performance and consideration were the same
for every transaction. 

in an agreement of 1 april 2008, diC of reit 2 Gmbh (100% sub-
sidiary of diC asset aG) granted a loan to diC opportunistic
Gmbh. the loan has an unlimited term and an interest rate of
8% p.a is payable quarterly in arrears. as at 31 december 2011,
the loan amounts to teur 10,896 (previous year: teur 9,990). in
financial year 2011, interest of teur 795 (previous year: teur 722)
was charged for the granting of the loan. the terms agreed were
no worse than the terms the company would have secured for
a comparable cash investment. as a result, performance and
consideration were the same for every transaction.

diC hi Portfolio gmbh
in a loan agreement of 12 december 2008 and the addenda
thereto, diC asset aG and its subsidiary diC of reit 2 Gmbh
granted a loan to diC hi Portfolio Gmbh with a fixed term to 30
June 2011. as at 31 december 2012, this loan amounts to teur

teur 2011 2010

Gewerbepark langenfeld west 3 
Gmbh & Co. KG 132 124

diC objekt frankfurt 1 
Gmbh & Co. KG 79 75

deutsche immobilien Chancen 
objekt ulm 1 erweiterung 
Gmbh & Co. KG 66 64

in addition, a sublease relationship is in place between deutsche
immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa and diC asset aG as well as
its wholly owned subsidiary diC onsite Gmbh with regard to of-
fice space used by diC asset aG and diC onsite Gmbh at the
frankfurt site as deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa
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3.099 (previous year: TEUR 6.645). for the funds made available,
DIC Asset AG receives interest at a rate of 7.25% p.a. 

On the basis of a loan agreement of 15 June 2011, DIC Asset AG
granted HI Portfolio GmbH a loan in the amount of TEUR 11,340
until 30 June 2012. As at 31.12.2011 December 9,105, the loan
amounts to TEUR 11,812 (previous year: TEUR 0). The interest rate
is 7.25%. Furthermore, interest of 6% p.a. is charged on current
account balances amounting to TEUR 246 (previous year: TEUR
801) and 8% p.a. on balances amounting to TEUR 6,035. In the
2011 financial year, interest credits totalling TEUR 1,055 (previ-
ous year: TEUR 534) accrued The terms agreed were no worse
than the terms the company would have secured for a compa-
rable cash investment. As a result, performance and considera-
tion were the same for every transaction.

DIC Hamburg Portfolio GmbH
In a loan agreement of 28 February 2008 and the addenda
thereto, DIC Asset AG and its subsidiary DIC OF Reit 2 GmbH
granted a loan to DIC Hamburg Portfolio GmbH with a fixed
term to 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2012, this loan
amounts to TEUR 11,419 (previous year: TEUR 11,999). for the
funds made available, DIC Asset AG receives interest at a rate of
7.25% p.a. Furthermore, interest of 8% p.a. is charged on current
account balances amounting to TEUR 206 (previous year: TEUR
218). In financial year 2011, interest credits totalling TEUR 922
(previous year: TEUR 875) accrued. The terms agreed were no
worse than the terms the company would have secured for a
comparable cash investment. As a result, performance and con-
sideration were the same for every transaction.

DIC MainTor GmbH
In an agreement of 12 December 2011, DIC OF REIT 1 GmbH
(wholly owned subsidiary of DIC Asset AG) granted DIC MainTor
Porta GmbH a loan in the amount of up to EUR 30.0 million to
 finance the relevant construction stage of our project develop-
ment. The loan has an interest rate of 7.5% p.a. and grants an
 additional share of profits. The loan has an initial term until
28 December 2012. DIC MainTor GmbH has pledged its stake in
DIC MainTor Porta GmbH as collateral for this loan. As at the bal-
ance sheet date, this loan was worth TEUR 20,155.

DIC Office Balance I
On the basis of an agency agreement regarding asset and prop-
erty management, DIC Fund Balance GmbH generated income
from property management fees in the amount of TEUR 1,642
(previous year 248) for services for the DIC Office Balance I spe-
cial fund.

ProDIC GmbH
In accordance with an addendum to a loan agreement of 20 Oc-
tober 2010, DIC Asset AG has granted ProDIC GmbH a short-term
loan amounting to EUR 13.6 million. This loan has an interest rate
of 9.25% insofar as the interest on the loan does not cause the
borrower to report a negative net result (annual result under
commercial law plus carryforwards). 

The loan including interest was repaid in full in February 2011
by ProDIC GmbH to DIC Asset AG. 

Deutsche Immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs AG
For the years 2003 to 2005, DIC Asset AG has pledged to reim-
burse Deutsche Immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs AG, the sole
general partner of Deutsche Immobilien Chancen AG & Co.
KGaA, 50% of the costs that are incurred by Deutsche Immo-
bilien Chancen Beteiligungs AG in connection with the em-
ployment of members of the Management Board who work for
the company, exclusively or not. With the exception of fringe
benefits, since the beginning of 2006, all members of the Man-
agement Board of DIC Asset AG have been compensated for
their activities for Deutsche Immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs
AG exclusively through it. The amount of reimbursement for the
fringe benefits granted to Mr. Ulrich Höller was TEUR 16 (previ-
ous year: TEUR 15). 

Under the "German Investment Program Agreement" dated 29
July 2004 and the "Investment and Shareholder Agreement"
dated 7 June 2005, the following DIC Asset AG joint ventures
and their respective wholly owned property companies made
use of various services provided by Deutsche Immobilien Chan-
cen Beteiligungs AG.  

Company Agreements

DIC Zeil Portfolio GmbH
(previously DIC MSREF Frankfurt Portfolio GmbH)

Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
compensation for subletting (tenant improvement fee);
accounting fee 

DIC EB Portfolio GmbH
(previously DIC MSREF Berlin GmbH)

Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
accounting fee

DIC LB Portfolio GmbH
(previously DIC MSREF Berlin Portfolio GmbH))

Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
accounting fee

DIC MainTor GmbH
Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
Accounting Fee;
compensation for subletting (tenant improvement fee);
development compensation

DIC MSREF HMDD Portfolio GmbH
Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
Accounting Fee;
compensation for subletting (tenant improvement fee);
development compensation

DIC MSREF Hochtief Portfolio GmbH
Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
Accounting Fee;
compensation for subletting (tenant improvement fee);
development compensation

DIC MSREF FF Südwest Portfolio GmbH
Provision of management services; 
commission on the letting and disposal of properties;
Accounting Fee;
compensation for subletting (tenant improvement fee);
development compensation
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under the current asset management agreements and the ad-
denda thereto, msref joint ventures are to provide the follow-
ing compensation to deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteili-
gungs aG:

– Base management fee: 1% of annual net rent;
– leasing fee (equates to a leasing commission): 2.5 net

monthly rental payments or one net monthly rental pay-
ment, if an outside broker is involved;

– disposition fee (equates to a sales commission): 1% to 3% of
the sales price after transaction costs if no outside broker is
involved, and 0,4% to 1.5% of the sales price after transac-
tion costs if an outside broker is involved;

– tenant improvement fee (equates to a fee for re-leasing
services): 3.5% to 5% of the internal and external costs that
arise from renovation for a new tenant (particularly for plan-
ning and renovation) or negotiable on the basis of this ex-
pense;

– development fee (equates to compensation for develop-
ment work): for project development services through to
initial leasing: dependent on expenses or market-rate com-
pensation.

– accounting fee: for services in the areas of accounting, fi-
nancing and controlling, teur 9 per company p.a.

with beneficial effect from 1 october 2011, diC asset aG ac-
quired the remaining 50% from msref joint ventures diC Zeil
Portfolio Gmbh (previously diC msref frankfurt Portfolio
Gmbh), diC eB Portfolio Gmbh (previously diC msref Berlin
Gmbh) and diC lB Portfolio Gmbh (previously diC msref Berlin
Portfolio Gmbh).

with the "termination agreement" dated 7 october 2011, the
asset management agreements for the abovementioned port-
folios were rescinded and a one-off compensation payment of
teur 1,214 was agreed with deutsche immobilien Chancen
Beteiligungs aG diC asset aG, as the sole owner of these port-
folios, with which payment the compensation made is to be off-
set.

unlike the previous year, diC maintor Gmbh is no longer re-
ported under the msref joint ventures but under those of diC
Capital Partners (hereinafter also referred to as "diCP") as diCP
holds a 29.4% interest in this investment.

in 2011 and 2010, the following compensation was paid to
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, in which msref
holds 25.1% of the share capital, in each case excluding sales tax:

recipient of service (amounts in eur) base mgm. leasing dispos. Ti/devel. acc. Total
Fee Fee Fee Fee Fee

diC Zeil Portfolio Gmbh 2011 26,309 0 3,000 20,250 49,559

(until  30,09,2011) 2010 19,943 18,825 107,625 0 0 146,393

diC eB Portfolio Gmbh 2011 23,917 27,000 50,917

(until  30,09,2011) 2010 94,738 0 0 0 0 94,738

diC lB Portfolio Gmbh 2011 47,451 29,340 0 0 74,250 151,041

(until  30,09,2011) 2010 72,592 86,574 522,787 0 681,953

diC msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh 2011 63,486 0 151,000 0 81,000 295,486

2010 68,205 0 146,500 70,000 284,705

diC msref ht Portfolio Gmbh 2011 53,979 0 0 0 72,000 125,979

2010 67,556 0 99,250 0 166,806

diC msref ff südwest Portfolio Gmbh 2011 116,475 0 216,229 0 60,750 393,454

2010 121,532 16,250 0 0 137,782

overall totals 2011 331,617 29,340 370,229 0 335,250 1,066,436

2010 444,566 121,649 876,162 70,000 0 1,512,377
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aside from its management Board, deutsche immobilien Chan-
cen Beteiligungs aG has no employees of its own. for the pur-
pose of providing the services assigned to it in accordance with
the asset management agreement, it, for its part, makes use of
services rendered by diC asset aG. under an agreement of 16
november 2005 (supplemented by five addenda as a result of
newly acquired portfolios), diC asset aG charges fees to
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, the amount of
which also depends on whether the msref joint venture has
contracted third parties to provide these services, with the ap-
proval of the company.

in particular, the agreement provides for compensation for serv-
ices related to portfolio and asset management in the amount
of 0.5% of the net annual rent. assistance with leasing is com-
pensated in the amount of 1.5 times the agreed net monthly
rent or 0.75 times the agreed net monthly rent if an external bro-
ker was involved. the compensation paid for sales assistance
equals 0,5% to 1,5% of the realised proceeds - or 0,2% to 0.75%
of the realised proceeds if an external broker was involved. indi-
vidual properties and project developments may be subject to
case-by-case arrangements. 

on the basis of this agreement, the diC asset aG charged
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG the following
amounts for services related to msref joint ventures for 2011
and 2010, in each case excluding sales tax:

diC Capital Partners (europe) gmbh
the company has granted to diC Capital Partners (europe)
Gmbh, which indirectly controls deutsche immobilien Chancen
Beteiligungs aG as the general partner of deutsche immobilien
Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, a loan in the amount of teur 700 at an
interest rate of 4.5% p.a. (payable annually in arrears). the loan is
unlimited and was valued at teur 480 (previous year: teur 460)
as at 31 december 2010. to secure the company's loan repay-
ment and interest claims against diC Capital Partners (europe)
Gmbh, diC Capital Partners (europe) Gmbh has assigned to the
company its claims against deutsche immobilien Chancen ob-
jekt mozartstraße 33a Gmbh for dividends and the repayment of
a loan. 

under the "shareholder agreements" dated 27 november 2006
and 9 may 2007, two other joint ventures of diC asset aG,
namely, diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh and diC hi Portfolio
Gmbh, and their respective wholly owned property companies
receive various services from deutsche immobilien Chancen
Beteiligungs aG. diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh and diC hi Port-
folio Gmbh are opportunistic co-investments in which diC asset
aG has a 20% interest (1.2% directly and 18.8% indirectly through
diC opportunistic Gmbh). other investors are deutsche immo-
bilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa with a 30% interest which is held
by its wholly owned subsidiary diC opportunity fund Gmbh
(1.8% directly and 28.2% indirectly through diC opportunistic

recipient of service (amounts in eur) asset mgm. leasing dispos. Total
Fee Fee Fee

diC Zeil Portfolio Gmbh 2011 13,155 0 1,500 14,655

(until 30,09,2011) 2010 17,443 13,421 53,813 84,677

diC eB Portfolio  Gmbh 2011 11,959 0 0 11,959

(until 30,09,2011) 2010 15,790 0 0 15,790

diC lB Portfolio Gmbh 2011 23,726 20,944 0 44,670

(until 30,09,2011) 2010 36,296 58,575 228,050 322,921

diC msref hmdd 2011 31,743 0 75,500 107,243

Portfolio Gmbh 2010 34,103 0 73,250 107,353

diC msref ht 2011 26,990 0 0 26,990

Portfolio Gmbh 2010 32,528 0 49,625 82,153

diC msref ff 2011 58,238 0 108,115 166,353

südwest Portfolio Gmbh 2010 60,766 9,750 0 70,516

overall totals 2011 165,811 20,944 185,115 371,870

2010 196,926 81,746 404,738 683,410
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aG) and diC Capital Partners (Germany) Gmbh with a 50%
 interest (3% directly and 47% indirectly through diC opportu -
nistic Gmbh).

accordingly, the above-named joint venture and deutsche im-
mobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG have entered into "asset
management agreements" for the provision of various man-
agement services as well as commissions on the leasing and di-
vestiture of real property, in each case at the time of establish-
ment of these joint ventures. moreover, special compensation
arrangements have been established with diC hamburg Port-
folio Gmbh for re-leasing services and an agreement regarding
development fees has been concluded.

under the existing service agreements ("asset management
agreements") these diCP joint ventures are to provide the fol-
lowing compensation to deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteili-
gungs aG:

– Base management fee: 1% of annual net rent;
– leasing fee (equates to a leasing commission): 2.5 net

monthly rental payments or one net monthly rental pay-
ment, if an outside broker is involved;

– disposition fee (equates to a sales commission): 0.75% to
2.5% of the sales price after transaction costs if no outside
broker is involved, and 0.5% to 1.5% of the sales price after
transaction costs if an outside broker is involved;

– tenant improvement fee (equates to a fee for re-leasing
services): 3.5% to 4% of the internal and external costs that
arise from renovation for a new tenant (particularly for plan-
ning and renovation) or negotiable on the basis of this ex-
pense;

– development fee (equates to compensation for develop-
ment work): for project development services through to
initial leasing: dependent on expenses or market-rate com-
pensation.

– accounting fee: for services in the areas of accounting,
 financing and controlling, teur 9 per company p.a.

unlike in the previous year, diC maintor Gmbh was reported for
the first time under the diCP joint ventures (previously under
the msref joint ventures) as diCP has held a 29.4% interest in
this investment since the withdrawal of msref.

in 2011 and 2010, the following compensation was paid to
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, in which msref
holds 7.5% of the share capital, in each case excluding sales tax:

in particular, the amount of the fee for services related to port-
folio and asset management is 0.5% of the net annual rent. as-
sistance with leasing is compensated in the amount of 1.5 times
the agreed net monthly rent or 0.75 times the agreed net
monthly rent if an external broker was involved. the compensa-
tion paid for sales assistance equals 0.38% to 1.25% of the re-
alised proceeds - or 0.25% to 0.75% of the realised proceeds if an
external broker  was involved. individual properties and project
developments may be subject to case-by-case arrangements.

as, aside from its management Board, deutsche immobilien
Chancen Beteiligungs aG has no employees of its own in the
property management sector, for the purpose of providing the
services assigned to it hereunder, it makes use of diC asset aG
materials and personnel.

diC asset aG charges fees to deutsche immobilien Chancen
Beteiligungs aG, the amount of which also depends on whether,
with the approval of the company, the diCP joint venture has
contracted third parties to provide the services.

on the basis of this agreement, diC asset aG charged deutsche
immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG the following amounts for
services related to the individual diCP joint ventures for 2011
and 2010, in each case excluding sales tax:

recipient of service (amounts in eur) base mgm. leasing dispos. Ti/devel. acc. Total
Fee Fee Fee Fee Fee

diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh 2011 80,852 0 85,950 0 162,000 328,802

2010 85,001 34,890 396,600 0 0 516,491

diC hi Portfolio Gmbh 2011 225,877 0 141,340 0 243,000 610,217

2010 220,709 0 0 0 0 220,709

diC maintor Gmbh 2011 1,030 0 0 0 36,000 37,030

2010 294,000 0 0 0 0 294,000

overall totals 2011 307,759 0 227,290 0 441,000 976,049

2010 599,710 34,890 396,600 0 0 1,031,200
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morgen Stanley real estate Funds (mSreF)
together with the companies of the msref Group, diC asset aG
has acquired interests in investment properties, including:

– properties transferred from meaG, which are held by diC
msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh and its eight wholly owned
subsidiary property companies, under agreements dated 14
december 2005;

– properties acquired from hochtief, which are held by diC
msref ht Portfolio Gmbh and its seven wholly owned sub-
sidiary property companies, under agreements dated 24
may 2006;

– properties transferred from the falk group, which are held
by diC msref ff südwest Portfolio Gmbh and its five
wholly owned subsidiary property companies, under agree-
ments dated 16 august 2006; and

(hereinafter referred to collectively as "joint ventures").

the company holds an interest in the property companies of the
ff südwest portfolio, the ht portfolio and the properties trans-
ferred from meaG at 20% each indirectly through the portfolio
companies. in addition, aside from the 50% stake in each of the
divisions of the msref group, the company holds a 30% indirect
interest in diC opportunity fund Gmbh. 

with respect to the distribution of profits, the diC shareholders
are entitled to equity return-based profits paid in advance,
which, in the case of an equity return in the amount of 17.5%,
amount to 10% of profits and reach their maximum amount of
30% of profits at equity returns of over 27.5%. 

the company continues to be bound by credit agreements with
the joint ventures, under which the company acts both as lender
and borrower. the underlying credit comes in the form of over-
draft facilities with an agreed interest rate of 6% p.a. in each case.
interest is payable in arrears at the end of a year or quarter or is
added to the principal. the agreements call for neither fixed
terms nor collateral security. with regard to the balances existing
as of the balance sheet dates, see "24. receivables from related
parties".

Forum european realty income ii l.P. (Forum)
on 11 July 2008, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa,
forum european realty income s.a.r.l. and forum european re-
alty income ii l. P. (hereinafter referred to as "forum") entered
into two agreements on the issue of convertible bonds. forum
is therefore extending its existing convertible bond by a further
three years while at the same time taking up an additional con-
vertible bond also with a term of three years and the option to
convert 1.52 million diC asset aG shares, which are to be pro-
vided by deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa. in re-
turn, forum has transferred its holding of 4.9% to the diC Group. 

as a result of its accession to an agreement between deutsche
immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa and forum of 18 septem-
ber 2005, the company is also entitled and obligated vis-à-vis
deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa to acquire a 40%
share in the so-called "opportunistic investments" of deutsche
immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa.

due to the interest of 50% from other financial investors (such as
msref) in opportunistic investments, the company's equity
share amounts to 20% in total.

recipient of service (amounts in eur) asset mgm. leasing dispos. Total
Fee Fee Fee

diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh 2011 40,426 0 43,120 83,546

2010 42,500 25,112 231,891 299,503

diC hi Portfolio Gmbh 2011 112,939 0 70,670 183,609

2010 110,355 0 0 110,355

diC maintor Gmbh 2011 687 0 0 687

2010 196,000 0 0 196,000

overall totals 2011 154,052 0 113,790 267,842

2010 348,855 25,112 231,891 605,858
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Transactions with executives

legal transactions with executives and their close relatives were
entered into only to an insignificant extent.

management remuneration
the remuneration of management in key positions in the Group,
which is subject to disclosure requirements under ias 24.17, en-
compasses the remuneration of the current management Board
and the supervisory Board. 

the members of the management board were remunerated as
follows:

for more details of the management Board's remuneration,
please see the remuneration report on page 113.

the members of the Supervisory board were remunerated as
follows:

the transfer of title, benefits and obligations pertaining to a
property from the Co-investments segment of the hi portfolio
sold by notarial agreement of 14 september 2011 took place on
2 January 2012. the purchase price for the property was eur 9.5
million. diC asset is involved in the amount of 20%.

the transfer of title, benefits and obligations pertaining to a
property from the Co-investments segment of the Primo port-
folio that had already been sold by notarial agreement of 21 sep-
tember 2011 took place on 29 february 2012. the purchase price
amounts to eur 1.8 million. diC asset is involved in this sale in
the amount of 20%.

the transfer of title, benefits and obligations pertaining to a
property from the Co-investments segment sold by notarial
agreement of 29 december 2011 took place on 29 february
2012. the purchase price for the property amounts to eur 2.6
million. diC asset is involved in the amount of 20%.

apart from these transactions, no further material transactions
were resolved, initiated or implemented in the post-balance
sheet period under review, i.e. the period between the balance
sheet date and the date of release of the consolidated financial
statements by the management Board on 1 march 2012.

employees
in 2011 the Group had an average of 121 employees (previous
year: 110 employees). 

Corporate governance report
the declaration regarding the German Corporate Governance
Code pursuant to § 161 aktG has been submitted and is avail-
able to shareholders at any time on the website
"http://www.dic-asset.de/investor-relations/CG". 

teur 2011 2010

services due in the short term 1,313 1,043

share-based compensation -101 152

total 1,212 1,195

teur 2011 2010

services due in the short term 204 204

total    204 204

further details, in particular information in accordance with §
285 sentence 1 no. 9 letter a sentences 5 to 9 hGB, are given in
the management report. supervisory board taxes of teur 12
were borne by the company. 

the Chairman of the supervisory Board of the company, dr. Ger-
hard schmidt, is a partner in the firm of lawyers weil, Gotshal &
manges llP. this firm received compensation for legal advisory
services in the amount of teur 602 for the financial year 2011
and teur 24 for the financial year 2010. 

Shareholder structure
as in the previous year, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co.
KGaa, frankfurt am main, has a direct and indirect capital share
of 35.4% pro rata in diC asset aG. the voting rights announce-
ments pursuant to § 20 aktG have been submitted to the com-
pany 

 oTher diSCloSureS

announcements pursuant to § 160 aktg
the existing announcements pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 German
securities trading act (wphG) concerning direct and indirect in-
vestments in the issued capital of diC asset aG are listed in ap-
pendix 3 to the notes.

events after the balance sheet date
the transfer of title, benefits and obligations pertaining to a
property from the lB portfolio took place on 29 february 2012.
the purchase price amounts to eur 1.7 million.
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Supervisory board
the members of the supervisory Board are:

Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt (Chairman), attorney, 
Glattbach

mr. Klaus-Jürgen sontowski (deputy Chairman), businessman, 
nuremberg

mr. michael Bock, managing director 
realKaPital vermögensmanagement Gmbh

mr. russell C. Platt, managing director, forum Partners europe
(uK) llP, london/uK 

mr. Bernd wegener friCs, Principal head of the 
real estate management division at the versicherungskammer
Bayern (Bavarian insurance Chamber), munich 

dr. michael Peter solf, Principal head of the Capital invest-
ments division at sv sparkassenversicherung holding aG,
stuttgart

management board
the members of the management Board are:

mr. ulrich höller (Chairman), Ceo, master of economics, 
real estate economist (ebs), Chartered surveyor friCs, 
dreieich-Buchschlag; 

mr markus Koch, Cfo (deputy Chairman), 
master of Business administration, elz;

at the same time, the members of the supervisory Board served on the following additional supervisory boards and supervisory bodies:

Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt – Grohe aG, hemer: Chairman of the supervisory Board

– Grohe Beteiligungs Gmbh, hemer: Chairman of the supervisory Board

– tdf media Broadcast Gmbh, Bonn, member of the supervisory Board

– taunus verwaltungs Gmbh, Bonn, member of the supervisory Board**

– ttl information technology aG, munich: member of the supervisory Board;

– deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, frankfurt am main: 
Chairman of the supervisory Board *

– deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, frankfurt am main:
Chairman of the supervisory Board  *

– diC Capital Partners (Germany) Gmbh & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft auf aktien, munich: 
Chairman of the supervisory Board *

– diC Capital Partners Beteiligungs Gmbh, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board **

– diC Capital Partners (Germany) verwaltungs Gmbh, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board **

– diC Capital Partners (Germany) iii verwaltungs Gmbh, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board **

– diC Capital Partners (Germany) iii Gmbh & Co. KGaa, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board *

– diC Capital Partners opCo (Germany) verwaltungs Gmbh, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board **

– diC Capital Partners opCo (Germany) Gmbh & Co. KGaa, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board *

– diCP asset management Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. KGaa, munich: Chairman of the supervisory Board **

Klaus-Jürgen sontowski – Grr aG, erlangen: Chairman of the supervisory Board

– deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, frankfurt am main: deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board

– deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, frankfurt am main: deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board

michael Bock – Kdv Kapitalbeteiligungsgesellschaft der deutschen versicherungswirtschaft aG, Berlin: 
deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board

– diCP Capital se, munich: member of the supervisory Board

– mediClin aktiengesellschaft, frankfurt: member of the supervisory Board

russell C. Platt – diC Capital Partners Beteiligungs Gmbh, munich: member of the supervisory Board**

– diC Capital Partners (Germany) verwaltungs Gmbh, munich: member of the supervisory Board**

– south asian asset management ltd, united Kingdom, london: non-executive Chairman of the management Board

– duet india hotels asset management limited, mauritius: member of the supervisory Board

– Crown westfalen Bank aG, Bochum: member of the supervisory Board

– Crown mortage management limited, united Kingdom, ipswich: member of the supervisory Board

– Bluestone Group PtY limited, united Kingdom, Cambridge: member of the supervisory Board

*   membership as defined in § 100 Para. 2 sentence 2 aktG
** supervisory Board not formed on the basis of legal requirements
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audiTorS’ rePorT

we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared
by the diC asset aG, comprising the consolidated balance sheet,
the consolidated profit and loss account, consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement and the
notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with
the group management report, which is combined with the
management report of the parent company, for the financial
year from January 1 to december 31, 2011. the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements and the combined group
management report in accordance with ifrs, as adopted by the
eu, and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to § 315a (1) hGB are the responsibility of the parent
Company’s Board of management. our responsibility is to ex-
press an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and
the combined group management report based on our audit. 

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with § 317 hGB and German generally ac-
cepted standards for the audit of financial statements promul-
gated by the institut der wirtschaftsprüfer (idw). those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that
misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations in the consol-
idated financial statements in accordance with the applicable fi-
nancial reporting framework and in the combined group man-
agement report are detected with reasonable assurance.
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible
misstatements are taken into account in the determination of
audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related
internal control system and the evidence supporting the dis-
closures in the consolidated financial statements and the

 combined group management report are examined primarily
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit
 includes assessing the annual financial statements of those en-
tities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to
be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation
principles used and significant estimates made by the Com-
pany´s Board of management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the
combined group management report. we believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-
dated financial statements comply with ifrs, as adopted by the
eu, the additional requirements of German commercial law pur-
suant to § 315a (1) hGB and give a true and fair view of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group
in accordance with these requirements. the combined group
management report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the
Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and
risks of future development.

nürnberg, 1 march , 2012

rödl & Partner Gmbh
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
steuerberatungsgesellschaft

gez. hübschmann gez. danesitz
wirtschaftsprüfer wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public auditor) (German Public auditor)

109

mr ulrich höller was a member of the bodies/supervisory  bodies
of the following companies in the 2011 financial year:

– diC Beteiligungs aG, frankfurt: Chief executive officer
– diC opportunistic Gmbh, frankfurt: member of the  super -

visory Board
– diC onsite Gmbh, frankfurt: Chairman of the supervisory

Board
– diC Capital Partners opCo (Germany) Gmbh & Co. KGaa, 

munich: member of the supervisory Board
– Zia-Zentraler immobilien ausschuss, Berlin: vice Chairman

and member of the management Board
– ePra-european Public real estate association, Brussels:

member of the management Board

responsibility Statement
to the best of our knowledge and belief we warrant that, in
 accordance with the accounting principles to be applied, the
consolidated financial statements convey a picture of the
Group's assets, liabilities, financial position and earnings that
 reflects actual circumstances and that business development
 including results and the position of the Group are presented in
such a way in the Group report as to give a picture that corres-
ponds to actual circumstances and describes the material
 opportunities and risks of the Company's and the Group's anti-
cipated development over the rest of the financial year.

frankfurt am main, 1 march 2012

the management Board

ulrich höller markus Koch

Notes

auditors’ report
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CorPoraTe goverNaNCe rePorT 
iNCludiNg remuNeraTioN rePorT

the management Board files a report – on behalf of the super-
visory Board as well – on the company's corporate governance
in accordance with clause 3.10 of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code and, at the same time, reports on corporate gov-
ernance in accordance with § 289a hGB. the section also con-
tains the remuneration report.

information on corporate governance practices 
diC asset aG attaches great value to corporate governance. the
management Board and supervisory Board consider they have
an obligation to ensure the company's continued existence and
the generation of sustained value added through responsible
corporate governance that is focused on the long-term. Good
corporate governance also includes dealing with risks in a re-
sponsible manner. the management Board makes sure that risks
are adequately managed and controlled in the company (see
too also the comments in the risk report) and ensures that the
company complies with the law as well as the recommenda-
tions of the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance
with the annual declaration of Conformity. the management
Board regularly informs the supervisory Board of existing risks
and their development. the company's internal control, report-
ing and compliance structures are continuously revised, en-
hanced and adjusted to changes in framework conditions

in our opinion, more sophisticated corporate governance tools,
such as in-house corporate governance principles or compli-
ance guidelines, are not required at present because of the com-
pany specific circumstances. should the implementation of ad-
ditional tools become necessary, the management Board and
supervisory Board will respond without delay.

Current declaration of Conformity
the management Board and the supervisory Board have famil-
iarised themselves with the new elements and innovations in
the German Corporate Governance Code and have dealt with

the question of compliance with the recommendations in the
2011 financial year. the consultation process resulted in the
adoption of an updated annual declaration of Conformity dated
8 december 2011, which has been made permanently accessi-
ble to the public on the company's website. this states:

the management Board and the supervisory Board declare that
diC asset aG complied with the recommendations of the Gov-
ernment Commission on the German Corporate Governance
Code as published on 26 may 2010 from the date of submission
of its previous declaration of Conformity on 9 december 2010
and will continue to comply with the recommendations as pub-
lished on 26 may 2010.  the following exceptions applied or will
apply:

 in filling management functions and the composition of the
management Board and the supervisory Board of diC asset
aG, the management Board and the supervisory Board have
been guided by the company's interests and the legal re-
quirements, and in the process focus on the candidate's
technical and personal qualifications - irrespective of the can-
didate's gender - and will continue to do so in future. in this
respect, in deviation from clause 4.1.5 and clause 5.1.2 sen-
tence 1 of the Code, it has not striven and will not strive, as a
matter of priority, to achieve appropriate participation by
women with regard to filling management functions and the
composition of the management Board. accordingly, in de-
viation from clause 5.4.1 of the Code, the specific targets
specified by the supervisory Board for its own composition,
did not and do not envisage an appropriate participation by
women, as a priority, and a target of this kind was not and is
not taken into account, as a matter of priority, in the super-
visory Board's nominations for elections to the General
shareholders' meeting

.
 the members of the management Board have been prom-

ised performance-related payments (profit-sharing bonuses)
and options on so-called virtual shares as variable remuner-
ation components. in accordance with clause 4.2.3 para-
graph 2 of the Code, both positive and negative develop-

ments within the agreed assessment period are taken into
consideration when determining the variable remuneration
components, insofar as the payments may turn out to be cor-
respondingly higher or lower, or may not be made at all.
when they exercise the options, the members of the man-
agement Board receive share-price-dependent payments
which are based solely on the company's share price within
a reference period. in deviation from clause 4.2.3 paragraph
3 of the Code, these options on virtual shares were not and
are not based on "demanding, relevant comparison param-
eters" within the meaning of the Code. we are of the opinion
that incorporating additional comparison parameters will not
bring about any greater motivation or sense of responsibility.

 when concluding management Board contracts, care should
be taken to ensure that payments made to members of the
management Board upon the prior termination of their work
for the management Board without good cause should not
exceed two years' pay, including ancillary benefits (severance
cap), and should remunerate no more than the residual term
of the contract of employment. in deviation from clause 4.2.3
paragraph 4 of the Code, no severance cap was or is agreed
when contracts are concluded with the management Board.
an agreement of this kind runs counter to the basic under-
standing of a management Board contract that is routinely
concluded for the duration of the period of appointment and
can, in principle, not be terminated ordinarily. in addition, we
believe that a cap to the severance payment in the event of
work for the management Board ending prematurely with-
out good cause is, in practice, not automatically enforceable
unilaterally by the company. in the event of a management
Board contract being terminated prematurely by mutual
agreement, we shall endeavour to take account of the rec-
ommended course of action.

 the supervisory Board is required to propose suitable candi-
dates for new appointments or reappointments to positions
on the supervisory Board by the General shareholders' meet-
ing. in deviation from clause 5.3.3 of the Code, no nomination
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committee was or is formed for this purpose. as the six mem-
bers the supervisory Board are only representatives of the
shareholders, and the current practice of voting proposals
being prepared by the full supervisory Board has proved to
be efficient, the supervisory Board sees no need to form a
nomination committee.

 in deviation from clause 5.4.6 paragraph 1 of the Code, the
deputy Chairman of the supervisory Board was not and is
not considered in the remuneration of the supervisory Board.
insofar as our experience to date has shown that the number
of occasions on which deputisation has been required is
small, we regard separate remuneration as unnecessary.

moduS oPeraNdi aNd ComPoSiTioN oF
The maNagemeNT board aNd SuPervi-
Sory board

dual management structure
as required under Germany company law, the dual manage-
ment structure of diC asset aG, as a listed public limited com-
pany, consists of a management Board and a supervisory Board.
there is rigid separation of the two boards – both in terms of
personnel and function – allowing each of them to perform their
different duties independently. the duty of the management
Board is to manage the company autonomously, with the duty
of the supervisory Board is being to monitor this management.. 

Close cooperation between the management board and the
Supervisory board
the management Board and the supervisory Board work closely
together in the interests of the company. this ensures that opti-
mal use is made of the professional expertise of the Board mem-
bers and speeds up decision-making processes. the manage-
ment Board keeps the supervisory Board regularly, promptly and
comprehensively informed of strategy, planning, risk exposure
and risk management, as well as current business developments.

the management Board performs its management role as a col-
legiate body. it puts forward strategic proposals and targets, dis-

cusses them with the supervisory Board and ensures that they
are implemented. in the process, it is bound to the company's in-
terests and committed to the sustained increased in its value; it
is also as well as committed to the needs of shareholders, cus-
tomers, employees and other groups associated with the com-
pany. the members of the management Board are jointly re-
sponsible for managing the entire business. notwithstanding
their overall responsibility, the individual Board members run the
departments allocated to them by resolution of the manage-
ment Board autonomously. the allocation of duties between the
members of the Board is clear from the business allocation
schedule. the management Board has a quorum if at least the
majority of its members participate in the resolution and adopt
its resolutions by a simple majority. in the event that the man-
agement Board consists of more than two members, the Chair-
man/spokesman, will have the casting vote if the votes are
equal.

the supervisory Board appoints and dismisses members of the
management Board and works with the management Board to
ensure long-term succession plans are in place. in the case of
certain defined measures of material significance - such as major
capital investments – the rules of procedure for the manage-
ment Board stipulate that the approval of the supervisory Board
is necessary. the supervisory Board has also adopted rules of
procedure. the Chairman of the supervisory Board coordinates
the work of the supervisory Board, chairs its meetings and pro-
tects its interests externally. a summary of the supervisory
Board's activities during the 2011 financial year is given in the
Board's report.

Composition of the boards 
when filling the management Board and the supervisory Board
as well as management functions in the Group, attention is fo-
cused, as a matter of priority, on the perception of the knowl-
edge, skills and professional experience needed for the tasks to
be performed. Considerations regarding gender are of subordi-
nate significance here.

the management Board of diC asset aG consists of two mem-
bers with ulrich höller as Chairman (Ceo) and with markus Koch
(Cfo) who is responsible for finance and Controlling as deputy
Chairman. 

the supervisory Board of diC asset aG consists of six members,
who are all elected by the General shareholders' meeting. the
supervisory Board has elected a Chairman and a deputy Chair-
man. members of the supervisory Board are elected for a term
of office until the end of the General shareholders' meeting that
ratifies the actions of the supervisory Board for the fourth finan-
cial year from the start of the term of office. the financial year in
which the term of office starts is not included in this calculation.
the current terms in office end at different times due to differ-
ences in the appointment dates. the terms in office of three
members of the supervisory Board (Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt,
Klaus-Jürgen sontowski and michael Bock) will end on conclu-
sion of the General shareholders' meeting which will resolve to
approve their actions for financial year 2011. the supervisory
Board will submit its proposal for a new election to the ordinary
General shareholders' General meeting in 2012.

the specific composition of the supervisory Board in terms of
personnel and the disclosures pursuant to § 285 no. 10 hGB are
contained in the Group notes on page 108.

aims of the Supervisory board with regard to its composition  
the supervisory Board already set targets for its composition in
financial year 2010. the most important objective relates to eli-
gibility: the supervisory Board is to be filled in such a way that
competent monitoring of and advice to the management Board
is guaranteed. as a whole, the supervisory Board should have
the requisite knowledge, skills and experience to perform its
tasks. in the process, the individual qualifications of individual
members may complement each other in achieving this objec-
tive. independence and the avoidance of conflicts of interest are
also important objectives: a sufficient number of independent
members should belong to the supervisory Board. the recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code are
complied with in respect of independence and conflicts of in-
terest. finally, the supervisory Board considers the age limits
specified in its rules of procedure. only persons, who are not yet
70 years old, should be proposed for election to the supervisory
Board. thereafter, persons may be members of the supervisory
Board if they are particularly qualified for international require-
ments. however, in view of diC asset aG's focus on the German
property market, the decision was made not to stipulate the as-
pect of internationality as an objective.
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these targets were considered in relation to the supervisory
Board's proposal to the General shareholders' meeting on 5 July
2011 to elect dr. michael Peter solf to the supervisory Board. the
current membership of the supervisory Board therefore contin-
ues to comply with the statutory objectives. all members are
professionally and personally qualified; they include an inde-
pendent financial expert and a member with an international
background. the Board includes an adequate number of inde-
pendent members. former members of the management Board
of diC asset aG are not represented in the supervisory Board.

disclosure of conflicts of interest
each member of the management Board and the supervisory
Board discloses any possible conflicts of interest to the supervi-
sory Board. 

Consultancy agreements were in force in the reporting year be-
tween the company and the law firm weil, Gotshal & manges
llP, of which the Chairman of the supervisory Board Prof. dr.
Gerhard schmidt is a partner. where the firm provided legal ad-
vice to the company in 2011, the supervisory Board approved
the instruction. the member of the supervisory Board con-
cerned did not participate in the decision.

effectiveness of the Supervisory board's work 
the supervisory Board regularly examines its own effectiveness.
this examination takes the form of a company-specific ques-
tionnaire, which is evaluated without delay. the results are dis-
cussed and the findings are then incorporated into the Board's
future operations.

establishment of the audit Committee
the supervisory Board has established an audit Committee
which supports the Board in the performance of its duties and
regularly reports to it. in particular, the audit Committee deals
with issues relating to the monitoring of the financial reporting
process, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk
management system and compliance. it assesses and monitors
the independence of the auditors and determines the focus of
the audit in consultation with them. the audit Committee meets
primarily when events merit this.

the audit Committee has the following three members:
–  michael Bock (Chairman of the audit Committee)
–  Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt
–  dr. michael Peter solf (elected to the Committee in 2011 as

the successor to hellmar hedder)

the Chairman of the audit Committee is an independent finan-
cial expert and has particular knowledge and experience in the
areas of financial reporting and the auditing of financial state-
ments from his many years of professional experience working
as the Cfo of Provinzial rheinland versicherung aG.

d&o insurance policy
there is a directors & officers insurance policy for members of
the management Board and the supervisory Board (d& o insur-
ance policy). it provides insurance for claims for damages by the
company, shareholders or third parties, which may be asserted
on the basis of breaches of the duty of care by the Boards. diC
asset aG bears the costs of the insurance policy. the members
of the management Board and supervisory Board have to pay a
deductible in the event of a claim.

remuNeraTioN rePorT

the following remuneration report forms an integral part of the
management report.

remuneration system for the management board
the supervisory Board sets the total remuneration of individual
members of the management Board and regularly reviews the
remuneration system for the management Board. the require-
ments of the law on the appropriateness of management Board
remuneration (vorstaG) were taken into account when extend-
ing contracts with the management Board. 

the relationship between total remuneration and the tasks of
each member of the Board, their personal achievements, the
economic situation, the success and future prospects of diC
asset aG is appropriate and is also appropriate taking account of
the remuneration paid in comparable companies and the com-
pensation paid to other people working for the company. at the

same time, remuneration is structured in such a way that it is
competitive.

the remuneration of the management Board is made up of
three components: it includes (i) fixed remuneration and ancil-
lary benefits, (ii) variable remuneration that is dependent on the
achievement of specific targets (short-term performance-related
component) and (iii) a share-based component (long-term in-
centive component).

 fixed remuneration and ancillary benefits
the fixed remuneration is paid in equal monthly instalments. the
ancillary benefits consist of the provision of a company car, a
mobile telephone and insurance subsidies, for accident and
medical insurance, in particular.

 variable, performance-related compensation
the management Board's variable, performance-related remu-
neration (profit-sharing) is based on the operating results of the
diC asset Group and therefore takes account of both positive
and negative developments. 

a positive operating result for the diC asset Group is prerequi-
site for the granting of profit-sharing for members of the man-
agement Board, whose management Board contract was ex-
tended after the enactment of the vorstaG. the amount of
profit-sharing is based on the extent to which corporate and
personal targets were achieved. Corporate and personal targets
are each given a 50% weighting by the supervisory Board when
setting profit-sharing. the amount of profit-sharing is limited to
70% of the fixed remuneration. the supervisory Board decides
on profit-sharing once a year up to 31 may of the following year.
Payment of profit-sharing takes place on the last bank working
day of the month in which the supervisory Board decides on
profit-sharing.

for members of the management Board, whose management
Board contract was concluded or extended before enactment of
the vorstaG, profit-sharing is supposed to amount to at least
50% of the fixed remuneration if the diC asset Group has
achieved satisfactory operating earnings (eBt). the supervisory
Board decides on profit-sharing once a year up to 30 april of the
following year. Payment of profit-sharing takes place on the last
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bank working day of the month in which the supervisory Board
decides on profit-sharing.

 share-based remuneration as a long-term incentive
in addition, members of the management Board hold options
on so-called virtual shares in diC asset aG, which also take ac-
count of both positive and negative developments. the num-
ber of options granted is specified in individual contracts. op-
tions are fictitious and only guarantee the right to cash payment.
when exercising the options, Board members receive payments
to the amount of the share price less eur 2.90 (ulrich höller) or
eur 6.00 (markus Koch) for each virtual share. the exercise of the
options is linked to a specific number of years' service (vesting
period). the duration of the vesting period is regulated by con-
tract and amounts to between 22 and 46 months. the share
price is calculated from the average of the closing prices in a ref-
erence period of ten trading days before the option is exercised.
the fair value of the options at 31 december 2011 amounted to
teur 292. the number of shares issued virtually is unchanged
on the previous year. no new options were issued.

Termination of board membership
with the exception of a Board contract covering the eventuality
of a change of control, the Board contracts do not contain an
express undertaking to provide a severance payment. Contrary
to the recommendation given in section 4.2.3 of the German

Corporate Governance Code, no agreement has been made that
payments, including fringe benefits, to Board members who
leave the Board early without good cause should not exceed the
value of two years' remuneration (settlement cap) and should
not reimburse more than the remaining period of the contract
of employment.

in the event of a change of control, the Chairman of the Board,
ulrich höller, has the right to prematurely terminate his contract
of employment. in exercising his right to terminate, mr höller is
entitled to receive a payment of twice his total annual earnings
in the financial year prior to the change of control. if the re-
maining period of his contract of employment is less than two
complete years, the equivalent of two years' total earnings is re-
placed by a proportion of two years' total annual earnings cal-
culated pro rata over the shorter period remaining.

if a Board member dies during the term of his contract with the
management Board, in the case of ulrich höller, the fixed annual
salary and, in the case of markus Koch, the total remuneration
are to be paid pro rata temporis to their surviving dependants
for a period of six months after the end of the month in which
the Board member died. if a Board member becomes perma-
nently incapable of working during the term of his contract, the
contract will end three months after the end of the half-year in
which his permanent incapacity was established. in the event

of illness, remuneration will be paid for a term of six months,
however, at the latest until the contract ends.

management board remuneration in financial year 2011
in addition to his work for diC asset aG, the Chairman of the
management Board, ulrich höller, also held the position of Chair-
man of the management Board for deutsche immobilien Chan-
cen Beteiligungs aG in the financial year 2011. the total com-
pensation of the members of the management Board granted
by diC asset aG amounted to teur 1.212 in 2011.  

remuneration of members of the Supervisory board
supervisory Board remuneration is based on § 10 of the articles
of incorporation of diC asset aG. each member receives remu-
neration appropriate to his work, which is made up of fixed and
variable performance-related remuneration. members of the su-
pervisory Board receive fixed compensation of eur 15,000 for
each full financial year. as a variable, performance-dependent
fee, each member receives eur 2,556.46 for each percentage
point of dividend over the rate of seven percent, calculated on
the amount of equity, that is distributed, but no more than eur
12,782.30. the Chairman receives double the fixed and variable
compensation. in addition to the remuneration, each member
of the supervisory Board receives reimbursement of his ex-
penses, including value added tax. supervisory Board taxes in
the amount of teur 12 were taken on by the company.
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remuneration of the Board of direCtors euro

fixed Profit share-based other* Total total
remuneration sharing remuneration 2011 2010

ulrich höller 400,000.00 270.000.00 -80,000.00 3,419.40 593,419.40 727,968.40

markus Koch 350,000.00 245,000.00 -21,100.00 44,712.55 618,612.55 596,083.09

dr. Jürgen schäfer 179,087.31

total 750,000.00 515,000.00 -101,100.00 48,131.95 1,212,031.95 1,503,138.80

virtual share oPtions 2011

no. of earliest
shares in possible

existence exercise date

ulrich höller 85,000 31.12.2011

markus Koch 35,000 31.07.2012

markus Koch 35,000 31.07.2014

total 155,000

* other remuneration includes non-monetary benefits from personal use of a company car and insurance subsidies
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shareholders who cannot participate in person
have the opportunity to arrange for their voting
rights to be exercised in the General shareholders'
meeting by a bank, an association of shareholders,
the proxy or proxies of diC asset aG acting accord-
ing to instructions or any other authorised individ-
ual.

Transparent communication
we issue a detailed report each quarter on the de-
velopment of business and the asset, financial and
earnings situation and inform our shareholders in
an open, prompt and transparent manner of the
diC asset aG business model as well as of any news
or changes. we describe communications with our
shareholders and business partners in detail in the
chapter entitled "share" on page 5. 

Financial reporting and auditing 
diC asset aG prepares its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with international financial reporting standards
(ifrs), taking account of the recommendations of ePra, while
separate financial statements are compiled in accordance with
the hGB. the financial statement for the whole year is drawn up
by the management Board and verified by the auditor and the
supervisory Board. the quarterly and half-year reports are dis-
cussed and approved with the supervisory Board prior to their
publication. the supervisory Board proposes an auditor on the
recommendation of the audit Committee which is then chosen
by the General shareholders' meeting. the auditor makes a
statement of independence to the supervisory Board. in addi-
tion, it was agreed with the auditors that they would report to
the supervisory Board immediately of any possible grounds for
exclusion or bias that may arise during the audit. 

for membership of a committee, which has met at least once
during the financial year, the members of the supervisory Board
also receive compensation of eur 2,500 per committee for each
full financial year of their membership of this committee, but not
exceeding eur 5,000 in total. the Chairman of a supervisory
Board committee receives twice this additional compensation.

total remuneration of the members of the supervisory Board in
2011 amounted to eur 204 thousand. in addition, in 2011 eur
602 (previous year: eur 24,000) in fees for services received was
paid to the law firm weil, Gotshal & manges llP, in which the
Prof. dr Gerhard schmidt, the Chairman of the supervisory
Board, is a partner. in 2011, this mainly related to services within
the framework of the acquisition of the Galeria Kaufhof proper-
ties.

directors' transactions
in 2011 the members of the management Board ulrich höller
and markus Koch acquired respectively 9,868 and 5,736 shares in
diC asset aG and reported these securities transactions pur-
suant to § 15a wphG. 

Shares held by members of the management board and
 Supervisory board
the members of the management Board and of the supervisory
Board each hold less than one percent of issued shares. how-
ever, 38.66% of the voting rights in diC asset aG are attributed
to the Chairman of the supervisory Board, Prof. dr. Gerhard
schmidt, in accordance with § 22 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG,
which are held by deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa
and its subsidiaries diC ml Gmbh and diC opportunity fund
Gmbh and the diC associate company under civil law and its
subsidiaries.

oTher diSCloSureS

Shareholders and general Shareholders' meeting 
in the General shareholders' meeting, shareholders of diC asset
aG make use of their rights. the ordinary General shareholders'
meeting takes place once a year. every shareholder, who regis-
ters in good time, is entitled to take part in the General share-
holders' meeting, to vote with his registered shares and to pose
questions to the management Board. each share gives entitle-
ment to one vote in the ballots.
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remuneration of the suPervisorY Board euro

fixed variable Committee Total total
remuneration remuneration membership 2011 2010

remuneration

Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt (Chairman) 30,000.00 25,565.00 2,500.00 58,065.00 58,065.00

Klaus-Jürgen sontowski (deputy Chairman) 15,000.00 12,782.00 ––– 27,782.00 27,782.00

michael Bock 15,000.00 12,782.00 5,000.00 32,782.00 32,782.00

hellmar hedder (until 05.07.2011) 7,666.67 6,533.02 1,277.78 15,477.47 30,282.00

russell C. Platt 15,000.00 12,782.00 ––– 27,782.00 27,782.00

Bernd wegener 15,000.00 12,782.00 ––– 27,782.00 27,782.00

dr. michael Peter solf (since 06.07.2011) 7,333.33 6,248.98 1,222.22 14,804.53

105,000.00 89,475.00 10,000.00 204,475.00 204,475.00
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rePorT oF The SuPerviSory board

advisory, monitoring and reviewing role of the Supervisory
board

in financial year 2011, the supervisory Board of diC asset aG reg-
ularly and diligently monitored the management by the man-
agement Board and advised both on strategic corporate devel-
opment and significant individual measures.

the management Board ensured that the supervisory Board was
regularly, promptly and fully informed over the course of the fi-
nancial year through written and oral reports. the reports set out
all relevant information on significant issues regarding company
planning, the situation and development of the company and
the Group, the risk situation, the internal control system, risk
management and compliance as well as important transactions.
deviations from planned business development were explained
in detail by the management Board and discussed by the su-
pervisory Board. the supervisory Board was involved in all ma-
terial decisions at an early stage and – to the extent necessary
and in the interests of the company – gave its approval after ex-
amining and discussing them in depth. 

in 2011, the supervisory Board met for four ordinary meetings
and a further nine extraordinary meetings. the extraordinary
meetings were held as telephone conferences. no member of
the supervisory Board attended fewer than half of the meetings.
attendance at meetings averaged over 90%. the Chairman of
the supervisory Board was also notified of material develop-
ments and decisions by the management Board between meet-
ings. the members of the management Board participated in all
of the meetings.

at every meeting, the management Board explained operative
business developments (with particular reference to letting, ac-
quisitions and sales), the trend in sales and results as well as the
financial position, with each issue then being discussed jointly.
the reports of the management Board and, where necessary,
the written proposals for resolutions, were all made available to
the supervisory Board for preparation in good time as a basis for
their advice and decisions. the supervisory Board was informed
of particularly important business events by the management
Board in detail and always without delay. where justified, deci-
sions were also adopted by written vote.  

Focal points of the meetings of the Supervisory board

march 2011
the ordinary meeting focused on the results of the previous
meeting of the audit Committee, which were debated and dis-
cussed in detail. the annual financial statements for financial year
2010 were drawn up and the consolidated financial statements
were approved. the supervisory Board examined the proposed
distribution of profits and endorsed the proposal. the depend-
ent company report for financial year 2010 was also examined.
the supervisory Board discussed the agenda for the 2011 Gen-
eral shareholders' meeting and the written report by the su-
pervisory Board to the General shareholders' meeting was ap-
proved. in addition, the supervisory Board discussed acquisition
planning for the coming months with the management Board
and debated the financing strategy and possible financing
measures. the supervisory Board also discussed the planned ac-
quisition of two commercial properties and the maintor project
development. 

in two of the extraordinary meetings, the supervisory Board con-
sented to a share capital increase of eur 39,187,498 to eur
45,718,747 out of authorised capital, with a subscription right for
shareholders.

 april 2011
one of the extraordinary meetings dealt with the issue of the
consent by the supervisory Board to the issue of a corporate
bond with a value of up to eur 100 million. 

also in april, the supervisory board approved the agenda and
the proposed resolutions to the ordinary General shareholders'
meeting on 5 July 2011 including its proposal for election to the
supervisory Board. 

may 2011
in an extraordinary meeting, the management Board reported
on the first quarter's results and provided an overview of the sta-
tus of the bond issue. after discussion, the report on the first
quarter of 2011 was released for publication. 

the ordinary meeting of the supervisory Board dealt with trends
in key figures and the planned interim result. the management
Board submitted measures to optimise results, which were dis-
cussed in depth and were approved by the supervisory Board.
in addition, the supervisory Board debated the result of the
placement of the bond issue, demolition work and the planned
advance sale of the first maintor Primus construction stage, ad-
ditional interest rate hedging instruments and renovation and
newbuild operations during the course of the planned lease of
the trio offenbach property. 

 June 2011
the focus of the extraordinary meeting of the supervisory Board
was again the implementation of demolition work on the main-
tor project in conjunction with the planned sale of the first main-
tor Primus construction stage. after extensive discussion, the su-
pervisory Board approved the demolition work and the sale. 

 august 2011
during the extraordinary meeting of the supervisory Board, the
management Board explained the result from the first half of
2011, which was discussed jointly. subsequently, the supervi-
sory Board approved the audited interim report for publication.
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 september 2011
during the ordinary meeting, the forecast for the third quarter
was debated. the management Board presented ongoing ac-
quisition activities, including the planned takeover of company
shares in three joint venture portfolios. after subsequent dis-
cussion, the supervisory Board approved the continuation of the
takeover. in addition, potential further steps in the funds busi-
ness segment were debated together with the management
Board. the management Board also discussed the current sta-
tus of sales activities and the maintor project and introduced a
software project for property and financial accounting to replace
the previous system. dr. michael Peter solf was elected to re-
place the outgoing member of the supervisory Board hellmar
hedder on the audit Committee.

at an extraordinary meeting, the management Board reported
on progress in negotiations for the planned takeover of com-
pany shares in three joint venture portfolios. after a compre-
hensive discussion, the supervisory Board approved the pur-
chase. 

 october 2011
the focus of the extraordinary meeting was progress in negoti-
ations with a potential tenant for the maintor Porta project sec-
tion and the incorporation of this second construction stage into
the overall project development as well as financing. after a
comprehensive discussion, the supervisory Board approved the
conclusion of the tenancy agreement and the suggested pro-
cedure. 

 november 2011
in the extraordinary meeting, the management Board discussed
the results from the third quarter of 2011. after a discussion, the
supervisory Board approved publication of the quarterly report.

 december 2011
in the ordinary meeting, the management Board explained the
forecasts for the fourth quarter and for the full financial year

2011. it also presented an up-to-date report on acquisition, sale
and project development activities. Planning for financial year
2012 was discussed, sub-divided into the main activity areas and
business fields, and was approved by the supervisory Board. the
supervisory Board discussed compliance with the recommen-
dations of the German Corporate Governance Code with the
management Board and agreed the joint annual declaration of
conformity.

report by the audit Committee 
the supervisory Board has established an audit Committee to
ensure that work is allocated and carried out efficiently. it deals
in particular with questions relating to accounting, risk man-
agement (including the internal control system) and compli-
ance. the Chairman of the audit Committee provided regular,
detailed reports on the committee’s work to the plenary meet-
ings of the supervisory Board.

mr. michael Bock, Chairman of the audit Committee, is an inde-
pendent financial expert and has particular knowledge and ex-
perience in the areas of financial reporting and the auditing of
financial statements as the long-standing Cfo of Provinzial
rheinland versicherung. additional members are the Chairman
of the supervisory Board Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt and dr.
michael Peter solf, who was elected to the audit Committee to
succeed outgoing member mr. hellmar hedder.

the audit Committee met twice in 2011. the february 2011
meeting focused on the accounting documents for financial
year 2010. with particular consideration of the auditing focal
points determined beforehand by the audit Committee in co-
ordination with the auditor, the annual and consolidated finan-
cial statements for financial year 2010 along with the sum-
marised management report and Group management report,
as well as the associated audit reports, were examined and dis-
cussed in detail at the meeting in february 2011 in the presence
of the auditor. in this context, the audit Committee also received
reports on risk management and the risk early warning system
as well as the internal control system. in the december 2011

meeting, the preliminary results of property valuation and in par-
ticular the auditing focus for the 2011 annual financial state-
ments were discussed and determined.

recommendations were approved for the resolutions of the su-
pervisory Board on the accounting documents for financial year
2010 and the proposed choice of auditor for financial year 2011.
the audit Committee had already satisfied itself of the inde-
pendence of the proposed auditor.

Corporate governance reviewed, declaration updated
during the year under review, the supervisory Board has had
regular dealings with the company’s corporate governance. the
supervisory Board issued the current declaration of Conformity
with the recommendations of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code pursuant to § 161 aktG together with the manage-
ment Board in december 2011 and made it available on the
company's website. the Board of directors provides a detailed
report - on behalf of the supervisory Board as well - on corporate
governance in the "report on corporate governance" section of
the annual report. 

Conflicts of interest avoided
each member of the supervisory Board discloses any possible
conflicts of interest. in financial year 2011, the company had con-
sultancy contracts with the law firm weil, Gotshal & manges llP,
in which Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt is a partner. insofar as the law
firm provided legal advice to the company in 2011, the super-
visory Board approved the mandate. the member of the super-
visory Board in question did not participate in the resolution.  no
other conflicts of interest were reported in financial year 2011.  
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annual and consolidated financial statements audited and
approved
the management Board prepared the annual financial state-
ments for financial year 2011 in accordance with the hGB, the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with ifrs as
they are to be applied within the eu, and with the commercial
law regulations to be applied in addition pursuant to § 1a (1)
hGB, as well as the management report summarised with the
Group management report. these items were audited by rödl &
Partner Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft steuerber-
atungsgesellschaft, nuremberg, appointed as auditors at the
General shareholders' meeting on 5 July 2011, and an unquali-
fied audit opinion was issued for each of them. 

all of these documents were considered at the meetings of the
audit Committee and the supervisory Board on 1 march 2012 at-
tended by representatives of the auditor, who reported on the
principal results of their examination and confirmed that there
were no significant weaknesses in the internal control and risk
management process relating to the financial reporting process.
they were presented to the members of the Committee and the
supervisory Board for comprehensive discussion. there were no
circumstances that could suggest any bias on the part of the au-
ditor. 

the audit Committee, to which the auditor's statements and re-
ports were submitted in good time for a preliminary audit, re-
ported to the supervisory Board on their essential content and
the result of its preliminary audit, and issued recommendations
for the supervisory Board's resolutions.

the supervisory Board, which was also provided with the docu-
ments and audit reports in good time, audited the annual and
consolidated financial statements for financial year 2011, the
management report summarised with the Group management
report and the management Board's proposal for the distribu-
tion of profits. the supervisory Board concurred with the results
of the auditor's audit. on the basis of its own audit, the supervi-
sory Board established that it has no cause for objections against
the annual financial statements and consolidated financial state-
ments or against the summarised management and Group

management report. accordingly, the supervisory Board ap-
proved the annual and consolidated financial statements pre-
pared by the management Board in line with the recommen-
dation of the audit Committee. the annual financial statements
of diC asset aG are hereby approved. 

Proposed distribution of profits 
in connection with the proposal for the distribution of profits by
the management Board, the audit Committee and the entire su-
pervisory Board also discussed the balance sheet policy and fi-
nancial planning. on the basis of its own audit, the supervisory
Board supports the proposal on the distribution of profits by the
management Board. 

relationships with affiliates reviewed
the management Board prepared a report on relationships with
affiliates for financial year 2011. the auditor has audited this re-
port, reported on its findings in writing and issued the follow-
ing unqualified opinion: 

“according to our properly considered audit and evaluation, we
confirm that 

1. the actual information in the report is correct, 
2. in the legal transactions mentioned in the report, under the

circumstances known at the time they were undertaken, the
consideration paid by the company was not disproportion-
ately high." 

the management Board's report and the auditor's report were
also made available to the individual members of the supervi-
sory Board in a timely manner. these reports were examined and
discussed in depth in the meetings of the audit Committee and
the supervisory Board. the representatives of the auditor who
participated in the meetings reported on the material findings
of their audit. the supervisory Board approved the management
Board’s report on relationships with affiliates and also seconded
the result of the audit of the report by the auditor. as a result of
its own audit, the supervisory Board established that it had no
reason to object to the declaration made by the management
Board on the relations with affiliated companies, presented at
the end of the report.

auditor proposed
the audit Committee recommended to the supervisory Board
that it propose to the General shareholders' meeting the com-
missioning of rödl & Partner Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsge-
sellschaft steuerberatungsgesellschaft to audit the annual fi-
nancial statements and consolidated financial statements for
financial year 2012 and to review the interim report. on the basis
of this recommendation, the supervisory Board adopted a pro-
posal to this effect for submission to the General shareholders’
meeting.

Composition of the management board and Supervisory
board
there was no change to the composition of the management
Board during the year under review. mr. hellmar hedder re-
signed his position on the supervisory Board with effect from
the end of the General shareholders' meeting on 5 July 2011.
the supervisory Board would like to thank mr. hellmar hedder
for his valuable contribution and his service to the company. at
the proposal of the supervisory Board, the General shareholders'
meeting of 5 July 2011 elected dr. michael Peter solf to the su-
pervisory Board for a term up to the end of the General share-
holders' meeting which ratifies the actions of the supervisory
Board for financial year 2015. 

the supervisory Board would like to thank the management
Board and employees for their dedication and hard work during
the past financial year. 

frankfurt am main, 1 march 2012

the supervisory Board
Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt
- Chairman -
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diC asset Beteiligungs Gmbh, erlangen 100.0
diC fund Balance Gmbh, frankfurt (vormals diC office Balance Gmbh) 100.0
diC objekt neumarkt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rmn-Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt stadthaus offenbach Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt dreieich Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt darmstadt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt velbert Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt alsbach Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt alsbach 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt hemsbach Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt eKZ duisburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt Zeppelinheim Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rmn objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rmn objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 99,4
diC rmn objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt Köln 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt nürnberg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt hannover Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP objekt Bochum Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP objekt essen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP objekt stadtbadgalerie Bochum Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC rP objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt augustaanlage Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt Coblitzweg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt düsseldorf Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt insterburger str. 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt insterburger str. 7 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt Königsberger str. 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt Königsberger str. 29 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt P6 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt stuttgarter str. Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt Konstanz Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 6 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 7 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 8 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC aP objekt 9 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC asset Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
waCo Projektmanagement aG, luxemburg 100.0
diC asset aP Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC asset oP Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0

Name and registered office of company interest (%)*

diC asset dP Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC of reit 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC of reit 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 27 Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt darmstadt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt duisburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt düsseldorf Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt hamburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt hannover Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt leverkusen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt mannheim Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt marl Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt münchen-Grünwald Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC oP objekt Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt Bonn Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt Köln eCr Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt Köln silo Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt düsseldorf nordstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt düsseldorf nürnberger straße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt moers Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt neubrandenburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP objekt saalfeld Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC vP Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP wiesbaden frankfurter straße 50 Gmbh & Co.KG, 
frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP wiesbaden frankfurter straße 46-48 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP hamburg halenreie Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP düsseldorf erkrather straße Gmbh & Co.KG, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP mönchengladbach stresemannstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP Berlin rosenthalerstraße Gmbh & Co.KG, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP langenselbold am weiher Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP münchen hanauer straße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP hallbergmoos lilienthalstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 1 Gmbh 6 Co. KG, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP objekt 6 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC dP Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 25 Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 25 Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0

Name and registered office of company interest (%)* Name and registered office of company interest (%)*

diC 25 objekt Bremen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 25 objekt Chemnitz Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 leipzig Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 regensburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 flensburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 frankfurt-taunusstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 frankfurt-Kaiserstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 münchen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 langenhagen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 erfurt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 Bonn Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 schwaben Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 wiesbaden Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 Köln Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC 26 Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC maintor real estate 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.0
diC objekt Braunschweig Gmbh, frankfurt am main 94.8
diC objektsteuerung Gmbh, frankfurt am main 94.8
deutsche immobilien Chancen objekt mozartstr. 33a Gmbh, 
frankfurt am main 94.0
diC objekt frankfurt 1 Gmbh & Co. KG, frankfurt am main 94.0
Gewerbepark langenfeld west 3 Gmbh & Co. KG, Bielefeld 99.2
deutsche immobilien Chancen objekt ulm 1 erweiterung Gmbh, 
frankfurt am main 90.0
deutsche immobilien Chancen objektbeteiligungs Gmbh, 
frankfurt am main 90.0
diC onsite Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC eB Berlin Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC objekt Berlin 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC objekt Berlin 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC objekt Berlin 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Zeil Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC frankfurt objekt Zeil Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC frankfurt objekt hasengasse Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC frankfurt objekt Börsenplatz Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC frankfurt objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC lB Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt Bundesallee Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt hardenbergstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt Berliner straße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt frankfurt Gmbh & Co.KG, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt arnulfstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt Badensche straße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt Cottbus Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00
diC Berlin Portfolio objekt 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 100.00

Consolidated subsidiaries

overview: appendix 1 to the notes on the consolidated financial statements

* interest equals the share of voting rights

overview
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diC maintor Gmbh, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor Porta Gmbh, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor Primus Gmbh, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor südareal Gmbh, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor Zweite Beteiligungs Gmbh & Co. KG, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor verwaltungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 40.0
diC maintor iii Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC GmG Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
waCo Beteiligungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC office Balance i , frankfurt am main** 20.0
diC msref hmdd Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt düsseldorf Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt essen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt frankfurt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt radolfszell Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref hmdd objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt düsseldorf Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt erfurt Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt hamburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt Krefeld Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt mannheim Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt mörfelden-walldorf Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ht objekt neu-ulm Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest objekt münchen 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest objekt münchen 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest objekt nürnberg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest objekt heilbronn Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC msref ff südwest objekt mainz Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC Bw Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC development Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0

Name and registered office of company interest (%)*

diC opportunistic Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt Berlin landsbergerstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt frankfurt theodor-heuss allee Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt hamburg Kurt-schumacher-allee Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt hamburg steindamm Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt Koblenz frankenstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt Koblenz rizzastraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt Köln Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt neu-isenburg Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt ratingen Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt schaumainkai Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 6 Gmbh & Co. KG, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 7 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 8 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 9 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 10 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 11 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 12 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 13 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 14 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi objekt 15 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hi Betriebsvorrichtungs Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg Portfolio Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt dammtorstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt ernst mantiusstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt Großmannstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt harburger ring Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt marckmannstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt schädlerstraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt schlossstraße Gmbh & Co. KG, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt schwenkestraße Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 1 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 2 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 3 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 4 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 5 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 6 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 7 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 8 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 9 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0
diC hamburg objekt 10 Gmbh, frankfurt am main 20.0

Name and registered office of company interest (%)*

*  interest equals the share of voting rights*  interest equals the share of voting rights
** 14% share of voting rights

overview

indirect and direct holdings of 20% and 40%

overview: appendix 2 to the notes on the consolidated financial statements



announcements pursuant to § 160 Para. 1 No. 8 aktg

a. diC vierte Beteiligungs Gmbh & Co. KG, frankfurt am main,
Germany, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 of the Ger-
man securities trading act (wphG) that its share of voting
rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, exceeded the lev-
els of 3% and 5% on 29 september 2011 and now amounts
to 5.63% (corresponding to 2,572,160 votes).

diC dritte Beteiligungsverwaltung Gmbh, frankfurt am main,
Germany, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 of the Ger-
man securities trading act (wphG) that its share of voting
rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, exceeded the lev-
els of 3% and 5% on 29 september 2011 and now amounts
to 5.63% (corresponding to 2,572,160) votes. 5.63% of these
voting rights are to be assigned to the company (corre-
sponding to 2,572,160 votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sen-
tence 1 no. 1 wphG. assignment is conducted via diC vierte
Beteiligungs Gmbh & Co. KG, controlled by diC dritte Beteili-
gungsverwaltung Gmbh, whose share of voting rights in diC
asset aG, frankfurt am main, totals 3% or more.

b. diC Beteiligungsgesellschaft bürgerlichen rechts, frankfurt
am main, Germany, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1
wphG that its share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main, exceeded the level of 10% on 28 december
2011 and now stands at 11.66% (corresponding to 5,331,993
votes).

c. aPG algemene Pensioen Groep n.v., heerlen, netherlands,
informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of
voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, exceeded
the level of 3% on 1 July 2009 and stood at 3.48% (1,089,760
votes) on this date. of these, 3.48% of the voting rights
(1,089,760 votes) are to be assigned to aPG Groep n.v. pur-
suant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG. voting rights
held by the following shareholders holding 3% or more of
the voting rights in diC asset aG are to be assigned to aPG
Groep n.v: aPG algemene Pensioen Groep n.v.

d. Commerzbank aktiengesellschaft, frankfurt am main, Ger-
many, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its
share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main,

Germany fell below the levels of 10%, 05% and 3% on 5 april
2011 and subsequently amounted to 0.19% (this equates to
86,946 votes). 

e. morgan stanley, wilmington, delaware, usa, acting in its
own name and on behalf of the subsidiaries listed below, in-
formed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 and § 24 wphG that

– msref v marble B.v., amsterdam, netherlands, fell below
the level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt
am main, Germany on 6 april 2010 and now holds 8.32% of
voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a voting right);
and 

– msref v Cosmos B.v., amsterdam, netherlands, fell below
the level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt
am main, Germany, on 6 april 2010 and now holds 8.32%
of voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a voting right).
these shares of voting rights are to be assigned in full by
msref v marble B.v. to msref v Cosmos B.v. pursuant to §
Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG; and 

– msref v international holdings Coöperatif, u.a., amster-
dam, netherlands, fell below the level of 10% of voting
rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, Germany, on 6
april 2010 and now holds 8.32% of voting rights (3,262,022
shares, each with a voting right). these shares of voting
rights are to be assigned in full by msref v Cosmos B.v. and
msref v marble B.v. pursuant to § Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1
wphG; and

– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-te, l.P.,
wilmington, delaware, usa,  

– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-t, l.P.,
wilmington, delaware, usa,

– morgan stanley real estate investors v international, l.P.,
wilmington, delaware, usa,

– morgan stanley real estate fund v special international,
l.P., wilmington, delaware, usa,

fell below the level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG,
frankfurt am main, Germany, on 6 april 2010 and now hold
8.32% of voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a voting

right). these voting rights are to be assigned by msref v in-
ternational holdings Coöperatif, u.a., msref v Cosmos B.v.
and msref v marble B.v. to the abovementioned companies
in each case pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG;
and

– msref v international-GP, llC, wilmington, delaware, usa
fell below the level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG,
frankfurt am main, Germany, on 6 april 2010 and now
holds 8.32% of voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a
voting right). these voting rights are to be assigned in full
to msref v, llC pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1
wphG by

– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-te, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-t, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate investors v international, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v special international,
l.P. 
– msref v international holdings Coöperatif, u.a.
– msref v Cosmos B.v.
– and msref v marble B.v.

and

– msref v, llC, wilmington, delaware, usa fell below the
level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am
main, Germany, on 6 april 2010 and now holds 8.32% of
voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a voting right).
these voting rights are to be assigned in full to msref v,
llC pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG by

– msref v international-GP, llC
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-te, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-t, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate investors v international, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v special international,

l.P. 
– msref v international holdings Coöperatif, u.a.
– msref v Cosmos B.v.
– and msref v marble B.v.

and
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– msref v inc., wilmington, delaware, usa fell below the
level of 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am
main, Germany, on 6 april 2010 and now holds 8.32% of
voting rights (3,262,022 shares, each with a voting right).
these voting rights are to be assigned in full to msref v
inc. pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG by 

– msref v, llC
– msref v international-GP, llC
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-te, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-t, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate investors v international, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v special international,

l.P.
– msref v international holdings Coöperatif, u.a.
– msref v Cosmos B.v.
– and msref v marble B.v.

and

– morgan stanley, wilmington, delaware, usa fell below the
levels of 15% and 10% of voting rights in diC asset aG,
frankfurt am main, Germany on 7 april 2010 and now holds
8.33% of voting rights (3,265,468 shares, each with a vot-
ing right). of these voting rights, 8.32% (3,262,022 shares,
each with a voting right) are to be assigned pursuant to §
22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG by 

– msref v incorporated
– msref v, llC
– msref v international-GP, llC
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-te, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v international-t, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate investors v international, l.P. 
– morgan stanley real estate fund v special international,

l.P. 
– msref v international holdings Coöperatif, u.a.
– msref v Cosmos B.v.
– and msref v marble B.v.

and 0.009% (3,446 shares, each with a voting right) are to be
assigned pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG.

f. aPG algemene Pensioen Groep n.v., heerlen, netherlands,
informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of
voting rights in diC asset aG (isin: de0005098404) exceeded
the level of 3% on 1 July 2009 and now stands at 3.48%
(1,089,760 voting rights).

g. diCP Capital se, munich, Germany, informed us pursuant to
§ 21 Para. 1 of the German securities trading act (wphG) that
its share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main,
exceeded the levels of 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25% and 30%
on 17 september 2009 and now amounts to 39.37% (corre-
sponding to 12,342,634 votes). 39.37% of these voting rights
are to be assigned to the company (corresponding to
12,342,634 votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1
wphG. assignment is conducted via companies controlled
by diCP Capital se, namely diC ml Gmbh, diC opportunity
fund Gmbh, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa,
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, diC Grund-
und Beteiligungs Gmbh and diC Capital Partners (europe)
Gmbh, whose share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main, each totals 3% or more.

h. solvia vermögensverwaltungs Gmbh, wolfenbüttel, Ger-
many, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its
share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, ex-
ceeded the levels of 3% and 5% on 20 may 2009 and now
totals 5.11% (1,602,522 voting rights).

i. f. rehm, Germany, informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1
wphG that his share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main, exceeded the levels of 3% and 5% on 20 may
2009 and now totals 5.11% (1,602,522 voting rights). 5.11% of
these voting rights are assigned to him as voting rights
(1,602,522 voting rights) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1
no. 1 wphG via solvia vermögensverwaltungs Gmbh,
wolfenbüttel, Germany, whose share of voting rights totals
3% or more.

j. massachusetts mutual life insurance Company, usa, in-
formed us pursuant to §§ 21 Para. 1, 24 wphG: 
Correction to the voting rights notification pursuant to § 21
Para. 1, 24 wphG 

oppenheimerfunds inc., Centennial, Colorado, usa, fell
below the 3% level of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main (isin: de0005098404, wKn: 509840) on 9 Janu-
ary 2008. the share of the voting rights on this date
amounted to 2.91% (911,303 voting rights), which are to be
assigned to oppenheimerfunds inc. pursuant to § 22 Para. 1
sentence 1 no. 6 wphG. 

voting rights notification pursuant to § 21 Para. 1, 24 wphG:
oppenheimer acquisition Corp., Centennial, Colorado, usa,
fell below the 3% level of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main (isin: de0005098404, wKn: 509840) on 9 Janu-
ary 2008. the share of the voting rights on this date
amounted to 2,91% (911,3030 voting rights), which are to be
assigned to oppenheimer acquisition Corp. pursuant to § 22
Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 6 sentence 2 wphG. 

voting rights notification pursuant to § 21 Para. 1, 24 wphG 
massmutual holding llC, springfield, massachusetts, usa,
fell below the 3% level of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main (isin: de0005098404, wKn: 509840) on 9 Janu-
ary 2008. the share of the voting rights on this date
amounted to 2.91% (911,303 voting rights), which are to be
assigned to massmutual holding llC pursuant to § 22 Para.
1 sentence 1 no. 6 sentence 2 wphG.

Correction to the voting rights notification pursuant to § 21
Para. 1, 24 wphG 
massachusetts mutual life insurance Company, springfield,
massachusetts, usa, fell below the 3% level of voting rights
in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main (isin: de0005098404,
wKn: 509840) on 9 January 2008. the share of the voting
rights on this date amounted to 2.91% (911,303 voting
rights), which are to be assigned to massachusetts mutual
life insurance Company pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1
no. 6 sentence 2 wphG.

122

overview



k. diC ml Gmbh, frankfurt am main, informed us pursuant to
§ 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of voting rights in diC asset
aG, frankfurt am main, fell below the level of 10% on 9 July
2008. diC ml Gmbh's share of voting rights now totals 9.19%
(corresponding to 2,881,668 votes).

l. diC opportunity fund Gmbh, frankfurt am main, informed
us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of voting
rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, exceeded the level
of 3% on 14 July 2008. diC opportunity fund Gmbh's share
of voting rights now totals 4.85 % (corresponding to
1,519,000 votes).

m. deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, frankfurt am
main, voluntarily informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG
that its share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am
main, amounted to 39.37% (corresponding to 12,342,634
votes) on 14 July 2008. 14,04 % of these voting rights are to
be assigned to the company (corresponding to 4.400.668
votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG. as-
signment is conducted via companies it controls, namely diC
ml Gmbh and diC opportunity fund Gmbh, whose share
of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, each to-
tals 3% or more.

n. deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, frankfurt
am main, voluntarily informed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1
wphG that its share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main, amounted to 39.37% (corresponding to
12,342,634 votes) on 14 July 2008. 39.37% of these voting
rights are to be assigned to the company (corresponding to
12,342,634 votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1
wphG. assignment is conducted via companies it controls,
namely diC ml Gmbh, diC opportunity fund Gmbh and
deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa, whose share
of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, each to-
tals 3% or more.

o. diC Grund- und Beteiligungs Gmbh, erlangen, voluntarily in-
formed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of
voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, amounted

to 39.37% (corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) on 14 July
2008. 39.37% of these voting rights are to be assigned to the
company (corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) pursuant to §
22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG. assignment is conducted
via companies it controls, namely diC ml Gmbh, diC op-
portunity fund Gmbh, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG &
Co. KGaa and deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs
aG, whose share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt
am main, each totals 3% or more.

p. diC Capital Partners (europe) Gmbh, munich, voluntarily in-
formed us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of
voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, amounted
to 39.37% (corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) on 14 July
2008. 39.37% of these voting rights are to be assigned to the
company (corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) pursuant to §
22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 1 wphG. assignment is conducted
via companies it controls, namely diC ml Gmbh, diC op-
portunity fund Gmbh, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG &
Co. KGaa, deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG
and diC Grund- und Beteiligungs Gmbh, whose share of vot-
ing rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, each totals 3%
or more.

q. GCs verwaltungs Gmbh, Glattbach, voluntarily informed us
pursuant to § 21 abs. 1 wphG that its share of voting rights
in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, amounted to 39.37%
(corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) on 14 July 2008. 39.37%
of these voting rights are to be assigned to the company
(corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1
sentence 1 no. 1 wphG. assignment is conducted via com-
panies it controls, namely diC ml Gmbh, diC opportunity
fund Gmbh, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa,
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, diC Grund-
und Beteiligungs Gmbh and diC Capital Partners (europe)
Gmbh, whose share of voting rights in diC asset aG, frank-
furt am main, each totals 3% or more.

r. Prof. dr. Gerhard schmidt, Germany, voluntarily informed us
pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that his share of voting rights
in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, amounted to 39.37%

(corresponding to 12,342,634 votes) on 14 July 2008. 39.37%
of these voting rights are to be assigned to him (corre-
sponding to 12,342,634 votes) pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sen-
tence 1 no. 1 wphG. assignment is conducted via compa-
nies he controls, namely diC ml Gmbh, diC opportunity
fund Gmbh, deutsche immobilien Chancen aG & Co. KGaa,
deutsche immobilien Chancen Beteiligungs aG, diC Grund-
und Beteiligungs Gmbh, diC Capital Partners (europe) Gmbh
and GCs verwaltungs Gmbh, whose share of voting rights in
diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, each totals 3% or more.

s. european investors inc., new York, usa, also informed us pur-
suant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of voting rights in
diC asset aG, frankfurt am main, exceeded the level of 5% on
17 January 2008 and now stands at 5.04% (1,581,134 voting
rights). of these, 5.04% (1,581,134 voting rights) are to be as-
signed to european investors inc. pursuant to § 22 Para. 1
sentence 1 no. 6 wphG.

t. stichting Pensioenfonds aBP, heerlen, netherlands, informed
us pursuant to § 21 Para. 1 sentence 1 wphG that its share of
voting rights in diC asset aG, frankfurt am main exceeded
the level of 3% on 4 october 2007 and now amounts to
3.23% (which equates to 921,580 voting rights).

u. fmr Corp., Boston, massachusetts, usa, informed us pur-
suant to § 21 Para. 1 wphG that its share of voting rights in
diC asset aG fell below the level of 3% on 1 february 2007
and now stands at 1.71%. the voting rights are assigned to
fmr Corp. pursuant to § 22 Para. 1 sentence 2 wphG in con-
junction with § 22 Para. 1 sentence 1 no. 6 wphG.
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gloSSary

acquisition volume
the total of the purchase prices for acquired real estate (with
notarisation) within a reporting period.

annualised rent 
annual rental income of a property based on current rent.

asset management
value-orientated running and/or optimisation of  properties
through leasing management, repositioning or modernisation.

Cash flow
measure that shows the net inflow of cash from sales activities
and other current activities during a given  period.

Change of control clause
Contractual provision in the event of a takeover by another
company.

Co-investments
Comprises the investments in which diC asset aG holds a sig-
nificant stake, typically minority interests of 20%. this includes
co-investments in special funds and joint venture investments.
shares in these investments are consolidated as associates
using the equity method.

Commercial portfolio
the Commercial Portfolio represents the existing portfolio of
diC asset aG including the direct real estate investments (“in-
vestment properties”). Properties in this portfolio are reported
under “investment properties”. 

Core real estate
Properties let on long-term leases to tenants with outstanding
credit ratings in the best locations are described as “core real
estate”.

Corporate governance
rules for sound, responsible business management. the aim is
for management in line with values and standards in accor-
dance with shareholders and other interested groups. the
 annual declaration of conformity to the German Corporate
 Governance Code provides a tool to assess the corporate
 governance.

debt ratio
ratio of balance sheet debt to balance sheet total. 

derivative financial instruments
derivative financial instruments, or derivatives, are reciprocal
contracts, whose price determination is generally based on
the trend of a market-dependent underlying security (e.g.
 shares or interest rates). they are used for various reasons,
 including hedging financial risks. 

earnings from associates
Covers the earnings of the diC asset aG co-investments calcu-
lated in accordance with the equity method. includes income
from the management of real estate and profits on sales among
other sources, calculated proportionately in each case.

ebiT 
earnings before interest and taxes.

ebiTda 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

ePra-index
ePra (european Public real estate association) index  family,
used internationally, that details the performance of the
world's largest listed real estate companies.

equity method
Consolidation and valuation method for associates in the
 consolidated financial statements based on the share of
 updated equity and earnings. diC asset aG reports its shares in
co-investments using this method.

Fair value
the fair value is the amount for which an asset could be
 exchanged, or a liability settled, between competent, 
independent business partners.  

Fee
Payment for services to third parties or payment  obligation as
a result of using third-party services.

FFo (Funds from operations)
operating income from property management, before depre-
ciation, tax and profits from sales and development projects.

Financial covenants
financial covenants are conditions stipulated by financial insti-
tutions when granting loans. they are linked to the achievement
of financial key figures (e.g. interest service coverage ratio [isCr],
and debt service cover ratio [dsCr]) during the term.

hedge (Cash flow hedge, Fair value hedge) 
agreement of a contract to safeguard and compensate for fi-
nancial risk positions.

impairment test
obligatory periodic comparison under ifrs of market and
book values and the assessment of potential signs of a sustai-
ned impairment in the value of  assets.

interest cover ratio
ratio of interest expense to net rental income.

interest rate swap
in the case of interest rate swaps, cash flows from fixed and
 variable interest-bearing loans are swapped between counter-
parties. this can be used, for example, to ensure a certain inte-
rest rate and thereby minimise risks from interest rate rises.  
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investment properties
investment properties are investments in land and/or buil-
dings that are held for the purposes of earning income from
rents and leases, and/or for capital appreciation. they are re-
ported as “investment properties” in accordance with the inter-
national accounting standards (ias 40). diC asset aG values
investment properties at cost less depreciation in accordance
with ias 40.56.

iFrS (international Financial reporting Standards)
ifrs have applied to listed companies since 1.1.2005. this
should facilitate worldwide comparability of  capital market-
orientated companies. the focus is on information that is easy
to understand and fair is  paramount, ahead of protection of
creditors and risk-related matters. 

Joint venture portfolio
investment properties with strategic finance partners in the
area of co-investments, in which diC asset aG has a significant
stake, typically minority interests of 20%. 

letting volume
rental space, for which rental agreements for new tenancies or
renewals have been concluded for a given period.

like-for-like rental income
like-for-like rental income is rental income from properties in a
portfolio that existed continuously in the portfolio within a
given period. Changes due to portfolio additions and disposals
are therefore not included here. in comparison with the start
of the period, the effect of the letting activity, among other
aspects, becomes clear.

market capitalisation
total market value of a company listed on the stock exchange,
resulting from the share price multiplied by the number of
shares issuedt.

Nav (net asset value)
represents the intrinsic value of a company. the net assets are
calculated as the fair value of the assets less liabilities.

Non-recourse financing
financing at property or portfolio level, whereby recourse to
other assets within the scope of the Group is excluded. in the
case of non-recourse financing, lenders tailor their lending to
the property or the portfolio, as well as the cash flow from the
rental income.

operating leasing
term connected with international valuation rules. it describes
a periodic lease agreement that is not fully amortised by the
lessor's financing costs.

operating cost ratio 
Personnel and administration expenses less the income from
real estate management in relation to the net rental income.

real estate special funds
real estate special funds are open-ended real estate funds that
are launched solely for institutional investors (such as insu-
rance companies, pension funds, benefit funds, foundations,
etc.) via a capital investment company. real estate special
funds are regulated according to the German investment act
and are supervised by the German federal financial  super -
visory authority (Bafin).

Peak rents
the peak rent is the highest possible rent that could be ex-
pected in the market for a prime quality, suitably equipped
 office unit in the best location.

Percentage of completion method
the percentage of completion method is used in long-term
project developments to assess the profit based on the degree
of completion (performance progress).

Prime standard
segment of the frankfurt stock exchange with the greatest
 relevance and degree of regulation, as well as the highest level
of transparency.

Proceeds from sales

Pro-rata income from the sale of investment properties (invest-
ments in real estate) after transfer of ownership.

Property management
Complete property servicing by own efforts or by manage-
ment of commercial, infrastructure and technical service
 providers.

redevelopment
redevelopment is any type of measure to develop  property
that is already in use.

refurbishment
Generally, structural changes to a building aimed at improving
a building’s quality and/or fixtures and  fittings.

rental yield
ratio of contractually agreed rent to current market value of the
real estate.
   
Sales volume
the total of the sales prices for the sold real estate (with notari-
sation) within a reporting period.

valuation of acquisition or production costs  
when acquisition and production costs are valued, the costs
for capitalisation are used that accrued for the creation (pro-
duction costs) or purchase (acquisition costs). the balance
sheet value of depreciable assets is reduced by scheduled and,
if necessary, unscheduled depreciation. also referred to as
“at cost accounting”.

value in use
Present value of future cash flows to be earned through the
use of an asset. in contrast to the fair value, which is orientated
towards sales and markets, the value in use reflects the specific
value of the continued use of an asset from the point of view
of the company.
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quarterlY finanCial data 2011

eur million q1 2011 q2 2011 q3 2011 Q4 2011

Gross rental income 27.6 28.9 29.3 31.0

net rental income 25.3 26.9 26.6 28.0

fees from real estate management 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.7

investment property disposal proceeds 0.0 9.3 0.0 8.4

Gains from investment property disposals 0.0 0.6 0.0 1.0

share of the profits of associates 0.4 0.5 0.7 0.8

funds from operations (ffo) 10.0 10.1 9.7 10.8

eBitda 22.0 23.9 23.9 26.1

eBit 15.1 16.7 16.5 17.8

Profit for the period 2.8 3.4 1.9 2.5

Cash generated from operating activities 9.4 9.9 12.8 6.3

market value of investment property (1) 2,083.3 2,071.0 2,069.9 2,202.3

total assets 2,109.4 2,155.2 2,134.0 2,248.1

equity 660.4 657.6 622.7 624.2

equity ratio in % 31.3 30.5 29.2 27.8

total liabilities 1,449.0 1,497.6 1,511.3 1,624.0

debt ratio in % 68.7 69.5 70.8 72.2

ffo per share (in eur) 0.25 0.22 0.21 0.24

(1) acquisitions during the year are taken into account at the cost of acquisition
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multi-Year overview

eur million 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Gross rental income  93.6 134.5 133.6 124.9 116.7

net rental income 88.4 126.2 123.8 113.9 106.8

fees from real estate management 3.3 3.1 3.4 3.5 5.3

investment property disposal proceeds 122.9 49.9 15.2 81.2 17.7

Gains from investment property disposals 17.7 9.8 1.5 5.1 1.7

share of the profits of associates 8.3 8.8 7.5 7.8 2.4

funds from operations (ffo) 44.6 42.7 47.6 44.0 40.6

eBitda 99.8 125.0 110.8 105.4 95.9

eBit 80.0 97.0 80.3 74.6 66.2

Profit for the period 36.1 25.2 16.1 16.5 10.6

sales yield 14% 20% 10% 6% 10%

Cash generated from operating activities 28.7 37.2 38.7 37.7 38.4

market value of investment property 2,187.5 2.,161.8 2,192.2 2,001.8 2,202.3

net asset value 722.2 492.8 497.1 598.5 682.6

total assets 2,121.5 2,214.8 2,213.4 2,050.0 2,248.1

equity 612.7 533.8 530.7 587.1 624.2

equity ratio in % 28.9 24.1 24.0 28.6 27.8

total liabilities 1,508.8 1,681.0 1,682.7 1,462.9 1,624.0

debt ratio in % 71.1 75.9 76.0 72.4 72.2

ffo per share (in eur) 1.55 1.37 1.47 1.15 0.92

net asset value per share (in eur) 23.04 16.23 15.86 15.27 14.93

dividend per share (in eur) 1.65 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35

(1) taken account of effects of the capital increase acc. to ifrs (ias 33), see p. 46
(2) excluding the profit from syndication of development

(2) (1) (1)
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Portfolio BY reGions *  

north east Central west south Total 2011 total 2010

number of properties 50 38 56 62 72 278 288

market value in eur million 234.2 270.6 646.5 641.3 409.7 2,202.3 2,001.8

lettable area in sqm 178,300 160,700 245,200 340,700 303,200 1,228,000 1,171,100

Portfolio proportion after rental space 15% 13% 20% 27% 25% 100%

annualised rental income in eur million 14.7 19.7 33.4 41.4 30.3 139.5 128.9

rental income per sqm in eur 7.70 10.90 13.20 11.50 8.80 10.50 10.40

lease expiry in years 6.9 4.8 6.6 5.5 3.9 5.5 5.4

rental yield 6.4% 7.3% 6.0% 6.5% 7.4% 6.6% 6.6%

vacancy rate 11.1% 9.3% 16.2% 14.2% 9.5% 12.4% 14.3%

* all figures pro rata, except number of properties; all figures without developments except number of properties and market values

North 15% 

West 27% 

Central 20% 

South 25% 

East 13% 

HAMBURG

BERLIN

FRANKFURT 
AM MAIN

DÜSSELDORF

MANNHEIM

MUNICH

diC BranChes

Growth in rental inCome  like-for-like in %

q1

2010

2011

q2

q3

q4

-0.5%

+0.5%

+1.7%

+1.0%

+0.6%

+0.6%

tYPes of use *
by rents paid

   69%

office

   20%

retail

   10%

other business (e.g. logistics, industrial)

   1%

residential

main tenants *
by rents paid

25%

Public sector

23%

retail

10%

telco/it/multimedia

31%

sme and others

4%

insurance, Banking

7%

industry

* pro rata * pro rata
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* all figures pro rata, except number of properties; all figures without developments except number of properties and market values

overview Portfolio  

Commercial Portfolio Co-investments Total 2011 total 2010

number of properties 160 118 278 288

market value in eur million 1,888.1 314.2 2,202.3 2,001.8

lettable area in sqm 1,074,000 154,100 1,228,100 1,171,100

Portfolio proportion after rental space 86% 14% 100%

annualised rental income in eur million 124.9 14.6 139.5 128.9

rental income per sqm in eur 10.8 8.7 10.5 10.4

lease expiry in years 5.5 5.3 5.5 5.4

rental yield 6.7% 6.3% 6.6% 6.6%

vacancy rate 12.1% 14.2% 12.4% 14.3%

31.12.2007 2,188

31.12.2008 2,162

31.12.2009 2,192

31.12.2010 2,002

31.12.2011 2,202

Growth of Portfolio volume  eur million

86%
market value     1,888  mio. euro

Co-
investments

Commercial 
Portfolio 14%

 high rental yields with continuous cashflows from investment properties

 Preserving values and taking advantage of value creation

 mid to long-term investment horizon

 selective disposals at appropriate time

funds

 Core property in major cities

 steady income from investments
and services

Joint venture Portfolio

 investments with potential for value creation and new
 positioning

 upside potential developments and refurbishments

 ongoing fee income from asset- and property management

314  mio. euro
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Forward-looking statements

this annual report contains statements that refer to  future developments. such

statements constitute  assessments that have been taken in the light of the

 information available. should the assumptions on which they are based not prove

accurate, or should – as  specified in the section entitled risk report – risks occur, 

the actual results may  differ from those  anticipated.

note

this report is published in German (original version) and english 

(non-binding translation).


